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This report is an English translation of the official Dutch version.
See our website www.spectorphotogroup.com. A printed copy can be send upon request.

This annual report is presented in one of our products:  
the “Create photo book with personalized cover”.
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KEy FiGURES  Audited and consolidated figures prepared in accordance with IFRS (in € ‘000)

iNCOmE STATEmENT

2008 2009

Revenue  266 159  243 978

REBITDA  16 284  8 842

Profit/loss (-) from operating activities, 
before non-recurring items (REBIT)

 5 758   620

Non-recurring items from operating 
activities

-  786   

Profit/loss (-) from operating activities 
(EBIT)

 4 972   620

EBITDA  15 583  8 842

Financial result - 7 582 - 4 293

Income tax expense (-)/income -  908   946

Profit/loss (-) from continuing activities - 3 518 - 2 726

Profit/loss (-) from continuing activities, 
corrected for non-cash items

 9 505  3 362

Profit/loss (-) from discontinued 
operations

- 4 229 - 1 062

Profit/loss (-) for the period - 7 748 - 3 788

Attributable to the group - 7 748 - 3 788

 
STATEmENT OF FiNANCiAL POSiTiON 

2008 2009

Statement of financial position total  136 505  121 541

Net financial debt  36 150  28 028

Total equity  30 559  29 097

Solvency ratio 22.4% 23.9%

Gearing ratio 118.3% 96.3%

Current ratio 115.6% 88.0%

SEGmENT iNFORmATiON

2008 2009

Revenue 
           Retail
           Imaging
           Corporate
           Intersegment

 190 414
 76 512

  762
- 1 530

 169 922
 74 821

  777
- 1 542

Spector Photo Group  266 159  243 978

           Discontinued activities
           Intersegment

 24 470
-  76

 3 565
  

Total  290 553  247 542

Profit/loss (-) from operating activities, 
before non-recurring items (REBIT)
           Retail
           Imaging
           Corporate

 7 632
- 1 342
-  532

 3 127
- 1 976
-  530

REBITDA
           Retail
           Imaging
           Corporate

 
10 479
 6 329
-  524

 5 282
 4 089
-  529

Profit/loss (-) from operating 
activities (EBIT)
           Retail
           Imaging
           Corporate

 7 632
- 2 128
-  532

 3 127
- 1 976
-  530

EBITDA
           Retail
           Imaging
           Corporate

 10 479
 5 627
-  524

 5 282
 4 089
-  529

SELECTED CASh FLOw DATA 

2008 2009

REBITDA  16 284  8 842

EBITDA  15 583  8 842

EBITDA as % of revenue
5.9% 3.6%

Profit/loss (-) before taxes, corrected 
for non-cash items

 11 013  4 894

Profit/loss (-) from continuing activities, 
corrected for non-cash items

 9 505  3 362

Profit/loss (-) from continuing activities, 
corrected for non-cash items as % of 
revenue

3.6% 1.4%

Net result of  the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent company, 
corrected for non-cash items

 7 066  3 058

DEFINITIONS

Revenue = Operating income from continuing operations
REBIT = Profit/loss (-) from operating activities before non-recurring items.
EBIT = Profit/loss (-) from operating activities.
REBITDA = profit/loss (-) from operating activities before non-recurring items 
corrected for depreciations, amortisations and provisions.
EBITDA  = profit/loss (-) from operating activities corrected for depreciations, 
amortisations and provisions.
Profit/loss (-) before taxes, corrected for non-cash items = Profit/loss (-) before 
taxes corrected for depreciations, amortisations, provisions and financial non-cash 
elements.
Profit/loss (-) from continuing activities, corrected for non-cash items = Profit/
loss (-) after taxes corrected for depreciations, amortisations, provisions, financial 
non-cash elements and deferred taxes.
Net result of the year attributable to equity holders of the parent company, 
corrected for non-cash items = Net result corrected for depreciations, amor-
tisations, provisions, financial non-cash elements, deferred taxes and non-cash 
elements from discontinued activities.
Net Financial debt = Financial obligations less cash, cash equivalents and other 
non-current financial assets.
Solvency ratio = Shareholders equity/balance sheet.
Gearing ratio = Net financial debt/shareholders equity.
Current ratio = Current assets/current liabilities.
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LETTER TO ThE ShAREhOLDERS
Nobody will deny that 2009 was a real crisis year that resulted in a recession in western Europe. Bad economic news 
depressed consumer confidence, which heavily affected retail activity and led to a 10% fall in revenues. In spite of strict cost 
control, the Retail Group had to cope with a lower profitability due to the drop of its revenues. 

In view of the pressure on the market, the Board of Directors ordered a survey to analyse the position of our Retail Group, 
more specifically the price/quality relationship, the location of our shops, the customer service and the online activities. 
The survey showed that our retail activities score well in this area, but that a number of elements can be optimised in 
the product ranges. Thus it was decided to reduce the number of product categories and to offer a wider choice in the 
categories retained. The adjustments in the area of product ranges allowed us to reduce our inventories with a significant 
decrease in working capital as a result. 

This decrease in working capital provided a valuable contribution towards reduction of the Group’s net financial debt. At 
the 2009 year-end, this amounted to 28 million euros, a sensitive improvement compared to the 36 million euros at the 
end of 2008 and the 59 million euros at the end of 2005.

with the launch of its slogan ‘the smart choice’, the Retail Group is emphasising its strong characteristics and good market 
position. 

In contrast to the Retail Group, the Imaging Group was able to maintain its level of revenue, which was certainly not a fore-
gone conclusion in 2009. The trends of recent years remained the same: growth in digital photography, decline in analogue 
photography. The revenue from digital photography continued to increase, thanks to the success and the introduction of 
new products. Analogue photography continued to decline and now represents only 17% of the total revenues. we cannot 
deny that the economic market conditions have had an unfavourable impact. This did not discourage us from continuing 
to invest more in our internet and software applications during 2009. we will also continue investing in 2010, to enable 
more efficient processing of the anticipated increases in our volumes. 

we are unable to provide specific revenue or profit forecasts. Our Retail operations remain heavily dependent on the 
economic environment. In Imaging, on the other hand, we expect revenue growth again. 

we would like to express our sincere gratitude to our employees in Belgium and abroad, our faithful shareholders, as well 
as our suppliers and partners, and, first and foremost, to our customers for the confidence they have shown in our Group 
during the difficult year 2009. 

Tonny Van Doorslaer
Executive Chairman
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INFORmATION FOR ThE ShAREhOLDERS
January-December 2009
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The Spector Photo Group share is listed on Euronext  
Brussels. 
• ISIN code: BE0003663748
• SRw code: 3663.74
•  Stock code: SPEC
• Reuters code: SPEC.BR

RELEVANT FIGuRES OF ThE ShARE

2008 2009

Closing rate as per end of 
December € 0.38 € 0.67 

Average closing rate € 0.90 € 0.74 

highest closing rate € 1.26 € 1.16 

highest intraday rate € 1.29 € 1.24 

Lowest closing rate € 0.35 € 0.35 

Lowest intraday rate € 0.32 € 0.34 

Total volume traded € 4 758 470 € 14 256 875 

Average daily volume € 18 883 € 56 129 

Total turnover € 4 185 923 € 11 708 989 

Estimation average daily turnover € 16 611 € 46 098 

Rotation* 22.52% 67.47% 

* rotation calculated on the free float of shares as it appears from the latest notifica-
tions received by the company.

FINANCIAL CALENDER

12 may 2010 before trading 
hours

Trading update for first 
quarter of 2010

12 may 2010
at 2 p.m.

Annual General meeting of 
Shareholders

30 August 2010
after trading 
hours

Publication of the half-year 
results and half-yearly 
financial report for 2010

28 October 2010* after trading 
hours

Trading update for third 
quarter of 2010

8 February 2011* after trading 
hours

Trading update for 2010

8 march 2011* before trading 
hours

Publication full year results 
2010

* indicative data

COmmuNICATION wITh ShAREhOLDERS 
AND INVESTORS

Spector Photo Group attaches particular importance to re-
gular and transparent communication to its shareholders and 
investors.
• Publication of trading updates and results 
 (please see below).
• Separate “Investor Relations” section on the website 
 www.spectorphotogroup.com.
• Free subscription for investors to receive press releases, via 

the same website.
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KEy FiGURES PER SHARE

2008 2009

Number of shares with dividend rights as at 1 January
Acquisition of treasury shares dd. 27 march 2008

36 487 708
-1 075 275

35 412 433

Total number of shares with dividend rights as at 31 December 35 412 433 35 412 433

weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares as at 31 December 35 668 731 35 412 433

(in €, except for the number of shares)  2008 2008 2009

Number of shares 36 619 505 36 619 505 36 619 505

Shares with dividend rights Number weighted 
average 
number 

Number

weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares 35 412 433 35 668 731 35 412 433

Revenue 7.52 7.46 6.89

Profit/loss (-) from operating activities, after non-recurring items (EBIT) 0.14 0.14 0.02

REBITDA 0.46 0.46 0.25

EBITDA 0.44 0.44 0.25

Profit/loss (-) before taxes -0.07 -0.07 -0.10

Profit/loss (-) from continuing activities -0.10 -0.10 -0.08

Profit/loss (-) from discontinued operations -0.12 -0.12 -0.03

Profit/loss (-) for the period (ordinary & diluted) -0.22 -0.22 -0.11

Profit/loss (-) before taxes, corrected for non-cash items 0.31 0.31 0.14

Profit/loss (-) from continuing activities, corrected for non-cash items 0.27 0.27 0.09

Profit/loss (-) for the period attributable to equity holders of the parent company -0.22 -0.22 -0.11

Net result of the year attributable to equity holders of the parent company, 
corrected for non-cash items

0.20 0.20 0.09

Share price for the period 0.38 0.38 0.67

On 27 march 2008, 1,075,275 treasury shares were acquired for 
an amount of EuR 1,118 (‘000). As a means of partially paying 
the outstanding receivable, Fotoinvest CVBA, in liquidation, trans-
ferred the bundle of shares in Spector Photo Group NV to Spec-
tor Coördinatiecentrum NV.  The companies Fotoinvest CVBA, 
in liquidation, and Partimage CVA, on the one hand, and Spector 
Coördinatiecentrum NV, Alexander Photo SA and Spector Photo 
Group NV on the other, submitted an official notification of this 
transfer, dated 28 march 2008, to the Belgian Banking, Finance 
and Insurance Commission and to Euronext Brussels. In 2009, the 
number of shares with dividend rights remained unchanged.

NUmBER OF SHARES

The total number of shares listed is 36 619 505. The structure of 
the shareholdership is included on page 107 of this document.

FINANCIAL SERVICES

The financial service relating to the shares is provided by Fortis 
Bank and KBC Bank in Belgium, free of charge for the shareholders. 
If the company should change its policy concerning this matter, it 
will be published in the Belgian financial press. 

DEmATERIALISATION OF SECuRITIES

Persuant to the Belgian Law of 14 December 2005 governing the 
abolition of bearer securities and the resulting mandatory dema-
terialisation of bearer securities with effect from 1 January 2008, 
Spector Photo Group is calling on the services of Euroclear Bel-
gium NV. 

Euroclear Belgium NV is the Belgian Central Depository that of-
fers all kinds of services to financial intermediaries and issuers of 
securities, including custody of securities, dematerialisation services, 
processing of stock exchange transactions, etc.

The Articles of Association of Spector Photo Group NV in com-
pliance with the amended legislation concerning the abolition of 
bearer securities and dematerialisation of securities, were amended 
on 6 November 2007, published in the Appendices to the Belgian 
Bulletin of Acts and Decrees of 21 November 2007.
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Spector Photo Group is a diversified photo and multimedia 
group operating in 14 countries. It consists of two separate 
groups, the Retail Group, on the one hand, and the Imaging 
Group on the other, which mainly supply services and products 
to consumers. The Retail Group focuses on consumer elec-
tronics and on multimedia products on some local markets. 
It presents itself more as a retailer providing service than as a 
price-cutter. Today, the new digital photoproducts dominate at 
the Imaging Group, but the individual photo prints remain very 
important, and this is on a European scale. 
They each develop a separate strategy and use the most suit-
able distribution channels for this. The customer is always most 
important in this context. 

THE miSSiON

The mission of Spector Photo Group consists of providing con-
sumers with the opportunities to enjoy their audiovisual expe-
riences to the maximum. Spector Photo Group offers consum-
ers the opportunity to record emotional moments in order to 
relive and cherish them again later, and thus create added value 
for stakeholders, shareholders and staff. In this perspective, the 
company promotes itself as a solutions provider.
Spector Photo Group follows the strategy to preserve its two 
core activities within the group, and develop each of them ac-
cording to separate strategies. 

miLESTONES

1964: Foundation of DBm Color.
1965:  DBm Color commenced operations.
1976:  Creation of the Spector logo.
1977:  Creation of the Spector brand name and link with 
 the logo.

1982: Expansion into the Netherlands.
1984: Joint venture for mail order activities in France under the 

name of ExtraFilm (joint venture between DBm Color 
and ExtraFilm from Sweden).

1988: Acquisition of Tecnocrome (photofinishing organisation 
in Belgium).

1990: ExtraFilm (Sweden) joined the Group + French ExtraFilm 
joint venture became a full subsidiary.

1991: The Group acquired a majority interest in Prominvest, a 
holding company listed on the Brussels stock exchange. 
Via a reverse takeover, the Group became part of 
Prominvest, which meant the Group indirectly obtained 
a stock-exchange listing.

1993: Change of the Group’s name to Spector Photo Group, 
and merger by absorption of Prominvest by Spector 
Photo Group.

1994: Acquisition of photofinishing labs in France.
1995: Expansion into Austria and acquisition of a majority in-

terest in ExtraFilm Switzerland.
1996: Agreement with the Swiss Interdiscount holding com-

pany providing access to hungarian and German mar-
kets; ensures 100% control of ExtraFilm Switzerland; also 
meant the acquisition of Photo hall in Belgium; and was 
followed by the takeover of the French mail order com-
pany maxicolor.

1997: maxicolor expands activities into Belgium and the 
Netherlands.

1998: Listing of Photo hall, followed by takeover of hifi Inter-
national in Luxembourg.

1999: Purchase of a participation in the Italian photo lab FLT.
2001: withdrawal from the German and Austrian markets, and 

streamlining of the photofinishing division to five (5) labs 
in Belgium, Sweden, France, hungary, and Italy.

2002: merger by absorption of Photo hall by Spector Photo 
Group, followed by the start of a programme to remodel 
the hungarian organisation to match the Belgian Photo 
hall concept.

2003: Start of programme to expand ExtraFilm to become 
the group’s brand name for ‘web-to-post’ activities in 
Europe.

2004: Acquisition of the trading securities of KodaPost in 
Scandinavia, and of Litto-Color, a photofinishing lab in 
Belgium with commercial activities in the Benelux and 
France.

 Closing of the lab in hungary.
2005: ExtraFilm becomes the recommended photo print part-

ner for windows XP in France, Germany, Great Britain 
and Spain. 

 Closing of the lab in munster, France.
 Capital increase of EuR 41.8 million. 
2006: Litto-Color, the lab in Ostend, divested. 
 Sacap France was closed. 
2007: The brand names ExtraFilm, maxicolor and wistiti were 

combined under the ExtraFilm name. 
 Centralisation of the two channels for photo shops, Fil-

mobel (hardware) and Spector (photo service), under 
one organisation in wetteren, Belgium. 

2008: Completion of the restructuring of the Imaging Group 
with the centralisation of ExtraFilm France in Belgium. 
The marketing of ExtraFilm France remains established 
in France (Paris). 

 Photo hall celebrated its 75th birthday. 
 Breakthrough for digital photography. 
2009: Sale of the hungarian Föfoto via an mBO.
 Photo hall launches its slogan ‘The Smart Choice’.

SPECTOR PHOTO GROUP PROFiLE
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imAGiNG

RETAiL

BELGiUm Photo hall (Retail)
 Spector (Imaging)
 Filmobel (Imaging)
 ExtraFilm (Imaging)
LuXEmBOuRG hifi International (Retail)
 ExtraFilm (Imaging)
ThE NEThERLANDS Spector (Imaging)
 ExtraFilm (Imaging)
FRANCE hifi International (Retail)
 ExtraFilm (Imaging)

SwEDEN ExtraFilm (Imaging)
NORwAy ExtraFilm (Imaging)
FINLAND ExtraFilm (Imaging)
DENmARK ExtraFilm (Imaging)
SwITzERLAND ExtraFilm (Imaging)
iTALy ExtraFilm (Imaging)
GERmANy ExtraFilm (Imaging)
AUSTRiA ExtraFilm (Imaging)
uNITED KINGDOm ExtraFilm (Imaging)
SPAiN ExtraFilm (Imaging)

GEOGRAPHiCAL PRESENCE



 10 spector photo group 

RETAiL GROUP
INTRODuCTION

The Retail Group of Spector Photo Group operates under the 
name Photo hall and specialises in selling consumer electronics. 
It contains the chains of Photo hall in Belgium and hifi Inter-
national in Luxembourg. During the course of 2009, the Föfoto 
chain, operating under the Photo hall name in hungary, was 
sold via an mBO. 

INTERNATIONAL mARKET ENVIRONmENT

The consumer electronics market had a weak 2009. GfK, the 
research bureau, calculated that global sales fell by 2% in 2009 
to uSD 681 billion. Four product segments succeeded in 
achieving growth, which were LCD TVs, portable computers, 
hD DVD players (Blu Ray) and smart phones. In 2008, on the 
other hand, there were 10 product segments that supported 
the market. 

To explain the decrease, apart from economic conditions, GfK 
highlighted the end of a cycle of innovation that had produced 
numerous new products, e.g. navigation devices, -15% in 2009 
versus 2008, and digital cameras, -11%. 

BELGIAN mARKET ENVIRONmENT

On the basis of the GfK TEmAX reports, GfK noted an 11% fall 
in sales of consumer electronics in Belgium in 2009, including 
a decrease of 6.6% in photography. Both IT, with +2.1%, and 
telecommunications with +0.9%, noted slight increases. 

Price deflation is one of the main reasons for the decline in 
consumer electronics. LCD and plasma TVs, for example, ex-
perienced price decreases of 20% to 30%. This did not prevent 
wide screen TVs remaining the most important product in con-

sumer electronics with 62% of the sales. The market penetra-
tion of wide screen TVs was estimated at 69% at the end of 
2009, compared to 50% at the end of 2008. 

The photography market saw a decline in sales of 6.6% in 
2009. The number of compact cameras fell by 5%. There was 
still a strong demand for models with high resolutions. Single 
Lens Reflex cameras experienced growth in numbers of 8% 
in 2009. There was however a decrease in value by 1%. The in-
troduction of lower-priced models, around 8% cheaper, aimed 
to have consumers switch from compact to Single Lens Reflex 
cameras. 

The sales in IT products closed 2009 with sales growth of 2.1%, 
a positive figure thanks to strong performance of +12.5% in 
the fourth quarter. Portable computers are the driving forces 
behind this growth and already represent 50% of the IT sales. 

Telecommunications products recorded 0.9% sales growth in 
2009, with the good fourth quarter of +3% ensuring stable 
performance for the year. This stable performance, however, 
does hide contrasting developments: on the one hand, the sales 
decreased for ordinary mobile phones, more than 10%, and 
DECT telephones and fax machines, on the other, the sales 
of advanced mobile phones showed a remarkable increase of 
66%. During the 2009 fourth quarter alone, sales in numbers 
increased by 120%, which increased the market share of this 
type of equipment to more than 30%, compared to 20% at 
the end of 2008. 

EVOLuTION OF NumBER OF RETAIL GROuP ShOPS

At the end of 2009, Photo hall Belgium had a total of 90 
shops (+3), hifi International in Luxembourg had 16 shops 
(unchanged), while the group still has one shop in France. 

Photo hall Belgium (www.photohall.be) and hifi International 
(www.hifi.lu) also each have an e-commerce sales outlet. 
During the whole of 2009, 5 new shops were opened in Bel-
gium, located in mariakerke, Chapelle, Jemeppe-sur-Sambre, 
Liege at the mediacité shopping centre, and in Schilde. The 
shops in Sint-Niklaas and Brussels (munt) were closed. The 
shop in Oudergem changed from a franchise to own manage-
ment. 
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Around a third of the Photo hall shops are in town centres and 
shops in shopping centres also account for a third. Shops on 
main approach roads represent the remaining third. The latter 
have an average area of 300 square metres, while the other 
shops have an average of some 200 square metres. 

The average area of the Luxembourg hifi International shops 
amounts to 300 to 350 square metres. An exception to this 
is the shop in Bertrange, which has a surface of 2,800 square 
metres. 
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PhOTO hALL: ‘ThE SmART ChOICE’

A survey in cooperation with a market research organisation 
came to the conclusion that Photo hall is properly positioned 
in the retail market, but that it puts too little emphasis on its 
unique position. This is why it was decided to launch the slogan 
‘the smart choice’. The ‘smart choice’ relates to: 

• pleasant shops of comfortable size and sales staff who are 
always at the customer’s service. The shops are well fit for 
customers and ideally situated all over Belgium. Thus, with 
background music and in friendly and warm surroundings, 
customers can allow specialised sales staff to guide them. 
The sales assistants are always happy to provide the best 
possible advice to customers and act as an intermediary to 
resolve their problems. In two words: NO STRESS! 

• a careful selection of the best and newest products that 
the market has to offer, at unbeatable prices. Photo hall 
wants to make its customers lives easier by offering them 
clear and strong choices that best meet their expectations. 
Gone is the indecisiveness when faced with a wall of shelves 
full of products!

• the price guarantee. If, in spite of Photo hall’s price moni-
toring, the customer has bought an article that is seen at a 
cheaper price elsewhere, Photo hall commits itself to pay 
back the difference. 

In addition to ‘The smart choice’, Photo hall endeavours to 
guarantee good after-sales service for its customers. Photo hall 
always wants its customers to be 100% satisfied with their new 
purchases. Therefore, Photo hall undertakes to assists custom-
ers personally, even after the purchase, with advice and action 
or in the event of problems. 

All equipment sold by Photo hall has been subjected to count-
less quality tests by the manufacturers before being brought 
onto the market. Photo hall only works with the largest brand 
names to enable it to provide articles of the highest quality.
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THE RETAiL GROUP ON iNTERNET

It is impossible nowadays to operate in the current market envi-
ronment without internet, and Photo hall (www.photohall.be) 
and hifi International (www.hifi.lu) also make use of this impor-
tant medium. On the one hand this media is providing infor-
mation, on the other, it pursues sales operations. 

The increasing complexity and technical developments make 
it more and more difficult for consumers to find their way 
through the extensive maze of product offerings. To assist their 
customers to choose, the websites of Photo hall and hifi In-
ternational make expanded and technical information available 
about their products. under the ‘smart choosing’ heading, cus-
tomers find tips to assist them. The information is grouped into 
the themes of cameras, GPS, GSm, IT, mP3 players, TV, video 
cameras, and windows 7. 

Besides all the products available in the shops, www.photohall.be 
also offers exclusive products that cannot be found in the shops. 
These articles are recognisable by the ‘internet exclusive’ logo 
and are continually renewed according to suitability. Collection 
of each internet purchase is free in the shop that the customer 
selects. home delivery is also possible. 

To enable customers to make purchases at home via internet 
with full confidence, Photo hall is a member of BeCommerce. 
In addition to the strict Belgian legislation, all BeCommerce 
members have to comply with the Code of Conduct of the 
Belgian Direct marketing Association (BDmV). The rules im-
posed relate to:
• protection of the customer’s privacy;
• handling of complaints by the Surveillance Committee;
• remote sales;
• communicating with consumers. 

 

RETAIL GROuP’S SALES PER PRODuCT GROuP

2009 was a difficult year in several respects. On the one hand, 
there was the macroeconomic environment that depressed 
consumer confidence and consumer spending, on the other, 
price deflation. The combination of these two factors resulted 
in the fact no single product group, in Belgium was able to 
record a sales increase in 2009. The only exceptions to this 
were found in Luxembourg. The sales of photo prints increased 
slightly; sales of white goods, large and small household appli-
ances experienced remarkable growth. white goods were only 
introduced in hifi International’s range three years ago, and 
already represented 7.3% of the total sales in 2009. 

within the specific product groups, however, we do observe 
sub-groups that noted higher sales: reflex cameras in Bel-
gium and Luxembourg, GSm mobile phones in Belgium and 
Luxembourg, and home cinema systems in Luxembourg.  

we have summarised a number of examples of price deflation 
in the table below:

Price falls in Belgium

Notebooks -10%

GPS devices -21%

LCD TVs -15%

Price falls in Luxembourg

home Cinema -14%

Digital cameras -5%

GSms -6%
 

KEy FiGURES RETAiL GROUP

(in € millions) 2008 2009 ∆ in %

Revenues 190.41 169.92 -10.8%

EBiT 7.63 3.13 -59.0%

EBITDA 10.48 5.28 -49.6%

LONG-TERm DEVELOPmENT

This chart shows the development of quarterly sales since 
2005. During the period from 2005 to the end of 2007, sales 
grew gradually. In 2008, a fall in sales was observed, due to on 
the one hand the deconsolidation of the hungarian Föfoto, on 
the other, due to the less favourable economic environment in 
Belgium and the closing of two shops in France. In 2009, the 
retail operations in Belgium and Luxembourg had to cope with 
the full impact of the economic crisis. 
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TRANSITION FROm ANALOGuE TO DIGITAL 

The transition from analogue to digital photography has en-
tered its final phase. Digital photography now comprises more 
than 80% of the total photo finishing market after the decrease 
of analogue photography by almost 50% in 2009. 
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Source: Spector Photo Group

The rapid breakthrough and great success of digital photography 
did not come by chance. After all, digital photography has consid-
erable advantages that have swiftly won over consumers:
• digital cameras are usually smaller than traditional analogue 

cameras;
• digital cameras can provide information in photos, e.g. time, 

date, etc.;
• digital pictures can be stored and copied;

• digital photography allows you to experiment without loss of 
time or the development cost for less successful photos;

• digital photos can be processed using software to create cer-
tain effects;

• digital photos can be printed at home;
• the LCD screens of the digital cameras allow photos to be 

immediately viewed and deleted;
• many digital cameras have an Audio-Visual port that allows 

the photos to be viewed via a TV;
• you can choose which photos to print and which not;
• using digital photos, you can make your own creations on a 

variety of surfaces, such as porcelain, textile, etc. 

Analogue photography will always continue to exist, e.g. in some 
professional environments. Consumers, on the other hand, are 
consistently choosing digital photography. On top of this, taking 
photos has become so easy that everyone can simply take a 
camera along with them and make a photo. 

The penetration level of digital cameras in families in western 
Europe amounts to 65%, a figure that can still increase slightly 
in the future, as witnessed in the penetration level of 75% in 
the uS. It will surprise nobody that PCs and laptops are the 
favourite storage media for digital photos, with nonetheless a 
growing importance of external storage media such as external 
hard disks, CDs, memory cards, as well as online storage capac-
ity offered by numerous websites. 

imAGiNG GROUP 
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Digital cameras in 
families

Photo storage Use of photos

VS 75% PC/laptop 75% View 
photos 
themselves 
or with 
family 

100%

Japan 67% External 
hard disc

46% Printing 
photos

70%

western 
Europe

65% CD 26% Sending via 
e-mail

74%

Eastern 
Europe 

31% Online 19% Use for 
online 
auctions

45%

memory 
cards 

17% upload for 
forums and 
communi-
ties

34%

Creating 
photo 
books 

31%

  
Source: Photo Imaging News, GfK

The market for digital photography has undergone very fast 
development, not least due to the increasing online possibili-
ties. On the one hand, telecom operators offer their customers 
more volume and higher speed without volume restrictions, 
on the other, consumers are inundated with new devices and 
new applications. The iPhone and iPod touch, for example, can 
use more than 150,000 applications, of which 3,060 are photo 
applications. Some mobile phones have cameras of 8 to 10 
megapixels, with LED flash, and some even have hD video. 
Cameras with internet connections are also being marketed. 
The integration of photo, video and mobile internet is gradually 
becoming a fact and creates a broad range of new commercial 
opportunities. 
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more advanced devices and more sophisticated applications 
are unquestionably leading to more photos, but these photos 
do not always find their way to commercial printing applica-
tions, such as prints, photo books or photo gifts. A large pro-
portion of the digital photos therefore remain ‘sleeping’, unused 
on the hard disks of the computers or in the cameras. It is 
therefore up to the industry to offer applications to the highly 
demanding consumers to inject new life into these ‘sleeping’ 
photos. By providing products with a higher added value, the 
industry is gradually succeeding in this. This requires an ongo-
ing development of the software, sufficient direct marketing 
knowledge, good value for money, regular promotions, the de-
velopment of new products and a properly performing logistics 
system. These are only a few of the parameters that help to 
determine the success of the new digital environment in the 
photography sector. 

Another important observation is that the fall in the number 
of analogue prints is not compensated by the increase in the 
number of digital prints. There are however not less pictures 
taken, but they are being used differently. Very popular is the 
use of photos and sharing them with other users, via social net-
work sites, such as Facebook or Netlog, or just sending them 
via e-mail (see table).

SALES OF CAmERAS AND DERIVATIVES

GfK research shows that sales of cameras decreased by 6.4% 
in value to 9 billion euros in western Europe. Consumer de-
mand for digital cameras nevertheless continued to increase in 
2009, although not to the same extent as in 2008. It was pri-
marily digital single lens reflex cameras (DSLR) that were very 
popular with consumers and this was under the motto `more, 
faster, better and cheaper’. The sale of compact digital cameras, 
in contrast, decreased significantly; however, in this segment 
too there was a trend to more money for more features, such 

as 12-megapixel cameras. There is also a trend in the market 
for DSLR cameras towards cameras with more possibilities. In 
Japan, for example, one in two of the DSLR cameras sold can 
record moving pictures. 
This trend towards more possibilities and more accessories will 
continue and also become stronger. At the 2009 Imaging Sum-
mit, which took place in Germany in November 2009, the pub-
lisher of the American Photo Imaging News stressed the strong 
growth of the photo market. The number of photos taken with 
digital cameras will increase by 20% per annum, while photos 
taken with mobile phones using built-in cameras, on the other 
hand, will double each year. he paid special attention to the 
new digital products, such as photo books and photo gifts. For 
example, he expects that the number of photo books will in-
crease from 1 million in 2003, to 129 million in 2012. he also 
foresees a very strong increase in the field of the personalised 
photo gifts, supported by the introduction of new technologies, 
such as double-sided printing. According to him, these photo 
gifts will amount to 5.6 billion dollars in 2012, compared to only 
238 million dollars in 2003. 

The success of photo books coincides to a great extent with 
the development of the quality of them, a development that 
coincided with the introduction of the use of photographic pa-
per and of digital printing machines. The quality is of such a na-
ture that these applications have found their way into industrial 
and commercial applications, activities that are a supplement to 
traditional photography activities. 

The decreasing importance of individual prints, quality and price 
considerations also ensure that the number of photos printed 
at home decreased in western Europe. A GfK analysis shows 
that the market for home prints in western Europe reached a 
peak of 3.9 billion prints in 2006, but since then has gradually 
fallen to 2.45 billion prints in 2009. 

STRUCTURE OF THE imAGiNG GROUP

The Imaging Group’s activities consist of two parts, which are 
mail order and services for the independent photo specialists. 

mail order, operating under the ExtraFilm brand name:
• ExtraFilm focuses directly on private customers via the vari-

ous national websites; 
• They provide an extensive range of services in photography, 

ranging from analogue and digital photo prints to the various 
digital photoproducts. These products are delivered to the 
customers’ homes by post.

• ExtraFilm has its head office in wetteren, Belgium, where the 
central services, marketing, product development, software, 
administration, etc., are located;

• ExtraFilm operates in 14 countries via four regional offices: 
Nordics (Sweden), Central Europe (Switzerland), Southern 
Europe (France) and Benelux (Belgium). Production takes 
place in wetteren, Belgium, and in Sweden.

• mail order represents around 50% of the Imaging Group’s 
revenues, and mainly consists of the group’s digital activities 
that are experiencing the strongest growth.

Services for photo specialists: the Group serves the 
independent photo specialists in Belgium and the Netherlands 
via two channels:
• Spector: under the SpectorTm brand name, Imaging provides 

extensive services in photography, ranging from analogue 
and digital photo prints to the various digital photoproducts 
that can be ordered and/or delivered via the independent 
photo specialist. 

• Filmobel: wholesaling of hardware that is delivered directly 
to the independent photo specialists. This activity has grown 
strongly in recent years. 
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KEy FiGURES imAGiNG GROUP

(in € millions) 2008 2009 ∆ in %

Revenues 76.51 74.82 2.2%

REBiT -1.34 -1.77 n.r.

REBITDA 6.33 4.09 35.4%

EBiT -2.13 -1.77 n.r.

EBITDA 5.63 4.09 -27.3%

LONG-TERm DEVELOPmENT

This chart shows the development of quarterly sales since 
2005. During the period from 2005 to the end of 2007, sales 
decreased due to the downturn of the volumes in analogue 
photography. In 2006 and 2007, the structure was gradually 
adapted to provide better responses to the challenges and 
opportunities of digital photography. This led to a recovery of 
sales in 2008 and 2009. 

To facilitate the comparison throughout the years, the sales of 
the Italian FLT, no longer fully consolidated since the fourth 
quarter of 2008, are shown separately. 
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ThE NEw PhOTOPRODuCTS

Since the introduction of the digital photo print some years 
ago, this activity has undergone an extraordinary development. 
whereas in the past the holiday periods, or rather the periods 
after the holidays, especially the summer holidays, led to very 
busy photo finishing activity, the business has now spread itself 
better across the whole year. The busiest period has now be-
come the year-end, and this has everything to do with the suc-
cess of new products, such as greetings cards, photo calendars, 
photo books, and other `photo gifts’. 
In fact, the sector is developing according to a business model 
that must be able to generate sales during the entire year. Ex-
traFilm offers its customers product ranges that have been built 
around `occasions’, moments at which giving one or more new 
photoproducts can take place. These occasions are:
• sacraments or spring festivals;
• births;
• kids (birthday parties);
• marriages;
• holidays;
• parties;
• pets.

under the ‘something for everyone’ motto, ExtraFilm also of-
fers premium products, exclusive gifts and products that ex-
press more added value, and ‘3’ creations’, products that can be 
swiftly created online. 

Via the ‘new products’ page, ExtraFilm customers gain immedi-
ate access to the newest products and designs.

Of course, customers do not have to wait until an ‘occasion’ 
presents itself. They can make their own selection from the var-
ious product groups in all shapes and colours. Photo books, up 
to now the most important new digital photoproduct, are avail-
able in 7 different formats, from pocket sizes, 13.7 x 17.5 cm, to 

impressive photo books for the salon table, 30.5 x 42.5 cm. 
The product group with the most options is undoubtedly that 
of the attractive presents, or photo gifts. Almost 20 attractive 
products are available, such as T-shirts, towels, mouse mats, 
glasses, aprons, puzzles, sunshades, etc.

2006 2007 2008 2009

PrintsPeriod

in
 %

Non-prints

Mail-order digital sales - Prints versus Non-prints
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Retail:
Fall in revenue by 10.8% led to an EBITDA decline of 49.6%
• The negative economic climate weighed heavily on consum-

er spending; 
• Strong focus on cost control and reduction of working  

capital. 

Imaging: 
• Stable revenue on an annual basis with another increase in 

digital revenues, despite the crisis;
• Less satisfactory performance in the second half-year 

plus higher costs led to a fall in the EBITDA by 27.3% to  
EuR 4.09 million.

Group:
At group level, the net financial debt dropped another 
EuR 8.12 million to EuR 28.03 million.

CONSOLIDATED RESuLTS FOR ThE 2009 
FiNANCiAL yEAR 

RECuRRING RESuLTS FROm OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Spector Photo Group realised revenues of EuR 243.98 million 
(-8.3%) with EBIT of EuR 0.62 million (-87.5%) in the 2009 
financial year, compared to EuR 266.16 and EuR 4.97 million 
respectively in 2008. 

The following aspects were typical for the results of the past 
financial year :

In Retail:
• a decline in revenues to EuR 169.92 million (-10.8%)
• an EBIT drop to EuR 3.13 million (-59%)
• a fall in the EBITDA to EuR 5.28 million (-49.6%)

The poor economic situation and low consumer confidence 
had unfavourable effects on the results in 2009. In Belgium, the 
revenue fell by 9.4%, while hifi International in Luxembourg 
had to cope with an 11.8% revenue drop. 

In Imaging, the revenues decreased slightly by 2.2% to EuR 
74.82 million. If the deconsolidation of the Italian FLT, which 
was fully consolidated in the first three quarters of 2008 and 
has since then been recognised as a financial asset, and ex-
change rate differences, particularly for the Swedish krona, had 
not been taken into account, the annual turnover would have 
shown an increase of 1.8%. The EBIT slightly improved from 
minus EuR 2.13 million to minus EuR 1.98 million, the EBITDA 
witnessed a 27.3% drop to EuR 4.09 million.

FiNANCiAL RESULT

The financial result before non-recurring items for the 2009 
financial year improved from minus EuR 5.18 million in 2008 to 
minus EuR 4.29 million in 2009. The improvement by EuR 0.89 
million is mainly the result of lower financial interest expenses. 
The unfavourable exchange rate differences increased slightly. 

TAXES 

Spector Photo Group realised a positive tax result of  
EuR 0.95 million in 2009, compared to minus EuR 0.91 million 
in 2008. 

The current taxes amount to minus EuR 1.57 million, of 
which minus EuR 0.97 million are taxes on the result of the 
financial year, and minus EuR 0.59 million relates to previ-
ous periods. The deferred taxes amounted to a credit of  
EuR 2.51 million, of which EuR 1.06 million was a result of 
offsetting tax losses with profits from previous years (carry-
back), related to Extrafilm France, plus releases of deferred 
taxes amounting to EuR 1.45 million.

DISCONTINuED OPERATIONS

The discontinued operations as at the 2009 year-end included 
the Retail Group’s hungarian Föfoto, which was sold on 4 June 
2009 by means of an mBO (management Buy-Out). The loss 
of EuR 1.06 million comprises, on the one hand, a non-cash 
loss of EuR 0.76 million resulting from the currency translation 
differences that were transferred from the currency transla-
tion differences item in the shareholders’ equity to the realised 
statement of comprehensive income, and on the other hand, 
of EuR 0.30 million costs related to the completion of this 
transaction. 

RESULT FOR THE FiNANCiAL yEAR

Compared to a loss of EuR 7.75 million incurred in 2008, the 
loss for the 2009 financial year amounts to EuR 3.79 million. 
The improvement in the result by a rounded € 4 million com-
pared to the 2008 financial year can be simply explained as 
follows: 
• Operating profit: decreased by EuR 4.35 million.
• Financial result: improvement of EuR 3.29 million.
• Taxes:  improvement of EuR 1.86 million.
• Discontinued operations: improvement of EuR 3.17 million. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT ON ThE CONSOLIDATED 
FiNANCiAL STATEmENTS



INVESTmENTS

The investments in 2009 amounted to EuR 8.38 million, of 
which EuR 6.12 million was in property, plant and equipment, 
and EuR 2.26 million in intangible assets. The investments of 
EuR 3.98 million for the Retail Group mainly concern the pur-
chase of the central building of hifi International in Bettem-
bourg, Luxembourg, for EuR 3 million, and the equipping and 
furnishing of the shops, costing EuR 0.85 million. 

The Imaging Group invested mainly in machines and the de-
velopment of designs for photo books and photo gifts, costing 
EuR 2.17 million. The investments as a result of the optimising 
of the data centre amounted to EuR 0.51 million. The acquisition 
of external customer relationships costed EuR 1.52 million.

DIVIDEND
The Board of Directors will recommend the General meeting 
of Shareholders not to pay a dividend for the 2009 financial 
year.

STATEmENT OF THE FiNANCiAL POSiTiON
The balance sheet total decreased from EuR 136.51 million 
at year-end 2008 to EuR 121.54 million. The most important 
items are the following:
• The net financial debt decreased by EuR 8.12 million to 

EuR 28.03 million at the 2009 year-end from EuR 36.15 mil-
lion at the end of 2008. This continues the remarkable debt 
reduction from recent years:

(in €’000) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Net financial debt 59 006 51 064 47 990 36 150 28 028
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without the purchase of the central building in Luxembourg, 
the net financial debt would have fallen to EuR 25 million.
• The long-term debt of Photo hall multimedia to the bank 

consortium needs to be renegotiated as at 2010 year-end.  
IFRS requires that this item must be recognised under the 
current liabilities. 

• The equity decreased from EuR 30.56 million at year-end 
2008 to EuR 29.10 million at year-end 2009, due on the 
one hand to the net loss of EuR 3.79 million and, on the 
other hand, to a positive effect on the currency translation 
reserves of EuR 2.33 million.

• The net carrying amount for the external customer relation-
ships amounted to EuR 8.8 million, of which EuR 7.2 million 
was for externally-acquired customer relationships and EuR 
1.6 million for directly attributable costs.

• The inventories, trade and other receivables items fell sen-
sitively by minus EuR 11.9 million. This mainly reflects the 
efforts of the Retail Group to optimise the working capital. 

• The assets held for sale fell from EuR 6.7 million to EuR 0.7 
million as a result of the sale of the hungarian holding during 
the second quarter of 2009.
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CuRRENT SITuATION OF EACh DIVISION

RETAiL GROUP – PHOTO HALL

The retail operations in the Photo hall Group realised rev-
enues amounting to EuR 169.92 million in 2009, a fall of 10.8% 
in comparison with EuR 190.41 million in 2008. The fourth 
quarter experienced a similar development with an 11.5% 
drop in revenue. Consumer spending clearly continues to be 
unfavourably affected by the weak economic conditions.

Photo hall in Belgium and hifi International in Luxembourg 
saw a fall in the number of their sales transactions by a little 
more than 4%, with price deflation responsible for the remain-
der of the drop in revenue. market saturation and a lack of 
innovative products were the underlying reasons for this.

In the product lines, mobile telephony and reflex cameras 
were the only lines that showed increases in revenues, in both 
Belgium and Luxembourg. In Luxemburg, hifi International 
achieved an important double-figure increase in revenue with 
its recently-introduced range of household equipment. 

The top three in the product ranges of Photo hall consists of 
IT, telecom and televisions. At hifi International, these are IT, 
televisions and cameras. 

The number of shops in Luxembourg remained unchanged at 
16, with a net increase of 3 shops in Belgium. The group retains 
its single shop in France. 

Number of points of sale 2008 2009

Belgium
 own shops
 e-commerce
 under franchising

82
1
5

86
1
4

Luxembourg
 own shops
 e-commerce

16
1

16
1

France
 own shops 1 1

Subtotal
 own shops
 e-commerce
 under franchising

99
2
5

103
2
4

Total number of points of sale 106 109

In 2009, a retail marketeer reviewed the market positioning of 
Photo hall Belgium. The conclusion was that Photo hall Bel-
gium is correctly positioned and that its strengths must be giv-
en more emphasis. The launch of the slogan ‘the smart choice’ 
should contribute to this. The strengths are:
• pleasant shops and sales staff who are always at the custom-

er’s service. The shops are ideally located all over Belgium 
and are well fitted for the customers. 

• a careful selection of the best and newest products that the 
market has to offer, at unbeatable prices. Photo hall wants 
to make its customers’ lives easier by offering them clear and 
strong choices that best meet their expectations. 

• the price guarantee. If the customer has bought an article 
from Photo hall that is offered  cheaper elsewhere, Photo 
hall will pay back the difference.
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ImAGING GROuP - PhOTOmEDIA

The revenues from the Imaging Group amounted to EuR 74.82 
million in 2009, a decrease of 2.2% in comparison with 2008. 
with a comparable scope, without FLT in 2008, and not taking 
exchange rate fluctuations into account, the year’s revenues 
would have risen by 1.8%.

The revenues from the mail order activities of ExtraFilm in-
creased over the entire year by 4.5% compared to 2008. Digital 
produced 83% of the revenue, with 17% still analogue. In 2009, 
the growth of digital photography was thus able to compensate 
for the almost 50% fall in analogue photography. Just like in 
2008, the growth of the pure digital photo prints was limited 
to less than 5%, whereas the new digital products experienced 
strong growth. New photoproducts, such as photo books, 
photo calendars, photo gifts and photos on canvas continued 
to increase their relative importance. Photo gifts experienced 
the largest increase in the extended range of digital products 
in 2009, with growth of almost 150%. The numbers of photo 
books and photo calendars sold increased by 34%.
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The group has successfully adjusted itself to the new market 
conditions resulting from the transition from analogue to digital 
photography. This involves not only the offering of new prod-
ucts at competitive prices, but also the investments in internet 
and software. Numerous years of experience in direct market-
ing in mail order is the final factor that has assisted and sup-
ported this transition. 
The increasing importance of online marketing is leading to 
more targeted promotional campaigns, replacing traditional 
marketing expenditure via the media and in the form of target-
ed advertising. This enables marketing efforts to be translated 
into price reductions.

To process the larger quantities of new products, the group 
is investing in people and machines. The higher costs incurred 
for this cannot be fully recovered from the current revenue 
growth, but will pay off in the future. 

Filmobel, the hardware wholesaler focussing on the profes-
sional photographer, again realised an increase in its turnover 
in 2009. 
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The SpectorTm brand, which is used exclusively for supplying 
specialised photographic businesses, saw its turnover decrease 
in 2009.  The new photo products are breaking through more 
slowly in specialised photographic businesses; in addition to this, 
as far as sales of consumer electronics is concerned, these spe-
cialised businesses also faced the difficult economic conditions. 

PROSPECTS FOR 2010

The low consumer confidence and the limited prospects of im-
provement will continue to put pressure on the Retail Group’s 
operations.  

The Imaging Group anticipates growth in revenue for 2010: 
the effect of the decline in analogue photography will be more 
limited than in previous years; the growth of the new photo-
products will continue in 2010. 

RiSK mANAGEmENT

The management of risks forms an integral part of the way in 
which the group is managed. The group has taken measures 
with a view to controlling these risks as effectively as possible, 
and will continue to do so, including the measure to constitute 
provisions.

however, no assurance can be given that these measures will 
be fully effective in all possible circumstances and therefore it is 
impossible to rule out that some of these risks could arise and 
could have an impact on the company. Other risks currently 
unknown to the Company, or which are not considered mate-
rial at present, could prove detrimental to the Company or to 
the value of its shares.

FiNANCiAL RiSKS 

The most important financial risks to which the Group is ex-
posed are related to the Groups financial liabilities, the out-
standing trade receivables and transactions in currencies other 
than the euro.

• In accordance with the realignment of the financial liabili-
ties that was agreed with the bank consortium in December 
2005, the remainder of the unredeemed loans and advances 
becomes due and payable at the end of 2010, and the loans 
may have to be renegotiated or refinanced. The availability 
of credit therefore coincides with the degree to which the 
group succeeds in generating free cash flows with which it 
can further reduce its debt position in 2010. The group man-
ages this risk by continuing to develop a transparent and 
constructive relationship with the bank consortium.

• A significant proportion of the Imaging Group’s activities are 
conducted by means of ‘remote sales’ to end-consumers. 
This involves exposure to non-collectability of many, rela-
tively small, trade receivables. The group manages this risk by 
encouraging online payment for its e-commerce activities on 
the one hand and, on the other hand, by conducting proper 
credit management. 

In cases of non-payment on the due dates, additional costs are 
charged depending on the overdue periods. In due course, the 
collection of the receivables is handed over to debt-collection 
agencies. For other trade receivables, credit limits and payment 
terms are set for each customer. Dunning procedures are start-
ed when these terms are exceeded. Deliveries are blocked to 
customers who have exceeded their credit limits or payment 
terms.

There was no significant risk concentration as at 31 Decem-
ber 2009 and 2008. No write-downs are recognised for the 
overdue receivables, because their collectability is considered 
as probable.

• The Company publishes its consolidated financial statements 
in euros. A significant portion of its assets, liabilities, revenues 
and costs are expressed in currencies other than the euro, 
including the Swiss franc and the Swedish krona. Although ex-
change rate fluctuations can have an effect on the Group’s 
results, the company judges this risk as being too small to take 
specific measures apart from strict management monitoring.

mARKET RiSKS 

with the Imaging Group, the company mainly operates in a 
market that is highly susceptible to changes. The most impor-
tant market-related risks correspond to technological devel-
opments and their impact on consumer behaviour, the devel-
opment of consumer prices, the competitive position and the 
dependence on a limited number of major customers of the 
Imaging Group.

•  The strategy of the Imaging Group is based to a great extent 
on the findings of prospective market research from which 
new opportunities have emerged for the business following 
the transition from analogue to digital photography. These 
findings have an inherent risk of error, and they can also be 
affected by future technological developments that have 
not yet been taken into account. The group manages these 
risks by permanently keeping in touch with the technological 
world, the market, and consumers so that, if necessary, it can 
rapidly adjust not only its strategy, but also its investment and 
business plans.
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•  The future profitability of the Company – for both the Retail 
Group and the Imaging Group – will also depend on the 
selling prices that it can achieve for its products and services. 
The price elasticity of demand, combined with the develop-
ment of the margins, involves a risk for the Group’s profitabil-
ity. Although the Group assumes continued price pressure in 
its business plan, it proactively manages other risks by, on the 
one hand, reducing its fixed overhead costs and, on the other 
hand, by continuously developing new products that are less 
susceptible to the general price pressure.

•  The future market share and business figures of the Group – 
both in the Retail Group and in the Imaging Group – can be 
affected by campaigns of existing competitors or the entry 
of new competitors. By permanently monitoring its competi-
tive position, the Group takes this factor into account in the 
further development of its plans and its operations. The cur-
rent economic crisis means we are now experiencing some 
pressure on the revenues within the Retail Group. Consum-
ers are more careful about purchasing more expensive con-
sumer goods.

RISK RELATED TO DISPuTES

The Company and some of its subsidiaries are involved in tax 
disputes that are pending in the tax courts, and provisions have 
been formed for these. For certain tax disputes, however, the 
Company’s opinion is that no provisions need to be formed. 
On the one hand, this concerns the tax deductibility of insur-
ance premiums which the Company and some of its subsidiar-
ies have paid to an insurance company that itself reinsured with 
a reinsurance company that is controlled by the Company. On 
the other hand, it chiefly concerns discussions around the tax 
deductibility of payments in the context of transactions with 
Group companies. A ruling in favour of the Group was deliv-
ered at the end of 2007. This ruling had a positive impact on 
the tax expenses for the 2007 financial year. The tax administra-
tion’s refunds of the disputed taxes and interest amounts for 

postponement of payment were received in January and march 
2009 respectively.

The tax dispute concerning hifi International involves issues 
including (i) the tax deductibility of the loss that arose with 
the merger of hifi International with hifi Video and hifi Con-
nection in 2001, (ii) the recognition of the taxes under the 
alternative taxable basis; and (iii) an abnormal benefit that a 
subsidiary is alleged to have received as a result of a subsidiary’s 
liquidation. During the 2009 financial year, an unfavourable rul-
ing was delivered against the group. Since the payment to the 
tax administration had already taken place in 2008, this ruling 
only had an effect on the result of EuR 786 (‘000) in 2009.

A dispute with a supplier has also been settled, and the rec-
ognised provision of EuR 280 (‘000) was sufficient to be used 
for this. 

After the settlement of the disputes mentioned above, there 
is a tax dispute that has been made pending by the tax courts 
and for which a provision of EuR 810 (‘000)has been formed. 

RiSK mANAGEmENT

The Group has started a structured analysis of the risks con-
cerning the planning, the organisation, the management and the 
controll of its operations. This Enterprise Risk Management 
(ERM) project includes the risk management in financial, stra-
tegic and operational areas to minimise the exposure to risks. 
This means that the business risks are being systematically iden-
tified, measured and controlled, so that the risk profile is in line 
with the risk appetite. 

The Audit Committee will systematically assess the ERm sys-
tem that will be implemented on the basis of this.

ThE POSSIBLE ChANGES OR INTERPRETATION uNDER 
IAS/IFRS OF ThE RuLES ON ThE RECOGNITION OF IN-
TANGIBLE ASSETS; mORE SPECIFICALLy, EXTERNALLy-AC-
QuIRED CuSTOmER RELATIONShIPS OF ThE ImAGING 
GROUP

The Board of Directors decided to measure the externally-
acquired customer relationships according to the cost model 
(IAS 38:74) for the opening balance as at 1 January 2004. Ac-
cording to the Board of Directors, this means that the directly 
attributable preparatory costs were considered as a compo-
nent of the cost price of the externally-acquired customer re-
lationships, which is in accordance with IAS 38:27. At the time 
this annual report was drawn up, there has still been no official 
interpretation on this from the competent body. It is not known 
whether such an official interpretation will be provided, and 
what this may then contain. Depending on the issuing of such 
an interpretation and its contents, or any change of circum-
stances, the entry might be able to be adjusted. For reasons of 
transparency, the company always publishes a breakdown.

Note: A more detailed explanation of the risks can be found in the pro-

spectus that was published for the capital increase of December 2005. 

This document can be downloaded from and consulted on the corporate 

website www.spectorphotogroup.com.

SiGNiFiCANT ASSUmPTiONS CONCERNiNG 
THE FUTURE

The assumptions concerning the future of the intangible assets 
other than goodwill and trading securities, mainly the externally-
acquired customer relationships, are closely connected to the 
strategy of the Imaging Group concerning the transition from 
analogue to digital photography – as described in the market 
risks – and the translation of this strategy in the business plan 
that is the basis of the impairment tests referred to under note 
13 of the annual report.
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The development of the total customer portfolio and therefore 
the development of the externally-acquired customer relation-
ships will be the result of future efforts invested in acquiring 
new customers. Expenditure concerned is only incurred un-
der the prerequisite of profitable growth, measured using the 
‘Lifetime Value’ concept. Expenditure within the Lifetime Value 
concept is only allowed for acquiring customers that have a 
payback period of less than three years, in which the payback is 
calculated on the basis of the future expected cash flows.

As a result of the combination, on the one hand, of the amor-
tisation on the intangible assets and, on the other hand, limiting 
the capital expenditure by means of the Lifetime Value concept, 
the group believes that risks related to this asset are limited.

The Board of Directors agrees with the Audit Committee’s 
opinion that the changed market in which the group is cur-
rently operating does not provide a reason for a permanent 
write-down of the intangible asset.

CONFLiCT OF iNTERESTS

Directors’ conflict of interests of a financial nature in areas of 
application of Section 523 of the Belgian Company Code.

In 2009, the Board of Directors followed the procedure pre-
scribed by Section 523 of the Belgian Company Code in the 
Board meetings of 30 June 2009 and 26 August 2009. The rel-
evant parts of the minutes of these Board meetings are shown 
below:

For the Board Meeting on 30 June 2009:
‘Directors’ declarations

mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer declared that he had a financial interest 
related to agenda item 6 that conflicted with a decision under 

the Board of Director’s powers within the meaning of Section 
523 of the Belgian Company Code. The Board of Directors 
must specifically decide about the extension of the exercise 
period for warrants, of which mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer is the 
beneficiary of a total of 400,000 warrants. Consequently, the 
procedure provided in Section 523 of the Belgian Company 
Code must be complied with. he would leave the meeting 
after the resolution of agenda item 5, and rejoin it after agenda 
item 6 had been resolved.

The statutory auditors will be informed of the conflict of in-
terests.

Deliberations
In introduction, the chairman explained that the Economic Re-
covery Act of 27 march 2009 (Belgian Official Gazette of 7 
April 2009) provides that the exercise period of options or 
warrants, agreed between 1 January 2003 and 31 August 2008, 
can be extended by a maximum of five (5) years without any 
additional tax burden. The extension must take place with the 
agreement of the beneficiaries before 30 June 2009. The agree-
ment must be notified to the tax administration before 31 July 
2009. If the values for tax purposes of the options or warrants 
granted to any person amount to more than EuR 100,000, the 
possibility of extension for this person is limited to the options 
or warrants with a value for tax purposes of EuR 100,000.

Spector Photo Group wished to make use of the opportu-
nity provided by this Recovery Act for the warrants that were 
granted on 28 November 2005 to the beneficiaries messrs. 
Tonny Van Doorslaer, Stef De corte and Christophe Levie.

The granting of warrants to the gentlemen identified above at 
that time fell within the view that the Company must be able 
to provide sufficient incentives to its top management and/or 
executive directors to compensate them for the required re-
sponsibilities and services provided. The extension of the war-

rants falls within this same point of view and requires no ex-
penditure on the Company’s behalf of available resources, cash, 
nor will this extension have any effect on the Company’s results. 
In other words, there are no negative financial consequences 
for the Company. The extension of the exercise period is a 
pure continuation of the remuneration policy adopted, in which 
use is made of a tax-neutral measure granted by the legislator. 
The extension had even been presented to and approved by 
the Appointments and Remuneration Committee on 29 June 
2009. 

In view of the above, the Board of Directors considered the 
extension of the warrants granted to mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer, 
mr. Stef De corte and mr. Christophe Levie, to be in the inter-
ests of the Company. 

Regarding the length of the extension, the majority of the direc-
tors considered a period of four (4) years to be reasonable. 
The warrants’ beneficiaries had informed the Board of 
Directors of their agreement to the extension of the exercise  
period.

Resolution
The Board of Directors decided to extend the exercise period 
of the warrants granted on 28 November 2005 without a war-
rant price, with an exercise price of EuR 3.36, for which the 
initial exercise period expires on 30 September 2010, for an 
additional period of four (4) years until 30 September 2014. 
The Board of Directors takes this decision in order to: (i)  
extend the incentive in the long term for the Beneficiaries (as 
defined in the warrant plan), who are closely involved with 
the Company because of their role as director or consultant 
of the Company and who provide an important contribu-
tion for the success and the growth of the Company, and (ii) 
maintain a common interest between the Beneficiaries, on the 
one hand, and the shareholders of the Company, on the other, 
which is aimed at an increase in value of the Company’s shares.  
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This common interest between the beneficiaries of the war-
rants and the shareholders should have a favourable effect on 
the value of the share. 

The exercise period of the warrants granted on 28 November 
2005 to the Beneficiaries identified below without a warrant 
price, with an exercise price of EuR 3.36, for which the ini-
tial exercise period expires on 30 September 2010, is there-
fore extended for an additional period of four (4) years until  
30 September 2014. The Beneficiaries are mr. Tonny Van 
Doorslaer, 400,000 warrants with a value for tax purposes of  
EuR 44,400, mr. Stef De corte, 150,000 warrants with a value 
for tax purposes of EuR 16,650, and mr. Christophe Levie, 
50,000 warrants with a value for tax purposes of EuR 5,550. 
The total value for tax purposes for each of the beneficiaries 
amounts to less than the maximum amount of EuR 100,000. 
During the extended period, the beneficiaries will be entitled 
to existing shares and not to new shares.

After this resolution, mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer rejoined the 
meeting. 

For the Board Meeting on 26 August 2009:

‘Directors’ declarations
Before the start of the deliberations concerning the agenda 
item ‘Approving Tonny Van Doorslaer’s contract adjustments’, 
mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer declared that he had a financial inter-
est that conflicted with a decision under the Board of Direc-
tor’s powers within the meaning of Section 523 of the Belgian 
Company Code. The Board of Directors must specifically de-
cide about the adjustments of the contract between Spector 
Photo Group and TCL NV, permanently represented by mr. 
Tonny Van Doorslaer and thus the beneficiary of the agree-
ment. Consequently, the procedure provided in Section 523 
of the Belgian Company Code must be complied with. he will 
leave the meeting before the resolution of this agenda item and 

rejoin it after this agenda item has been resolved.

The statutory auditors will be informed of the conflicts of in-
terests.

Deliberation
As a result of the change in position of mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer 
reported above, the Board of Directors deliberated the adjust-
ments concerning the contract with TCL NV proposed by the 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee.

In view of the simplification of the Company’s structure and the 
autonomous operation of the underlying divisions, the Retail 
Group and the Imaging Group, the Appointments and Remu-
neration Committee considers a reduction in the remunera-
tion package to be a logical consequence. The  Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee proposed a gradual adjust-
ment in which the fixed remuneration would be reduced by  
EuR 50,000 a year during the coming three years, and the vari-
able remuneration would be withdrawn, and this would be ef-
fective from 1 July 2009.

Taking account of the positive financial consequences for the 
Company, the Board of Directors considered the proposed ad-
justments to be in the best interests of the Company. 

Resolution
The Board of Directors approved the proposed adjustments 
concerning the contract between Spector Photo Group 
NV and TCL NV, permanently represented by mr. Tonny Van 
Doorslaer.

After this resolution, mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer rejoined the 
meeting.

During 2009, there were no situations as referred to in Section 
524 of the Belgian Company Code.

EVENTS AFTER BALANCE ShEET DATE

Since the closing of the 2009 financial year, no events have oc-
curred that could have a significant effect on the results of the 
company.

RESEARCh AND DEVELOPmENT

In view of the company’s nature and operations, there were no 
activities related to research and development in 2009.

FEES FOR ThE COmmITTEE OF STATuTORy AuDITORS

The Committee of Statutory Auditors receive an annual fee of  
EuR 37 (‘000), in accordance with the resolution of the Or-
dinary General meeting of Shareholders of 14 may 2008 and 
indexed according to the general consumer price index. 

In addition, local auditors were granted total reimbursements 
of EuR 179 (‘000) for work concerning the audits in the de-
pendent enterprises with which Spector Photo Group forms 
a group. 

During the 2009 financial year, the Committee of Statutory Au-
ditors and the local auditors received an additional fee totalling  
EuR 32 (‘000) for work outside the scope of their engagement. 
This mainly concerned work in the area of simplification of the 
group structure, tax-related services and specific IFRS audits.
Apart from these, no remunerations or benefits in kind were 
granted, neither by Spector Photo Group NV, nor by any other 
of its dependent enterprises. There were also no payments 
made to persons with whom the statutory auditors have con-
cluded joint ventures, with the exception of the companies 
that conducted the local audits in the foreign branches of the 
Group.
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APPLICATION OF ThE ACT OF 17 DECEmBER 2008 ON 
SETTING uP AN AuDIT COmmITTEE FOR LISTED COm-
PANIES AND FINANCIAL ENTERPRISES

The composition of the Audit Committee satisfies the require-
ments stipulated in the Act. In accordance with Section 526, the 
Audit Committee is composed of three (3) independent mem-
bers of the Board of Directors, of whom at least one member 
possesses the necessary expertise and professional experience 
in the field of accounting and audit. 

The Audit Committee is composed as follows: mCm BVBA, 
permanently represented by mr. Geert Vanderstappen, Patrick 
De Greve BVBA, permanently represented by mr. Patrick De 
Greve, and Norbert Verkimpe BVBA, permanently represented 
by mr. Norbert Verkimpe. 
mr. Geert Vanderstappen possesses the necessary expertise 
and professional experience in the field of accounting and audit 
as a result of his career and current professional activities.

RESPONSIBILITIES CONCERNING PROVISION OF INFOR-
mATION TO ThE PuBLIC IN ACCORDANCE wITh ThE 
BELGIAN ROyAL DECREE OF 14 NOVEmBER 2007

mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer, Executive Chairman, mr. Christophe 
Levie, managing Director of the Retail Group, and mr. Stef De 
corte, managing Director of the Imaging Group, in the name 
and on behalf of Spector Photo Group, declare that, to the best 
of their knowledge:

• the audited financial statements, which have been prepared 
in accordance with the applicable standards for financial 
statements, present a true and fair view of the assets, of the 
financial position and of the results of Spector Photo Group 
NV and the enterprises incorporated in the consolidation;

• the annual report presents a true and fair summary of the 
development, of the results, and of the position of Spector 
Photo Group and the enterprises incorporated in the con-
solidation.

A description of the most significant risks and uncertainties can 
be found on pages 24, 25 and 96 till 100.
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Corporate Governance Charter
Internal measures to promote good Corporate Governance 
practices
Board of Directors
Audit Committee
Nomination and Remuneration Committee
Day-to-day management
Remuneration Report
Shareholders

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ChARTER

Spector Photo Group NV commits itself to comply with all the 
relevant statutory provisions concerning Corporate Govern-
ance and adheres to all principles from the Belgian Corporate 
Governance Code of 2009 that apply to the financial years 
starting on or after 1 January 2009. 
The Corporate Governance practices of Spector Photo Group 
NV are presented in the Corporate Governance Charter that 
can be consulted on the website www.spectorphotogroup.
com. The Board of Directors approved the current version of 
the Charter unanimously on 4 march 2010. where there are 
deviations from the Code due to the company’s specific nature, 
these deviations are explained in accordance with the “comply 
or explain” principle.

INTERNAL mEASuRES TO PROmOTE GOOD 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

On the basis of the provisional timetable of publications for 
2010, the Board of Directors has set the following ‘closed 
periods’ for itself:

• from 12 April 2010 to 14 may 2010 inclusive
• from 30 July 2010 to 31 August 2010 inclusive
• from 28 September 2010 to 29 October 2010 inclusive
• from 8 February 2011 to 9 march 2011 inclusive

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors consists currently of 8 members, 7 of 
which are non-executive members. The roles and responsibili-
ties of the members of the Board of Directors, the composi-
tion, structure and organisation are described in the Corporate 
Governance Charter of Spector Photo Group NV.

The composition of the Board of Directors has changed during 
2009 as follows:

Spector Photo Group NV has two operating divisions, Retail 
en Imaging, structured in two separate legal entities, specifically 
Photo hall multimedia NV (Retail) with mr. Christophe Levie 
as CEO, and Photomedia NV (Imaging) with mr. Stef De corte 
as CEO. These divisions operate very autonomously, each hav-
ing its own strategy, its own management and financial struc-
ture. To simplify and better adapt the group structure to this 
reality, mr. Luc Vansteenkiste decided to make the position of 
Chairman of the Board of Directors available. The Board of Di-
rectors appointed mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer as Executive Chair-
man (chairman and managing Director) on 26 August 2009.  
mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer accepted his appointment to this posi-
tion, which means that his position has changed from Group 
CEO to Group Executive Chairman. 

mr. Vansteenkiste, permanent representative of VEAN NV,  
remains a director of Spector Photo Group NV.

within this framework, the Board of Directors also decided to 
propose that mr. Christophe Levie, managing director of Photo 
hall multimedia NV, and mr. Stef De corte, permanent repre-
sentative of Acortis BVBA, managing director of Photomedia 
NV, be appointed as directors of Spector Photo Group NV at 
the General meeting of 12 may 2010.

The position of Executive Chairman is a deviation from princi-
ple 1.5 of the Belgian Corporate Governance Code, which stip-
ulates that the same person should not perform the positions 
of Chairman of the Board and that of Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO). In view of the organisational structure of the Group, 
in which Spector Photo Group has developed into a holding 
company under which the two divisions, Photohall multimedia 
and Photomedia, operate independently, the Board of Direc-
tors believes that combining the position of CEO with that of 
Chairman of the Board of Directors is in the best interests of 
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEmENT
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No member of the Board of Directors has family connections 
with other members of the executive, management or super-
visory bodies of the company.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR’S REPORT ON ACTIVITIES IN 2009

In 2009, 7 meetings were held, of which 5 meetings were under 
the chairmanship of VEAN NV, permanently represented by mr. 
Luc Vansteenkiste, and 2 meetings under the chairmanship of 
mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer.

One meeting dealt mainly with the budget for 2009, two meet-
ings dealt mainly with the adoption of the financial statements 
as at 31 December 2008 and the half-yearly accounts as at 30 
June 2009.

At the other meetings, the Board of Directors mainly discussed 
the regular reporting on the Group’s results, the Company’s 
financial position, the investment strategy, and the changes in 
the area of management. The Board of Directors deliberated 

on matters including the strategy and progress of each division, 
the management structure, and proposals for acquisitions or 
divestments.

CONFLiCT OF iNTERESTS

Directors’ conflict of interests of a financial nature in areas of ap-
plication of Section 523 of the Belgian Company Code.

In 2009, the Board of Directors followed the procedure pre-
scribed by Section 523 of the Belgian Company Code in the 
Board meetings of 30 June 2009 and 26 August 2009. The rel-
evant parts of the minutes of these Board meetings are shown 
below:

For the Board Meeting on 30 June 2009:

‘Directors’ declarations
mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer declared that he had a financial interest 
related to agenda item 6 that conflicted with a decision under 

the Board of Director’s powers within the meaning of Section 
523 of the Belgian Company Code. The Board of Directors must 
specifically decide about the extension of the exercise period for 
warrants, of which mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer is the beneficiary of a 
total of 400,000 warrants. Consequently, the procedure provided 
in Section 523 of the Belgian Company Code must be complied 
with. he would leave the meeting after the resolution of agenda 
item 5, and rejoin it after agenda item 6 had been resolved.

The statutory auditors will be informed of the conflict of  
interests.

Deliberations
As an introduction, the chairman explained that the Economic 
Recovery Act of 27 march 2009 (Belgian Official Gazette of 7 
April 2009) provides that the exercise period of options or war-
rants, agreed between 1 January 2003 and 31 August 2008, can 
be extended by a maximum of five (5) years without any ad-
ditional tax burden. The extension must take place with the 
agreement of the beneficiaries before 30 June 2009. The agree-

Name Function

mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer Executive Chairman

mr. Philippe Vlerick Deputy Chairman (non-executive director) (B)

Vean NV, represented by its permanent representative mr. Luc Vansteenkiste Director (non-executive director)  (B)

Exceca Allocation AB, represented by its permanent representative mr. Jonas Sjögren Director (non-executive director) (B)

Patrick De Greve BVBA, represented by its permanent representative mr. Patrick De Greve Director (non-executive director) (A)

mCm BVBA, represented by its permanent representative mr. Geert Vanderstappen Director (non-executive director) (A)

mr. Christian Dumolin Director (non-executive director) 

Norbert Verkimpe BVBA, represented by its permanent representative mr. Norbert Verkimpe Director (non-executive director) (A)
A Member of the Audit Committee   
B Member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee

COmPOSITION OF ThE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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ment must be notified to the tax administration before 31 July 
2009. If the values for tax purposes of the options or warrants 
granted to any person amount to more than EuR 100,000, the 
possibility of extension for this person is limited to the options 
or warrants with a value for tax purposes of EuR 100,000.

Spector Photo Group wished to make use of the opportu-
nity provided by this Recovery Act for the warrants that were 
granted on 28 November 2005 to the beneficiaries messrs. 
Tonny Van Doorslaer, Stef De corte and Christophe Levie.

The granting of warrants to the gentlemen identified above at 
that time fell within the view that the Company must be able to 
provide sufficient incentives to its top management and/or ex-
ecutive directors to compensate them for the required respon-
sibilities and services provided. The extension of the warrants 
falls within this same point of view and requires no expendi-
ture on the Company’s behalf of available resources, cash, nor 
will this extension have any effect on the Company’s results. In 
other words, there are no negative financial consequences for 
the Company. The extension of the exercise period is a pure 
continuation of the remuneration policy adopted, in which use 
is made of a tax-neutral measure granted by the legislator. The 
extension had even been presented to and approved Nomina-
tion and Remuneration Committee on 29 June 2009. 

In view of the above, the Board of Directors considered the 
extension of the warrants granted to mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer, 
mr. Stef De corte and mr. Christophe Levie, to be in the inter-
est of the Company. 

Regarding the length of the extension, the majority of the direc-
tors considered a period of four (4) years to be reasonable. 
The warrants’ beneficiaries had informed the Board of  
Directors of their agreement to the extension of the exercise  
period.

Resolution
The Board of Directors decided extend the exercise period of 
the warrants granted on 28 November 2005 without a war-
rant price, with an exercise price of EuR 3.36, for which the 
initial exercise period expires on 30 September 2010, for an 
additional period of four (4) years until 30 September 2014. 
The Board of Directors takes this decision in order to: (i)  
extend the incentive in the long term for the Beneficiaries (as 
defined in the warrant plan), who are closely involved with the 
Company because of their role as director or consultant of the 
Company and who provide an important contribution for the 
success and the growth of the Company, and (ii) maintain a 
common interest between the Beneficiaries, on the one hand, 
and the shareholders of the Company, on the other, which is 
aimed at an increase in value of the Company’s shares. This 
common interest between the Beneficiaries of the warrants 
and the shareholders should have a favourable effect on the 
value of the share. 

The exercise period of the warrants granted on 28 November 
2005 to the Beneficiaries identified below without a warrant 
price, with an exercise price of EuR 3.36, for which the initial 
exercise period expires on 30 September 2010, is therefore 
extended for an additional period of four (4) years until 30 
September 2014. The Beneficiaries are mr. Tonny Van Doors-
laer, 400,000 warrants with a value for tax purposes of EuR 
44,400, mr. Stef De corte, 150,000 warrants with a value for 
tax purposes of EuR 16,650, and mr. Christophe Levie, 50,000 
warrants with a value for tax purposes of EuR 5,550. The total 
value for tax purposes for each of the beneficiaries amounts 
to less than the maximum amount of EuR 100,000. During the 
extended period, the beneficiaries will be entitled to existing 
shares and not to new shares.

After this resolution, mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer rejoined the 
meeting.’

For the Board Meeting on 26 August 2009:

‘Directors’ declarations
Before the start of the deliberations concerning the agenda 
item ‘Approving Tonny Van Doorslaer’s contract adjustments’, 
mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer declared that he had a financial inter-
est that conflicted with a decision under the Board of Direc-
tor’s powers within the meaning of Section 523 of the Belgian 
Company Code. The Board of Directors must specifically de-
cide about the adjustments of the contract between Spector 
Photo Group and TCL NV, permanently represented by mr. 
Tonny Van Doorslaer and thus the beneficiary of the agree-
ment. Consequently, the procedure provided in Section 523 
of the Belgian Company Code must be complied with. he will 
leave the meeting before the resolution of this agenda item and 
rejoin it after this agenda item has been resolved.

The statutory auditors will be informed of the conflicts of in-
terests.

Deliberation
As a result of the change in position of mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer 
reported above, the Board of Directors deliberated the adjust-
ments concerning the contract with TCL NV proposed by the 
Appointments and Remuneration Committee.

In view of the simplification of the Company’s structure and the 
autonomous operation of the underlying divisions, the Retail 
Group and the Imaging Group, the Nomination and Remuner-
ation Committee considers a reduction in the remuneration 
package to be a logical Nomination and Remuneration Com-
mittee a gradual adjustment in which the fixed remuneration 
would be reduced by EuR 50,000 a year during the coming 
three years, and the variable remuneration would be with-
drawn, and this would be effective from 1 July 2009.
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Taking account of the positive financial consequences for the 
Company, the Board of Directors considered the proposed ad-
justments to be in the best interest of the Company. 

Resolution
The Board of Directors approved the proposed adjustments 
concerning the contract between Spector Photo Group NV and 
TCL NV, permanently represented by mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer.

After this resolution, mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer rejoined the 
meeting.’

During 2009, there were no situations as referred to in Section 
524 of the Belgian Company Code.

Of 56 possible attendees, 7 meetings x 8 directors, there were 4 
apologies for absence. mr. Christian Dumolin apologised for ab-
sence once, and mr. Jonas Sjögren apologised for absence three 
times. Although the articles of association state that the decisions 
can be made by a majority of votes, all decisions made by the 
Board of Directors in 2009 were unanimous.

DIRECTORShIPS AT OThER COmPANIES

The brief biographies of the Board members each contain their 
main directorships at other companies; please see pages 37 to 
40 of this document.

TERm OF THE CURRENT NOmiNATiONS

At the General meeting of 14 may 2008, the directors identi-
fied above were appointed for a period of three (3) years, un-
til after the Annual General meeting of Shareholders of 2011, 
which will be held on 11 may 2011.

The Board of Directors proposes that the General meeting of 
Shareholders on 12 may 2010 appoints as directors:

• mr. Stef De corte, executive director;
• mr. Christophe Levie, executive director,
 and this for a period of one (1) year, commencing from  

12 may 2010, and ending after the General meeting of 
Shareholders in 2011. 

ONE EXECuTIVE AND SEVEN NON-EXECuTIVE 
DIRECTORS

with the exception of mr Van Doorslaer, Executive Chairman, 
the other Board members fulfilled no executive duties within 
the Company during 2009.

To the extent that the General meeting of 12 may 2010 ac-
cepts the appointment of messrs. Christophe Levie and Stef 
De corte as Board members, there will be three executive 
directors that are members of the Board of Directors com-
mencing from that date.

FOuR INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors considers the following members to 
be independent directors:
• VEAN NV, permanently represented by 
 mr. Luc Vansteenkiste;
• mCm BVBA, permanently represented by 
 mr. Geert Vanderstappen;
• Patrick De Greve BVBA, permanently represented 
 by mr. Patrick De Greve;
• Norbert Verkimpe BVBA, permanently represented 
 by mr. Norbert Verkimpe.
The General meeting of Shareholders of 14 may 2008 ratified 
the independence of VEAN NV, mCm BVBA, Patrick De Greve 
BVBA, and Norbert Verkimpe BVBA, as well as their perma-
nent representatives, in accordance with Section 524:4 of the 
Belgian Company Code.
mCm BVBA, Patrick De Greve BVBA, and Norbert Verkimpe 

BVBA, as well as their permanent representatives, also meet 
the independence criteria of the Belgian Corporate Govern-
ance Code.

VEAN NV, permanently represented by mr. Vansteenkiste, also 
meets all the independence criteria of the Belgian Corporate 
Governance Code, with one exception: he is the managing di-
rector of Recticel NV, where mr. Van Doorslaer is a non-execu-
tive director. The Board of Directors believes, however, that this 
does not compromise the independent decision-making of mr. 
Vansteenkiste as a director of the Company, which has been 
effectively demonstrated by experience over recent years.

COmmITTEES OF ThE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND ThEIR COmPOSITION

The Board of Directors has established two committees: an 
Audit Committee, and a Nomination and Remuneration Com-
mittee.
The regulations of both committees have been incorporated in 
the Corporate Governance Charter.
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AuDIT COmmITTEE

COmPOSITION OF ThE AuDIT COmmITTEE

The following members of the Audit Committee have been ap-
pointed until after the Annual General meeting of Shareholders 
of 2011, which will take place on 11 may 2011:
• mCm BVBA, permanently represented by mr. Geert  

Vanderstappen, independent director and chairman of the 
committee;

• Patrick De Greve BVBA, permanently represented 
 by mr. Patrick De Greve, independent director;
• Norbert Verkimpe BVBA, permanently represented 
 by mr. Norbert Verkimpe, independent director.

The composition of the Audit Committee meets all the require-
ments stipulated in the Belgian Corporate Governance Code, 
and in Section 526 of the Belgian Company Code as amended 
by the Act of 17 December 2008 on setting up an Audit Com-
mittee for listed companies and financial enterprises.

In accordance with Section 526 of the Belgian Company Code, 
the Audit Committee is composed of three (3) independent 
members of the Board of Directors, of whom at least one 
member possesses the necessary expertise and professional 
experience in the field of accounting and audit. 

mr. Geert Vanderstappen possesses the necessary expertise 
and professional experience in the field of accounting and audit 
as a result of his career and current professional activities.

AuDIT COmmITTEE’S REPORT ON ACTIVITIES IN 2009

The Audit Committee met four (4) times in 2009. Two meet-
ings were mainly devoted to the revision of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements as at 31 December 2008 and the half-yearly 
consolidated figures as at 30 June 2009. One meeting was de-
voted to the annual impairment tests concerning the identified 

cash-generating entities, to examine whether an impairment 
loss should be recognised. One meeting was mainly devoted 
to the internal control and risk management systems. Other 
important agenda items for the committee were: compliance 
with the code of conduct; the programme for the internal audit; 
and questions concerning reporting according to IFRS.

All members attended the meetings, with the exception of 
mr. Norbert Verkimpe who sent apologies for absence for the 
meeting of 24 August 2009.

NOmINATION AND REmuNERATION COmmITTEE:

COmPOSITION OF ThE NOmINATION AND 
REmUNERATiON COmmiTTEE

The Board of Directors meeting of 14 may 2008 appointed 
the following members to the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee for a term of three (3) years:
• VEAN NV, represented by mr. Luc Vansteenkiste, chairman of 

the committee; independent director;
• mr. Philippe Vlerick, non-executive director; 
• Exceca Allocation AB, represented by its permanent repre-

sentative mr. Jonas Sjögren, non-executive director. 
This composition of the Nomination and Remuneration Com-
mittee deviates from the recommendations on this matter, as 
stipulated in Appendices D and E to the Belgian Corporate 
Governance Code of 2009. According to these recommenda-
tions, at least a majority of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee members should be independent. The Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee currently has a balanced divi-
sion of tasks. In accordance with the recommendations of the 
Belgian Corporate Governance Code of 2009, the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee will propose to the first Board 
meeting following the General meeting of 12 may 2010 that 
Exceca Allocation AB, permanently represented by mr. Jonas 
Sjögren be replaced as member of the committee by an inde-
pendent director.

In accordance with the provisions of the Belgian Corporate 
Governance Code on this issue, mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer par-
ticipates in meetings at which the remuneration of other mem-
bers of the executive management is dealt with.

NOmINATION AND REmuNERATION 
COmmITTEE’S REPORT ON ACTIVITIES IN 2009

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee met twice in 
2009, and handled matters including the changes in the area of 
management, the general remuneration policy, and the individ-
ual remunerations for members of the Executive Committee. 
All members attended the meetings.

ThE RELATIONShIP OF ThE BOARD 
OF DIRECTORS wITh ThE ASSOCIATED COmPANIES

Spector Photo Group NV holds – directly and/or indirectly – at 
least 95% of the shares in all its associated subsidiaries, and 49% 
in FLT (Fotolabore Tagliabue) SpA.
See also: pages 66 and 67 for a full summary showing the pre-
cise holdings.

DAy-TO-DAy mANAGEmENT

mANAGING DIRECTOR

In accordance with article 19 of the Articles of Association, 
the responsibility for the day-to-day management has been del-
egated to a managing Director.

The managing Director or two directors acting jointly repre-
sent the enterprise in and out of court. The Board of Directors 
of Spector Photo Group NV has appointed mr. Tonny Van 
Doorslaer as managing Director. Due to the combination with 
the position of Chairman, mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer is therefore 
Executive Chairman.
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EXECuTIVE COmmITTEE

The managing Director has selected an Executive Committee for 
the day-to-day management of the company, which consists of:
• Tonny Van Doorslaer, Executive Chairman;
• Stef De corte, managing Director of the Imaging Group;
• Christophe Levie, managing Director of the Retail Group.
Spector Photo Group does not have a management commit-
tee in the sense of the Act of 2 August 2002 concerning Cor-
porate Governance.

REmUNERATiONS REPORT

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee makes rec-
ommendations to the Board of Directors concerning (i) the 
remuneration policy for the non-executive directors and for 
the members of the executive management, and (ii) the re-
muneration level for the non-executive directors and for the 
members of the executive management. These recommenda-
tions are subject to the approval of the Board of Directors and 
by the shareholders at the Annual General meeting.

The composition, operation and specific responsibilities of the 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee are described un-
der section IV.2. and the associated appendices 1 and 2 of the 
Corporate Governance Charter.
 
NON-EXECuTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors, mr. Philippe Vlerick, Exceca Alloca-
tion AB, mr. Christian Dumolin, Patrick De Greve BVBA, mCm 
BVBA, and Norbert Verkimpe BVBA, each receive remunera-
tion of EuR 12,500 per annum. Vean NV, non-executive chair-
man, until the Board meeting of 26 August 2009, was entitled 
to a total annual remuneration of EuR 25,000 and in 2009 
received a proportional remuneration of EuR 18,750.

mr. Tonny Van Doorslaer, appointed as Executive Chairman by 
the Board meeting of 26 August 2009, receives no remunera-

tion in his capacity as Chairman of the Board of Directors.
The remuneration in the capacity of managing Director – also 
Chief Executive Officer – is reported on page 36 of this docu-
ment, under ‘Remunerations and interests of the members of 
the Executive Committee’.

There are no separate reimbursements provided for the mem-
bers of the committees, except for the three non-executive 
directors who are members of the Audit Committee, mCm 
BVBA, Patrick De Greve BVBA, and Norbert Verkimpe BVBA. 
As a supplement to their general annual remuneration, they 
each receive an annual remuneration of EuR 2,500 for this. 
In addition to the remuneration identified above, mr. Philippe 
Vlerick indirectly receives an annual remuneration of EuR 
20,000 from his appointment as a non-executive director and 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of a subsidiary. Total direc-
tors’ reimbursements of EuR 121,000 were paid out during 
the 2009 financial year and EuR 115,000 for the 2008 financial 
year.

There is no contract between the company or its associated 
companies and the members of the Board of Directors that 
provides for any payment on their retirement as director. Such 
a scheme does exist, however, for mr Tonny Van Doorslaer, but 
exclusively in his capacity as managing Director; please see brief 
biographies on pages 37 of this document.

The non-executive directors do not receive performance-re-
lated remuneration; neither are they permitted to subscribe to 
the current share option plans, nor to the warrant plan; please 
see pages 47 and 48.
The directors directly hold a total of 257,521 shares of the 
company. Certain directors represent another main sharehold-
er, and are indirect shareholders. A breakdown of these indirect 
interests can be found on page 107 of this document.

Only executive directors were allowed to subscribe to the cur-
rent share option plan and warrant Plans. Their subscriptions 
are contained in the figures reported for the Executive Com-

mittee; please see below.
None of the directors has received a loan granted by Spector 
Photo Group NV or any other associated company.

REmuNERATION mEmBERS OF ThE EXECuTIVE 
COmmITTEE (IN EuR ‘000)

members of the Executive Committee who are members 
of the Board of Directors receive no remuneration for their 
membership of the Board of Directors.
The remuneration of the Executive Committee members is 
determined by the Board of Directors at the recommenda-
tion of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. For the 
managing directors of the Retail Group or the Imaging Group, 
a part of their remuneration is performance-related as an en-
couragement to support the Group’s short-term and long-
term performance. The variable remuneration is directly linked 
to the realisation of their divisional and their individual targets.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee determines 
the variable remuneration on the basis of the financial perform-
ance and the success of the strategic initiatives of the Retail 
division or the Imaging division respectively. 

The Executive Chairman receives no variable remuneration in 
accordance with the decision of the Board of Directors on 26 
August 2009. 

The total remuneration for the 2009 financial year amounted 
to EuR 930,000. The remuneration components for the Execu-
tive Committee members are shown below.
No guarantees or loans have been granted to the members 
of the Executive Committee by Spector Photo Group NV or 
associated companies.

Separately from their remuneration, messrs Van Doorslaer and 
De corte also held Spector Photo Group shares as at 31 De-
cember 2009. Details can be found in the brief biographies 
elsewhere in this document.
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Executive Committee 
member

Fixed 
remuneration 
component 
(1)

Variable 
remuneration 
component 
(1) (2)

Other remuneration 
components (3)

Number of share options 
(date of option plan, 
exercise price) (4)

Number of warrants 
(exercise price per 
warrant) (4)

1.Tonny Van Doorslaer 291  36  7 7 500 (2002 – EuR 10.65) 400 000 (EuR 3.36)

2. Stef De corte 5 500 (2002 – EuR 10.65) 150 000 (EuR 3.36)

3. Christophe Levie 50 000 (EuR 3.36)

Total 1, 2 en 3  806  111  13 600 000 (EuR 3.36)

(1) Cost to the company, i.e. gross amount including social security contributions (employee and employer).
(2) The variable component is provided in the form of a bonus plan that is determined each year by the Nomination  and    
 Remuneration Committee. This bonus plan includes financial targets.
(3) The other components refer to the costs for pensions, insurance policies, and the cash value of the other benefits in kind
 (expense allowances, company car, etc.).
(4) For the exercise periods, please see pages 47 and 48 of this document.
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TONNy VAN DOORSLAER
Executive Chairman
Office address: 
Spector Photo Group NV,
Kwatrechtsteenweg 160,
9230 wetteren, Belgium

master in Law. After a ten-year career in the financial world 
with Kredietbank, mr.Van Doorslaer has fulfilled various man-
agement functions within the Group, in both the financial and 
general management areas.
managing director at the company since 1987. Executive 
Chairman as of August 2009.
his current appointment as director runs until the Annual  
General meeting of Shareholders of 2011.

Current appointments with other disassociated companies  
include:
• Recticel NV (director and member of the Audit 
 Committee)
• Lessius NV (chairman);
• Transposia NV (director);
• Guberna (member of the Board of Trustees).

mr. Van Doorslaer has no family connections with other mem-
bers of the executive, management or supervisory bodies of 
the company.
mr. Van Doorslaer is holder of 221,449 registered shares, 
400,000 warrants and 7,500 share options of Spector Photo 
Group NV.  
he has a contract that - only on resignation at the company’s re-
quest - provides him with financial compensation that amounts 
to a maximum of 12 times his monthly remuneration.

PhILIPPE VLERICK
Deputy chairman of the Board 
of Directors
Office address: Vlerick Group,
Doorniksewijk 49,
8500 Kortrijk, Belgium.

holder of several degrees from Belgian and foreign universities 
in philosophy, law, management, and business administration. 
Extensive experience as director and manager in numerous 
companies, of which several in the financial and industrial sec-
tors.
Active in sector federations and special interest groups of the 
entrepreneurial world (VBO, Voka, etc.).
Non-executive director at the company since 1995. Deputy 
chairman since 28 November 2005. member of the Nomina-
tion and Remuneration Committee. his current appointment 
as director with the company runs until the Annual General 
meeting of Shareholders of 2011.

Current appointments with other companies include:
• BIC Carpets NV (chairman);
• uCO NV (chairman, managing director);
• Exmar NV (director);
• KBC Group (deputy chairman);
• Besix NV (director);
• BmT NV (director);
• ETEX (director);
• Alcopa NV (director);
• Kredietbank Luxemburg (deputy chairman);
• Vlerick Leuven Gent management School 
 (partner-director);
• Photo hall multimedia NV (chairman);

• Corelio NV (director);
• LVD Company NV (director)
• Pentahold NV (chairman);
• IVC NV (director).

moreover, mr. Vlerick is director of several family companies.
mr. Vlerick has no family connections with other members of the 
executive, management or supervisory bodies of the company.
mr. Vlerick holds no share options of Spector Photo Group NV. 
he holds no registered shares of the company, but is the main 
shareholder of the companies that have united in the VIT Con-
sortium , which is holder of 6,914,244 shares (18.8%) of Spec-
tor Photo Group NV, of which 36,072 shares are held by mr. 
Vlerick in a private capacity.
There is no contract between the company or its associated 
companies and mr. Vlerick, which provides any benefit on resig-
nation or retirement.

LuC VANSTEENKISTE
Permanent representative of VEAN 
NV, director
Office address: Recticel NV,
Olympiadenlaan 2,
1140 Brussels, Belgium.

Qualified Chemical Engineer. Extensive experience as director 
in numerous companies and as a manager at Recticel that, un-
der his leadership, has developed into a listed company with 
activities in 27 countries. honorary Chairman of the Federation 
of Belgian Enterprises (VBO-FEB), also active in several other 
sector federations and special interest groups of the entrepre-
neurial world.

BRIEF BIOGRAPhy OF ThE mEmBERS OF ThE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 



 38 spector photo group 

Non-executive, independent director at the company since 
1995, and Chairman of the Board between 2001 and August 
2009. Also chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee since 28 November 2005. his current appoint-
ment as director with the company runs until the Annual Gen-
eral meeting of Shareholders of 2011.

Current appointments with other companies:
• Sioen Industries NV (chairman);
• Ter Beke Vleeswaren NV (director);
• Compagnie mobilière & Foncière du Bois Sauvage 
 (director);
• Delhaize Group NV (director);
• Recticel NV (director);
• BNP Paribas Fortis – Fortis Bank NV (director);
• Guberna Vzw (director).

mr. Vansteenkiste has no family connections with other mem-
bers of the executive, management or supervisory bodies of 
the company.
mr. Vansteenkiste holds no registered shares and no share op-
tions of Spector Photo Group NV and also has no other com-
mercial link with the Group.
There is no contract between the company or its associated 
companies and mr. Vansteenkiste, which provides any benefit 
on resignation or retirement.

JONAS SJÖGREN
Permanent representative of Exceca 
Allocation AB, director
Office address: Landbovägen 2D,
S-42166 Västra Frölunda, Sweden.

mr. Sjögren has an mBA from Insead and a ‘master degree in 
science and electrical engineering ‘ from the Chalmers univer-
sity of Technology. Before starting his own company, mr. Sjögren 

fulfilled several management positions at companies in the Eric-
sson group – mainly in the field of product management. From 
1996 onwards, he was involved with several projects in the 
field of IP network solutions and mobile internet (3G) – areas 
that are highly relevant to Spector Photo Group the more the 
media convergence increases.

Non-executive director at the company since 1995. member of 
the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. until 14 may 
2008, mr. Sjögren was also a member of the Audit Committee. 
his current appointment as director with the company runs 
until the Annual General meeting of Shareholders of 2011.

Current appointments with other companies include:
• Exceca AB, Sweden (managing director); 
• Storytel AB, Sweden (director).

Apart from an appointment as director in Fotoinvest CVBA 
now liquidated, until 16 June 2006, and Lennart NV, also liqui-
dated, mr Sjögren fulfilled no directorships at any companies 
not stated above during the last five (5) years.
mr. Sjögren has no family connections with other members 
of the executive, management or supervisory bodies of the 
company.

mr. Sjögren holds no share options of Spector Photo Group 
NV. he holds no registered shares of the company, but rep-
resents Audhumla SA that holds 1,514,304 shares (4.1%) of 
Spector Photo Group.

There is no contract between the company or its associated 
companies and mr. Sjögren, which provides any benefit on res-
ignation or retirement.

PATRICK DE GREVE
Permanent representative of Patrick 
De Greve BVBA, director
Office address: Vlerick Leuven Gent 
management School,
Reep 1, 9000 Gent, Belgium.

master in Economic Sciences and in management (mBA).
As general manager of a management school with an interna-
tional reputation, mr. De Greve is very familiar with strategic 
and operational policy aspects of listed and unlisted companies. 
he also brings with him the necessary expertise in connection 
with change processes in organisations and companies.
Non-executive, independent director at the company since 
2004, and member of the Audit Committee since 2005.
mr. De Greve meets the independence criteria stipulated in 
Article 526 of the Belgian Company Code, as provided for by 
the Act of 17 December 2008 on setting up an Audit Commit-
tee for listed companies and financial enterprises. his current 
appointment as director with the company runs until the An-
nual General meeting of Shareholders of 2011.
During the past five years, mr. De Greve only fulfilled a direc-
tor’s appointment at the Vlerick Leuven Ghent management 
School, and since 2008 he has been a member of the Board of 
Directors at Guberna.

mr. De Greve has no family connections with other members 
of the executive, management or supervisory bodies of the 
company.

mr. De Greve holds no registered shares or share options of 
Spector Photo Group NV and also has no other commercial 
link with the Group, which enables him to act as an independ-
ent director.
There is no contract between the company or its associated 
companies and mr. De Greve, which provides any benefit on 
resignation or retirement.
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GEERT VANDERSTAPPEN
Permanent representative of mCm 
BVBA, director
Office address: Pentahold NV,
Belgicastraat 11,
1930 zaventem, Belgium.

Qualified Engineer. Acted as the financial director with the com-
pany between 1993 and 1999 – thus more than five years ago.
As partner at Pentahold NV and Buy-Out Fund CVA,  
mr. Vanderstappen possesses sound financial expertise.
Non-executive, independent director since 28 Novem-
ber 2005.  Director and chairman of the Audit Committee.  
mr. Vanderstappen meets the independence criteria stipulated 
in Article 526 of the Belgian Company Code, and also possess 
the necessary expertise in the field of accounting and audit 
in the sense of Article 526b §2 of the same Code as pro-
vided by the Act of 17 December 2008 on setting up an Audit 
Committee for listed companies and financial enterprises.
his current appointment as director with the company runs 
until the Annual General meeting of Shareholders of 2011.

Current appointments with other companies include:
• Kinepolis NV;
• Vergokan International NV;
• Pentahold NV;
• Best² NV;
• Interio International NV.

he has no family connections with other members of the ex-
ecutive, management or supervisory bodies of the company.
mr. Vanderstappen holds no registered shares of Spector Photo 
Group NV and also has not subscribed to any share options.
There is no contract between the company or its associated 
companies and mr. Vanderstappen, which provides any benefit 
on resignation or retirement.

ChRISTIAN DumOLIN
Director
Office address: Koramic Investment 
Group NV,
Kapel ter Bede 84,
8500 Kortrijk, Belgium.

Chairman and CEO of Koramic Investment Group (and sub-
sidiaries). Extensive experience as director and manager in 
numerous companies, of which several in the financial and in-
dustrial sectors. Active in sector federations and special interest 
groups of the entrepreneurial world (VBO-FEB, Vlajo - Flemish 
youth enterprises, the Belgian Corporate Governance Insti-
tute). Non-executive director at the company since 2006. his 
current appointment as director with the company runs until 
the Annual General meeting of Shareholders of 2011.

Current appointments with other companies include:
• Vitalo Industries (chairman);
• wienerberger (Austria) (deputy chairman of Board of Direc-

tors (Aufsichtsrat) and member of Strategic Committee);
• Nationale Bank van België (honorary governor of the Belgian 

central bank);
• uSG People (Netherlands) (supervisory director and chair-

man of Audit Committee);
• Director in various Belgian and foreign companies, including:
• TrustCapital (Belgium);
• Auguria Residential Real Estate Fund (Belgium);
• Brinvest (Belgium);
• E & L Real Estates (Poland);
• EKy (Turkey);
• mercapital Sociedad de Capital Inversion (Netherlands);
• Belgian Banking, Finance and Insurance Commission (Com-

missie voor het Bank-, Financie- en Assurantiewezen (CBFA) 
- Supervisory Board member);

• Vlerick Leuven Gent management School (partner-director);
• Federation of Belgian Enterprises (VBO-FEB - Executive 

Committee member);

• Vlaamse Jonge Ondernemingen (VLAJO – Flemish youth en-
terprises - member of Board of Directors);

• Guberna (Belgian Corporate Governance Institute - mem-
ber of the Board of Trustees);

• CVC Capital Partners Benelux (member of the Advisory 
board Belgium).

mr. Dumolin has no family connections with other members 
of the executive, management or supervisory bodies of the 
company.
mr. Dumolin holds no share options of Spector Photo Group 
NV. he holds no registered shares of the company, but is the 
main shareholder of Koramic Finance Company NV, which 
holds 3,933,775 shares (10.74%) of Spector Photo Group NV.
There is no contract between the company or its associated 
companies and mr. Dumolin, which provides any benefit on 
resignation or retirement.

NORBERT VERKImPE
Permanent representative of
Norbert Verkimpe BVBA, director
Office address: 
Norbert Verkimpe BVBA,
Bommelsrede 29, 
9070 Destelbergen, Belgium.

Regional Director and Competence Centre Director of Bisn-
ode AB (Sweden), CEO of wDm International BV, chairman 
of wDm Belgium, wDm Belgium holding and Spectron Busi-
ness Solutions. Extensive experience as director in numerous 
companies.
Active in special interest groups of the entrepreneurial world 
(Guberna, Flemish management Association, Belgian Direct 
marketing Association).
Non-executive, independent director and member of the Audit 
Committee since 14 may 2008. mr. Verkimpe meets the inde-
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pendence criteria stipulated in Article 526 ter of the Belgian 
Company Code, as provided for by the Act of 17 December 
2008 on setting up an Audit Committee for listed companies 
and financial enterprises. his current appointment as director 
with the company runs until the Annual General meeting of 
Shareholders of 2011.

Current appointments with other companies include:
• wDm International BV (CEO);
• wDm Belgium (chairman);
• wDm Belgium holding (CEO & chairman);
• Spectron Business Solutions (chairman);
• Vadis Consulting (director);
• Synkronis (CEO & chairman);
• D-Trix (CEO & chairman);
• Kemapro BV (director);
• Time4Society Vzw (director).

mr. Verkimpe has no family connections with other members 
of the executive, management or supervisory bodies of the 
company.
mr. Verkimpe possesses no share options of Spector Photo 
Group NV and holds no registered shares of the company in 
a private capacity. There is no contract between the company 
or its associated companies and mr. Verkimpe, which provides 
benefits on resignation or retirement.

BRiEF BiOGRAPHy OF THE mEmBERS 
OF ThE EXECuTIVE COmmITTEE

TONNy VAN DOORSLAER
See the brief biography of the 
members of the Board of Directors 
on page 37 of the annual report.

ChRISTOPhE LEVIE
managing Director Retail Group
Office address: Photo hall 
multimedia NV,
Lusambostraat 36, 1190 Brussels, 
Belgium.

mr. Levie is a master in Law, and has been active since 1986 in 
several management functions within Photo hall multimedia 
NV, which merged into the group in 1996.
Since 1998, Christophe Levie has been managing director 
of Photo hall – with activities in Belgium, Luxembourg and 
France. 

member of the executive committee of Spector Photo Group 
since 2005. At the General meeting of Shareholders on 12 may 
2010 mr. Christophe Levie will be proposed to be appointed 
as director of Spector Photo Group. his mandate as director 
of the company will run till after the General meeting of Share-
holders in 2011. 

mr. Levie fulfils no director’s appointments at any other disasso-
ciated company, nor has he done so during the past five years.
he has no family connections with other members of the ex-
ecutive, management or supervisory bodies of the company.
mr. Levie holds no shares of Spector Photo Group NV and also 
did not subscribe to any share options. mr. Levie holds 50,000 
warrants.

he has a contract, dated August 24, 2004, that - only on resig-
nation at the company’s request - provides him with financial 
compensation that amounts to twice his average annual reim-
bursement over the last three years.

STEF DE CORTE
managing Director Imaging Group
Office address: Photomedia NV,
Kwatrechtsteenweg 160,
9230 wetteren, Belgium

Qualified Engineer. Active in the company since 1999, first as 
Finance & Administration manager, then Director of the whole-
sale Division, which then included 18 labs in Europe, later as 
Chief Financial Officer, and since December 2005 as managing 
Director of the Imaging Group.
Formerly active in several consultant positions in the area of 
production, logistics and general business policy, with Bekaert-
Stanwick and at ABB Service.
Executive committee member since 1999. At the General 
meeting of Shareholders on 12 may 2010 mr. Stef De corte 
will be proposed to be appointed as director of Spector Photo 
Group. his mandate as director of the company will run till 
after the General meeting of Shareholders in 2011. 

with the exception of his director’s appointment at Acortis 
BVBA, mr. De corte fulfils no director’s appointments at any 
other disassociated company, nor has he done so during the 
past five years.

he has no family connections with other members of the ex-
ecutive, management or supervisory bodies of the company.
mr. De corte holds no shares in Spector Photo Group NV, 
but Acortis BVBA holds 52,500 shares. mr. De corte has sub-
scribed to 5,500 share options and 150,000 warrants.
he has a contract that - only on resignation at the compa-
ny’s request - provides him with financial compensation of 12 
monthly reimbursements.
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ShAREhOLDERS
STRuCTuRE OF ThE ShAREhOLDERShIP

There are no major changes in the shareholders’ structure to 
be reported for 2009.
The Belgian Company Law and the articles of association oblige 
each shareholder whose voting rights linked to the securities 
with voting rights exceeds the thresholds 3%, 5% or some mul-
tiple of 5%, to notify the company and the CBFA.

The company did not receive any such notifications during the 
course of 2009.

Spector Photo Group and its subsidiaries possess 1 207 072 or 
3.3% treasury shares. The number of treasury shares remained 
unchanged in 2009.

Structure of the shareholdership (pre-warrants)
as it appears from the notifications received

Free float 57.70%

Consortium VIT 18.88%

Koramic Finance Company 10.74%

Groes Gerard 5.01%

Audhumla 4.14%

Treasury shares 3.30%

Partimage 0.23%

Total 100.00%

Free float
Consortium VIT
Koramic Finance Company
Groes Gerard
Audhumla 
Treasury shares
Partimage

more detailed information relating the structure of the share-
holdership of the company, as at the year-end, can be found on 
page 107 of this document.

REFERENCE ShAREhOLDERShIP

The former reference shareholder Fotoinvest CVBA was put 
into liquidation on 20 December 2007. Its holding in Spector 
Photo Group NV was sold to Spector Coördinatiecentrum 
NV on 27 march 2008. The liquidation of Fotoinvest CVBA 
was finally closed and the company definitively ceased to exist 
as at 20 June 2008. As a result of this, the dissolution will be 
commenced of the Stichting Administratiekantoor Consortium 
Ex-IPG. 

GENERAL mEETING OF ShAREhOLDERS

The Annual General meeting takes place on the second 
wednesday of the month of may at 2 p.m. The right to take 
part in the General meeting will only be granted, either on the 
basis of the registration of the shareholders in the register of 
the company’s registered shares or bonds or warrants and after 
communication to the Board of Directors by letter, telegram, 
telex, fax or in any other written form, of their wish to take part 
in the meeting, unless specified otherwise in the convocation; 
or on the basis of the depositing of the dematerialised shares 
or bonds or warrants at the registered office of the company, 
unless specified otherwise in the convocation of the meeting; 
or if the shares or bonds or warrant are represented by a glo-
bal certificate that is deposited with a settlement institution, on 
the basis of a certificate drawn up by the holder of the global 
certificate or by the financial intermediary at which the share-
holder, bondholder or warrant holder holds the respective 
shares, bonds or warrants on a securities account, which states 
the unavailability of the shares, bonds or warrants until on the 

date of the General meeting at the places and time stated in 
the letter of convocation; or on the basis of a certificate drawn 
up by the recognised account holder or by the settlement in-
stitution, which states the unavailability of the dematerialised 
shares or bonds or warrants until on the date of the General 
meeting at the places stated in the letter of convocation; this at 
least three working days and at most six working days before 
the date stipulated for the assembly of the General meeting, all 
this subject to subsequent legal amendments concerning this 
matter.

COmmuNICATION wITh ShAREhOLDERS

Spector Photo Group attaches particular importance to regu-
lar and transparent communication to its shareholders.
This communication includes, among other things:

• Publication of annual results, interim results and quarterly 
trading updates,

• A separate ‘Investor Relations’ section on the corporate 
website,

• Free subscription to the relevant press releases for investors 
via the same website,

• Regular presence at presentations and events for private  
investors.
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COmmITTEE OF STATuTORy AuDITORS

• PKF bedrijfsrevisoren CVBA, represented by mr. Danny De 
Jonge, Statutory Auditor (present appointment runs to the 
Ordinary General meeting of Shareholders of 2011).

• Grant Thornton, Lippens & Rabaey BVCV, represented by  
J. Lippens, Statutory Auditor (present appointment runs to 
the Ordinary General meeting of Shareholders of 2011).

GENERAL iNFORmATiON CONCERNiNG 
SPECTOR PHOTO GROUP

1. GENERAL INFORmATION CONCERNING 
THE COmPANy

1.1. Identity
The company’s name is ‘Spector Photo Group NV’, abbreviated 
to ‘Spector’. Its registered office is at
Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 wetteren, Belgium.

1.2. Foundation and duration
Spector was founded for an indefinite term on 23 December 
1964 under the name ` DBm Color NV’ by deed passed in 
the presence of Civil-law notary Luc Verstraeten at Assenede, 
published in the Supplements to the Belgian Official Gazette of 
15 January 1965. The Articles of Association were last modified 
by deed passed in the presence of Civil-law notary Tom De 
Sagher on 6 November 2007, published in the Supplements to 
the Belgian Official Gazette of 21 November 2007, as a result 
of the Act of 14 December 2005 governing the abolition of 
bearer securities.

1.3. Legal form
Spector was set up as a public limited liability company (naam-
loze vennootschap) according to Belgian law.

1.4. Company objective
The objective of the company is defined in article 3 of the 
Articles of Association as follows:
a) the production, import, purchase, sale, supply, renting out, 

leasing and storage of all products, materials and equipment 
for recoding and reproduction of pictures, signals and sound, 
and in the field electronic equipment, information technol-
ogy, multimedia, sound and picture media, telecommunica-
tions, office equipment, photography, photoengraving, film 
and software, as well as their accessories and the associated 
services and related articles;

b) the acquisition, production, use and development of every 
brand image, trade name and patent that may or may not 
be related to the activities identified above and licence pro-
vision.

c) the purchase, sale, reconstruction, letting, sub-letting, finan-
cial borrowing, leasing, concession and operating, in any 
form whatsoever, of all moveable and immovable property 
and machines, plants, equipment, commercial vehicles and 
cars, which are relevant to the company’s activities;

d) the investing, managing and using of financial assets;
e) the setting up and cooperating with enterprises and com-

panies, the purchase and the management of participating 
interests or shares in companies or enterprises of which the 
objective is similar or related to the objective defined above 
or is of the nature to promote achieving it, and in financial 
companies; the financing of such companies or enterprises 
by loans, guarantees or any other similar form whatsoever; 
the participation as member of the Board of Directors or 

of any other similar body for the management and the ob-
servation of the position of liquidator for the companies 
identified above; 

f) the performance of all operations, studies and management 
services of administrative, technical, commercial and finan-
cial nature, chargeable to companies of which it is a share-
holder or chargeable to third parties.

The company may, in Belgium and abroad, at its own expense 
of at the expense of third parties, conduct all industrial, trad-
ing and financial transactions that could directly or indirectly 
extend or benefit its business.

1.5. Register
Spector is registered at the legal entities register of Dender-
monde under number RPR 0405.706.755. Its number for Value-
Added Tax is BE 0405.706.755.

2. GENERAL INFORmATION CONCERNING 
THE CAPiTAL

2.1. Issued capital
The authorised and paid-up capital of Spector as at  
31 December 2009 amounted to EuR 64,193,915.72, and 
is represented by 36,619,505 fully paid-up authorised shares 
without par value.

There are also 31,874,597 VVPR strips that provide the right to a 
reduced withholding tax of 15% instead of 25% on dividends. In 
order to enjoy this benefit, the shareholders need to present their 
coupons of the shares at the same time with the coupons of the 
VVPR strips to the dividend-paying organisation, and do this be-
fore 30 November of the year in which the dividend is granted.
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2.2. Registered capital, convertible bonds
The Board of Directors is authorised for a term of five years 
starting from the publication of the resolution of the General 
Shareholders’ meeting of 28 November 2005 in the Supple-
ments to the Belgian Official Gazette, within the statutory 
limitations, to increase the issued authorised share capital on 
one or more occasions, both by contributions in cash and by 
contributions in kind as well as by means of the incorporation 
of reserves and/or issue premiums, with or without issuing new 
shares, as well as by means of issuing, once or several times, 
bonds convertible into shares, bonds with warrants or war-
rants connected or not connected to another security, and all 
this for a maximum global amount of EuR 64,193,915.72. This 
ceiling applies to the issue of bonds convertible into shares, 
bonds with warrants, or warrants that are connected or not 
connected to another security, to the amount of the capital 
increases that could result from the conversion of these bonds 
or the exercising of these warrants.

The Board of Directors is hereby authorised by the General 
Shareholders’ meeting, based on a resolution taken in accord-
ance with the provisions of Article 560 of the Belgian Company 
Code, within the framework of issuing securities within the reg-
istered capital, to modify the respective rights of the existing 
categories of shares or securities that do or do not represent 
the capital.

This authorisation is valid in so far as it is in accordance with 
the applicable statutory provisions. The Board of Directors will 
not in any case use this authorisation with the aim to, or in such 
a way that this would, prejudice the shareholders’ rights con-
nected to the existing shares. 

The Board of Directors is explicitly authorised for a term of 
three years starting from the publication of the resolution of 
the General meeting of Shareholders of the twenty eighth of 
November two thousand and five in the Supplements to the 

Belgian Official Gazette, to use the authorisation granted by 
the present clause to increase the capital, in the circumstances, 
under the conditions and within the restrictions of Article 607 
of the Belgian Company Code.

The Board of Directors determines the dates and the condi-
tions of the capital increases that it has decided to implement 
pursuant to the previous paragraphs, including the possible pay-
ment of the share premiums. It determines the conditions for 
the issue of bonds upon which it has decided pursuant to the 
previous paragraphs. when use is made of the previous para-
graphs, the Board of Directors determines, in accordance with 
Articles 592 and following of the Belgian Company Code, the 
period and other conditions for the exercising of the preferen-
tial rights by shareholders when they are vested with this right 
by law. The Board of Director can also, in accordance with the 
same Articles 592 and following, in the interest of the Company 
and under the conditions provided by law, restrict or exclude 
the pre-emptive rights of the shareholders, in favour of one or 
several persons selected by the Board of Directors, regardless 
whether these persons are staff members of the Company or 
of its subsidiaries.

when a share premium is paid as a consequence of the present 
clause, it will automatically be transferred to a non-distributable 
account called “share premiums” which can only be disposed of 
under the conditions required for the capital reduction. how-
ever, the premium can be incorporated in the registered share 
capital at any time, this resolution can be taken by the Board of 
Directors in accordance with the first paragraph.”

2.3. Profit-sharing certificates
None

2.4. Conditions for changes of the capital
Statutory conditions

2.5. Transactions
a) 08 November 1991 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette 

of 29 November 1991): 
 Capital increase in the context of the share option plan, 

by cash contribution worth BEF 2,872,620 and creation of 
23,609 new shares. As a result of this, the registered capital 
amounted to BEF 1,016,633,457, represented by 1,425,510 
shares of which 205,140 were AFV shares.

b) 05 June 1991 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of  
27 June 1992):

 Capital increase by cash contribution worth BEF 117,166,543 
by creation of 68,921 new shares. Accordingly, the capital 
amounted to BEF 1,133,800,000, represented by 1,494,431 
shares of which 205,140 were AFV shares.

c) 29 December 1992 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette 
of 23 January 1993):

 Capital increase in the context of the share option plan, 
by cash contribution worth BEF 3,569,693 by creation of 
29,907 new shares. Accordingly, the capital amounted to 
BEF 1,137,369,693, represented by 1,524,338 shares of 
which 205,140 were AFV shares.

d) 09 July 1993 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of 03 
July 1993):

 Capital increase in the context of the share option plan, by 
cash contribution worth BEF 1,497,581 by creation of 6,809 
new shares. Accordingly, the registered capital amounted 
to BEF 1,138,867,274, represented by 1,531,147 shares of 
which 205,140 were AFV shares.

e) Conversion of shares (publication in Belgian Official Gazette 
of 2 October 1993): In view of the merger with Promin-
vest that would take place on 29 October 1993, the ex-
traordinary General meeting of 7 September 1993 decided 
to proceed with the conversion of all 1,531,147 existing 
Spector shares into 2,703,317 new shares, in which each 
existing share gave the right to 1.76555 new shares. As a 
result of this, the registered capital would be represented 
by 2,703,317 new shares, of which 362,185 were AFV 
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shares. This conversion was performed in order to create 
an exchange ratio of one Spector share to one Prominvest 
share.

 After this operation, Prominvest held 96% of the Spector 
shares.

f) 29 October 1993 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of 
23 November 1993):

 merger due to acquisition by Prominvest NV: in the merger, 
the capital of Prominvest was added to Spector’s capital. This 
increased Spector’s registered capital to BEF 2,265,805,017 
by the creation of 2,675,000 new shares, so that 5,378,317 
shares represented the capital.

 After this, the capital was increased by BEF 341,690,111 
and BEF 1,406,194,933, by including the revaluation gains 
and share premiums respectively, each without issuing 
new shares, to an amount of BEF 4,013,690,061. Immedi-
ately after this transaction, the capital was reduced by BEF 
3,050,082,500 and 2,596,810 Spector treasury shares were 
destroyed, including all AFV shares. After the merger, Spec-
tor’s capital therefore amounted to BEF 963,607,561, repre-
sented by 2,781,507 shares.

g) 15 February 1994 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of 
15 march 1994):

 Capital increase by exercising of warrants: due to the ex-
ercising of the warrants, the capital was increased to BEF 
1,488,390,561, represented by 3,306,290 shares, of which 
524,783 were VVPR shares.

h) 10 may 1995 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of 03 
June 1995):

 Increase of share capital under suspensive condition 
amounting to the number of shares subscribed to by means 
of warrants, multiplied by the accounting parity of the exist-
ing registered shares at the moment of exercising the war-
rants. The maximum number of shares to be created was 
826,572 VVPR shares.

i) 04 October 1996: Bringing into line of ordinary and VVPR 
shares by granting of the VVPR-strip coupon sheet. As re-
sult of this there were 524,783 VVPR strips created and the 

capital was represented by 3,306,290 ordinary shares.
j) 05 October 1996 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of 

29 October 1996):
 Increase of share capital due to exercising of 14,658 war-

rants, subscription at par of BEF 450 per share, supple-
mented with the payment of a share premium of BEF 1,125 
per share, as a result of which 14,658 new ordinary shares 
with the same number of VVPR strips were created. As 
result of this the capital was raised by BEF 6,596,100 to  
BEF 1,496,986,661, represented by 3,320,948 ordinary 
shares, with 539,441 VVPR strips in circulation.

k) 08 November 1996 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette 
of 03 December 1996):

 Increase of share capital in the context of the authorised 
capital by a cash contribution of BEF 2,159,176,311 BEF, 
which is BEF 664,189,650 capital supplemented by a share 
premium of BEF 2,088,507,455 by creation of 1,475,977 
new ordinary shares and the same number of VVPR strips. 
As result of this, the capital amounted to BEF 2,159,176,311, 
represented by 4,796,925 shares, with 2,015,418 VVPR 
strips in circulation.

l) 13 may 1998 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of  
06 June 1998):

 (i) Increase of share capital by incorporation of BEF 
2,104,997,705 of share premiums, without creation of 
new shares. As result of this, the capital amounted to  
BEF 4,264,174,016, represented by 4,796,925 shares, with 
2,015,418 VVPR strips in circulation;

 (ii) Issue of 600,000 transferable registered warrants, 
with discontinuation of preferential right to the benefit of 
Fotoinvest CVBA or its legal successors. Each warrant gives 
the right to subscribe to 1 new share of the company at a 
price per share equal to the average of the closing prices of 
Spector shares during the 60 trading days that precede the 
exercising, with a minimum equal to the average of the stock 
exchange price during thirty days prior to the date of issue. 
The warrant can be exercised at every moment, individually 
or jointly, during a period of five years counting from the 

date of emission, (i) with effect from the notification by the 
Belgian Banking, Finance and Insurance Commission (CBFA) 
of a public takeover bid on the shares of the company, or 
(ii) with effect from moment that an audit announcement 
is sent to the Banking and Finance Commission and/or the 
company receives knowledge of the purchase by one or 
more persons who by mutual agreement act with 20% 
or more of the voting-right securities of the company, or 
(iii) as soon as the price of the company’s shares on the 
Brussels Stock Exchange’s First market become identifiably 
and substantially affected by systematic buying orders or by 
constant rumours concerning a take-over bid on the shares 
of the company, consequently, approval of capital increase 
provided for and as the exercise of the warrants identified 
above amounting to the maximum amount equal to the 
number of subscription rights represented by the warrants, 
multiplied by the fraction unit value of the share at the mo-
ment of subscription.

m) 23 June1998 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of  
21 July 1998):

 Increase of share capital due to exercising of 115 warrants, 
subscription at par of BEF 889 per share, supplemented 
with the payment of a share premium of BEF 651 per share, 
as a result of which 115 new shares with the same number 
of VVPR strips were created. As result of this, the capital 
amounted to BEF 4,264,351,116, represented by 4,797,040 
shares, with 2,015,533 VVPR strips in circulation;

n) 14 June 2000 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of  
06 July 2000):

 Increase of share capital due to exercising of 812 warrants, 
subscription at par of BEF 889 per share, supplemented 
with the payment of a share premium of BEF 651 per share, 
as a result of which 812 new shares with the same number 
of VVPR strips were created. As result of this, the capital 
amounted to BEF 4,265,601,596, represented by 4,797,852 
shares, with 2,016,345 VVPR strips in circulation;

o) 30 march 2001 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of  
20 April 2001):
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 (i) Capital reduction by BEF 3,850,394,314 to bring the 
registered share capital from BEF 4,265,601,596 to BEF 
415,207,282 by settlement of losses incurred on the ac-
tually paid-up capital for tax purposes without destruction 
of shares, with proportional reduction of the fraction unit 
value of the shares, and subject to approval for the corre-
sponding amendment of article 5 of the Articles of Associa-
tion concerning the level of the registered capital; 

 (ii) Increase of share capital, with discontinuation of prefer-
ential right, by cash contribution of BEF 300 million and issue 
of 783,046 registered shares without no indication of par 
value; 

 (iii) Incorporation of the share premium amounting to BEF 
232,235,199 in the capital so that the issued registered share 
capital was increased by an Amount of BEF 232,235,199 to 
bring it from BEF 482,972,083 to BEF 715,207,282 without 
creation of new shares; 

 (iv) Conversion of the issued registered share capital 
amounting to BEF 715,207,282, rounded off, to EuR 17,729 
525.41 so that the issued registered capital after conversion 
amounts to EuR 17,729 525,41.

p) 19 July 2002 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette of 15 
August 2002): 

 (i) Increase of share capital by an amount of EuR 
3,749,778.97 to increase it from EuR 17,729,525.41 to EuR 
21,479 304.38 by contribution in the context of the merger 
by acquisition of the NV Photo hall multimedia,

  in which the entire capital of NV Photo hall without excep-
tion or qualification transfers under universal title to Spec-
tor Photo Group NV issuing 1,180,355 new shares, coupon 
number 11 and following attached, without indication of par 
value, of the same nature and providing the same rights and 
benefits as the existing shares; 

 (ii) Incorporation of share premium amounting to EuR 
913,057.14 in order to bring it from EuR 21,479,304.38 to 

EuR 22,392,361.52 without issuing new shares.
q) 14 December 2005 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette 

of 05 January 2006): 
 (i) Capital increase by an amount of EuR 39,999,999.20 thus 

bringing it from EuR 22,392,361.52 to EuR 62,392,360.72 
by the issue at EuR 1.40 per newly created share of 
28,571,428 newly created VVPR bearer shares without indi-
cation of their par value, offering the same rights and ben-
efits as the Company’s existing shares with reduced with-
holding taxes (the VVPR shares); (ii) capital increase by EuR 
1,801,555.00 thus bringing it from EuR 62,392,360.72 to 
EuR 64,193,915.72, by contribution in kind of a receivable 
belonging to De Bommels NV, and of a receivable belong-
ing to R.N.A. NV, and of a receivable belonging to Olca 
NV, by the issue at an issue price of EuR 1.40 per share 
of 1,286,824 new Company bearer shares without indica-
tion of their par value, offering the same rights and benefits 
as the Company’s existing shares with reduced withholding 
taxes (the so-called VVPR shares); (iii) Recording the issue 
of 600,000 warrants in total, which at their being exercised 
at the exercise price of EuR 3.36 per warrant, give right to 
one share with the same rights and benefits as the Com-
pany’s existing shares with reduced withholding taxes (the 
so-called VVPR shares); (iv) Recording the amount of the 
authorised capital at EuR 64,193,915.72.

r) 06 November 2007 (publication in Belgian Official Gazette 
of 21 November 2007):

 (i) Approval of the resolution to amend the Articles of As-
sociation as a result of the amended legislation concerning 
the abolition of bearer securities and the dematerialisation 
of securities; 

 (ii) Amending article 35 of the Articles of Association con-
cerning acquisition or disposal of treasury shares. For more 
information, see point 2.9. Treasury shares

2.6. Summary of transactions

year number of shares capital

1964 200  BEF 1.000.000

1966 400  BEF 2.000.000

1970 800  BEF 4.000.000

1976 1.124  BEF 8.000.000

1983 1.904  BEF 13.550.480

1987 500.752  BEF 50.864.428

1988 699.500  BEF 180.000.000

1989 791.402  BEF 383.000.000

1990 1.401.901  BEF 1.013.760.837

1991 1.425.510  BEF 1.016.633.457

1992 1.524.338  BEF 1.137.369.693

1993 2.781.507  BEF 963.607.561

1994 3.306.290  BEF 1.488.390.561

1996 4.796.925  BEF 2.159.176.311

1998 4.797.040  BEF 4.264.351.116

2000 4.797.852  BEF 4.265.601.596

2001 5.580.898  EuR17.729.525.41

2002 6 761 253  EuR 22.392.361.52

2005 36 619 505  EuR 64.193.915.72

On 27 march 2008, Fotoinvest CVBA, in liquidation, transferred 
its bundle of shares in Spector Photo Group NV to Spector 
Coördinatiecentrum NV. As this transaction exceeded the 
transparency threshold, the companies Fotoinvest CVBA, in 
liquidation, and Partimage CVA, on the one hand, and Spector 
Coördinatiecentrum NV, Alexander Photo SA and Spector 
Photo Group NV on the other, submitted an official notifi-
cation of this, dated 28 march 2008, to the Belgian Banking,  
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Finance and Insurance Commission and to Euronext Brussels.
The total number of treasury shares is currently 1,207,072 or 
3.3 % of the total number of shares.

2.7. Joint control
Spector is not aware of any agreements between specific  
shareholders as a result of which a joint policy concerning 
Spector is conducted.

2.8. Group structure
See Annual Report page 115.

2.9. Treasury shares
See the explanatory notes to the company’s financial state-
ments.

The General meeting of 6 November 2007 explicitly author-
ised the Board of Directors in accordance with the provisions 
of the Belgian Company Code, to acquire treasury shares or 
profit-sharing certificates by purchase or exchange, or dispose 
of them, without a prior resolution of the General meeting 
being required, directly or via a person acting under their own 
name but on behalf of the company, or via a direct subsidiary 
as referred to in Article 627 of the Belgian Company Code, if 
this acquisition or disposal is necessary to avoid an impending 
serious disadvantage for the company.

This authorisation applies for a period of three years from the 
publication of the resolution identified above in the Supple-
ments to the Belgian Official Gazette and, pursuant to Article 
620 §1 of the Belgian Company Code, can be renewed.

The company’s treasury shares included in the ‘Eurolist by Eu-
ronext’ can be disposed of by the Board of Directors without 
prior approval of the General meeting.

The General meeting of 6 November 2007 also authorised the 
Board of Directors, in accordance with Article 620 of the Bel-
gian Company Code, to acquire by purchase or exchange the 
maximum permitted number of shares at a price equal to at 
least eighty-five percent (85%) and no more than one hundred 
and fifteen percent (115%) of the most recent closing price at 
which these shares were listed on the Eurolist by Euronext on 
the day preceding the purchase or exchange. This authorisation 
applies for a period of 18 months from the publication of this 
resolution in the Supplements to the Belgian Official Gazette 
and, pursuant to Article 620 §1 of the Belgian Company Code, 
can be renewed.

2.10. Share option plan
The Board of Directors decided unanimously at its meeting on 
26 November 1999 to introduce share option plans for the 
benefit of employees and consultants of Spector Photo Group 
NV and associated companies (in the sense of Article 11 of the 
Belgian Company Code).

The free offer of the options to the employees will be consid-
ered as a benefit in kind that is taxable as remuneration. In view 
of the fixed measurement of this benefit, as provided for in the 
law of 26 march 1999, concerning the Belgian Action Plan for 
Employment and including various provisions, this constitutes a 
form of remuneration that is beneficial for tax purposes.

The share options from 2001, which expired at year-end 2009, 
have lost all their value.

The table below shows the exercise price, the number of op-
tions offered, the number of options accepted and the number 
still outstanding, which have been offered in the implementa-
tion of this plan.

Year of offer per portion 2002

Exercise price € 10,65

Number of options offered 67 500

Number of accepted options 61 250

Number of outstanding options 48 500

Initial exercise periods 04/2006
04/2007
12/2007

Additional exercise periods in accordance with the Law 
of 24 December 2002

04/2009
04/2010
12/2010

As a result of the law of 24 December 2002, the beneficiaries 
of the option plans were asked to agree to an extension of 
the exercise periods by three years. All the beneficiaries have 
now agreed to this, and the proposal is therefore approved. At 
the exercising of these options, the company will use treasury 
shares held by the company. The Corporate Governance Char-
ter of Spector Photo Group NV includes a code of conduct 
concerning the purchasing and disposal of treasury shares.

2.11. Warrant plan
The Extraordinary General meeting of Shareholders of Spec-
tor Photo Group NV on 28 November 2005 resolved to is-
sue 600,000 warrants in the sense of Article 42 of the Law 
of 26 march 1999 concerning the Belgian 1998 Action Plan 
for Employment and containing various provisions (the “Share 
Options Act”). Each warrant gives the right to subscribe for 
a single share. This warrant plan is designed to create a long-
term incentive for the beneficiaries who, as directors or con-
sultants, can make a significant contribution to the success and 
the growth of the company. In addition, this warrant plan aims 
to create a common interest among the beneficiaries and the 
shareholders that is directed towards an increase in the Com-
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pany’s share price.
In accordance with the Economic Recovery Act of 27 march 
2009, The Board of Directors decided to extend the exercise 
period of the warrants granted on 28 November 2005 for 
which the initial exercise period expires on 30 September 
2010, by an additional exercise period of four (4) years until 30 
September 2014. During the extended period, the beneficiaries 
will be entitled to existing shares and not to new shares. There-
fore, contrary to the Belgian Corporate Governance Code’s 
recommendations, the extension could be approved by the 
Board of Directors. For the sake of good order, the extension 
will be presented at the General meeting of 12 may 2010.

year of offer 2005

Excercise price € 3.36

Number of warrants offered 600 000

Number of outstanding/accepted warrants 600 000

Initial exercise periods 03/2006
03/2007
03/2008
03/2009
03/2010

09/2006
09/2007
09/2008
09/2009
09/2010

Additional exercise periods in accordance 
with the Economic Recovery Act of 27 
march 2009

03/2011
03/2012
03/2013
03/2014

09/2011
09/2012
09/2013
09/2014

Granting and exercising the warrants will have an effect on the 
employee expenses and thus on the results of the company, be-
cause of the application of IFRS 2 ‘payments based on shares’.
The ‘theoretical value’ of the warrants, calculated according to 
a conventional valuation method (Black & Scholes), amounts 
to EuR 0.22366 per warrant or a total of EuR 134,198, and 
is recognised as an employee expense for the financial year 
in which they were issued (2005). For this theoretical meas-

urement of the value, account was taken of the last closing 
price of the share before the offer of these warrants, which was  
EuR 1.48, and with the exercise price of the warrants at EuR 
3.36. The expected volatility was based on the average volatility 
over a period of one year. No effects of any expected pre-
mature exercising were included, as this was not considered 
relevant.

Share price at allotment € 1.48

Exercise price € 3.36

Duration 5 years

Expected volatility 40%

Dividend yield 0%

Risk-free interest rate 3.10%

 
3. OThER INFORmATION

3.1. Composition of the Board of Directors
Please see page 31.

3.2. General Meeting and conditions of admission
Please see page 42.
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income statement for the period (in € ‘000)

Note 2008 2009

revenue 2  266 159 243 978

other operating income 3  7 282 5 038

trade goods, raw materials and consumables 4  190 839 175 923

employee expenses 5  32 095 31 728

depreciation and amortisation expenses 6  10 642 8 941

other operating expenses 7  34 107 31 803

profit/loss (-) from operating activities, before  
non-recurring items 8  5 758  620

non-recurring items from operating activities 9 - 786  

profit/loss (-) from operating activities 4 972  620

financial income 10  896  536

financial costs 10 -6 074 -4 829

financial cost-net, before non-recurring items -5 177 -4 293

non-recurring financial items 10   - 2 405

financial result 10 - 7 582 - 4 293

profit/loss (-) before taxes, before non-recurring  
financial items - 205 -3 673

profit/loss (-) before taxes -2 610 -3 673

income tax expense (-)/ income 11 - 908 946

profit/loss (-) from continuing activities -3 518 -2 726

discontinued operations

profit/loss (-) from discontinued operations 19 -4 229 -1 062

profit/loss (-) for the period -7 748 -3 788

attributable to equity holders of the parent company -7 748 -3 788

2008 2008 2009

number of shares 36 619 505 36 619 505 36 619 505

shares with dividend rights number Weighted 
average 
number 

number

35 412 433 35 668 731 35 412 433

income statement for the period

profit/loss (-) from continuing activities -0.10 -0.10 -0.08

profit/loss (-) from discontinued operations -0.12 -0.12 -0.03

profit/loss (-) for the period attributable to  
equity holders of the parent -0.22 -0.22 -0.11

comprehensive income for the period

total comprehensive income for the period  
attributable to equity holders of the  
parent company -0.28 -0.28 -0.04

2008 2009

profit/loss (-) for the period - 7 748 - 3 788

currency translation adjustments : -  15  2 327

Gains/losses(-) arising during the year   8 -  34

reclassification adjustments for gains/losses (-) included in profit  
or loss -  23  2 361

revaluation surplus - 2 139

Gains/losses(-) arising during the year - 2 139

total comprehensive income for the period attributable to  
equity holders of the parent company - 9 902 - 1 461

statement of comprehensive income for the period (in € ‘000)

the revaluation losses in 2008 that amounted to minus eUr 2,139 (‘000) concerned assets held for sale. the profit/loss (-) of the 2008 financial year 
concerning the currency translation differences included minus eUr 607 (‘000) for assets held for sale. the reclassification adjustments related to 2009 
contain eUr 757 (‘000) for assets held for sale.

Key fiGUres per share (in €, except for the number of shares)
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statement of financial position as at the end of the period (in € ‘000)

     

Assets Note 2008 2009

non-current assets

property, plant and equipment 12  18 260  20 640

consolidation goodwill and other goodwill 13  19 517  19 164

intangible assets other than goodwill 14  12 315  9 966

other non-current financial assets 16   49   49

long term receivables 17   248   252

deferred tax assets 18  7 049  7 032

non-current assets  57 439  57 103

current assets

assets held for sale 19  6 712   681

inventories 20  36 622  28 717

trade and other receivables 21  20 138  16 129

investment securities - current   3   3

cash and cash equivalents 22  12 438  18 439

current income tax assets 23  3 152   469

current assets  79 066  64 438

total assets  136 505  121 541

eQUItY AND LIABILItIes Note 2008 2009

total equity

capital  64 194  64 194

reserves and retained earnings/accumulated loss (-) - 30 115 - 33 904

treasury shares (-) - 2 422 - 2 422

currency translation adjustments - 1 098  1 229

shareholder's equity  30 559  29 097

total equity 24  30 559  29 097

non-current liabilities

non-current interest-bearing financial obligations 25  32 730  16 337

employee benefit liabilities 26   190   148

non-current provisions 27  1 852  1 403

deferred tax liabilities 18/29  2 785  1 319

non-current liabilities  37 558  19 208

current liabilities

liabilities held for sale 19/30  6 746   698

current interest-bearing financial obligations 25  15 862  30 133

trade and other payables 31  37 948  35 914

employee benefit liabilities 26  4 174  4 452

current income tax liabilities 32  3 465  2 039

current portion of provisions 28   194   

current liabilities  68 388  73 236

total eQUity and liabilities  136 505  121 541
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statement of chanGes in eQUity (in € ‘000)

Capital Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
surplus

treasury 
shares

Currency 
translation 

adjustments

shareholders' equity total equity

balance as at 31.12.2007 64 194 -22 367 2 139 -1 304 -1 083 41 579 41 579

acquisitions/sale of treasury shares -1 118 -1 118 -1 118

currency translation differences - 15 - 15 - 15

net gains/losses (-) not recognised in the income statement -2 139 -2 139 -2 139

net profit/loss (-) for the period -7 748 -7 748 -7 748

total comprehensive income -7 748 -2 139 - 15 -9 902 -9 902

balance as at 31.12.2008 64 194 -30 115 -2 422 -1 098 30 559 30 559

currency translation differences 2 327 2 327 2 327

net profit/loss (-) for the period -3 788 -3 788 -3 788

total comprehensive income -3 788 2 327 -1 461 -1 461

balance as at 31.12.2009 64 194 -33 904 -2 422 1 229 29 097 29 097
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statement of cash floWs for the period (in € ’000)

For the year ended on 31 December 2008 2009

operating activities 

net result - 7 748 - 3 788

depreciation, write-offs, impairment of property, plant and equipment  5 190  3 764

depreciation, write-offs, impairment of intangible assets  6 564  5 018

Write-offs, impairment on current and non-current assets  2 724   128

provisions -  116 -  719

Unrealised foreign exchange losses/gains (-) -  10  1 170

net interest income (-)/expense  4 166  3 041

loss/gain (-) on sale of property, plant and equipment -  44 -  44

income tax expenses -  599 - 2 478

other non-cash costs  2 362

profit from operations before changes in working capial and provisions  10 128  8 454

decrease/increase (-) in trade and other receivables  7 516  3 250

decrease/increase (-) in inventories  3 153  8 420

increase/decrease (-) in trade and other payables   87 - 1 651

increase/decrease (-) in provisions for employees -  12

cash generated from operations  20 885  18 460

interest paid (-)/received - 4 874 - 2 998

income tax paid (-)/received - 1 153   602

cash flow from operating activities  14 858  16 064

2008 2009

investing activities

proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  1 862   134

proceeds from sale of subsidiaries -  5 -  42

acquisition of property, plant and equipment - 2 815 - 6 121

acquisition of intangible assets - 2 439 - 2 262

cash flow from investing activities - 3 397 - 8 291

financing activities

acquisition of treasury shares - 1 118

proceeds from borrowings  1 017  3 719

repayment of borrowings - 11 939 - 5 870

cash flow from financing actvities - 12 040 - 2 151

net increase/decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents -  579  5 623

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  13 526  12 438

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year discontinued 
operations   629   898

effect of exchange rate fluctuations -  240   121

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  12 438  18 439

cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period in assets held for sale   898   640

total cash and cash equivalents  13 336  19 079
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abridGed notes to the consolidated cash floW statement

The consolidated cash flow statement is based on the net result, to which 

the non-cash items are then added in order to recompile the cash flows.

Cash flow from operating activities
the cash flow from operating activities is mainly affected by the net 

result and the non-cash items.

details about depreciation, amortisation and impairments can be 

found in the notes to the consolidated statement of financial posi-

tion on pages 75 to 79 of this document. the non-cash flows mainly 

concern write-downs on investments in plant and equipment, and on 

intangible assets.

in the 2008 financial year, eUr 2,724 (‘000) was recognised for provi-

sions and write-downs on non-current and current assets, of which 

eUr 1,714 (‘000) concerned financial assets, eUr 247 (‘000) on  

other receivables, and eUr 557 (‘000) on inventories of the discon-

tinued operations.

in the 2009 financial year, the write-downs on non-current and cur-

rent assets amounted to eUr 128 (‘000), of which minus eUr 148 

(‘000) on inventories, eUr 306 (‘000) on trade receivables, and minus 

eUr 30 (‘000) on other receivables. the other non-cash costs consist, 

on the one hand, of a non-cash cost resulting from the realised cur-

rency translation differences on the sale of the hungarian föfoto of 

eUr 758 (‘000) and the liquidation of sacap hong Kong of eUr 117 

(‘000), and on the other, from currency translation differences related 

to long-term intercompany loans of eUr 1,487 (‘000), which were 

previously recognised directly in a separate item of the equity and 

taken to the statement of comprehensive income on realisation.

the interest expenses decreased to eUr 3,041 (‘000) in 2009, com-

pared to eUr 4,166 (‘000) in 2008. the cash outflow amounted to 

minus eUr 2,998 (‘000), compared to minus eUr 4, 874 (‘000) in 

2008. 

in 2009, the net cash and cash equivalents increased positively due to 

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

property, plant and equipment 3 000 2 197

intangible assets  58

inventories  1 642

trade and other receivables  17 429

cash and cash equivalents  5 42

non-current provisions  -10 

non-current interest-bearing financial 

obligations -2 634 -2 223

current trade and other payables - 388 -2 135

total sale price 0 0

less cash and cash equivalents of 

subsidiaries - 5 - 42

proceeds from the sale of subsidiaries - 5 - 42

Cash flow from financing activities
in 2009, there was a reduction of debt by eUr 2,151 (‘000) com-

pared to eUr 10,922 (‘000) in 2008. this reduction in debt related to 

both the retail Group and the imaging Group. in 2008, the holding of 

fotoinvest, in liquidation, in spector photo Group nv was sold to the 

imaging Group for an amount of eUr 1,118 (‘000). 

the cash and cash equivalents decreased by eUr 579 (‘000) for the 

2008 financial year to eUr 13, 336 (‘000) as at the 2008 financial 

year-end. in 2009, the cash and cash equivalents increased by eUr 

5,743 (‘000) to eUr 19,079 (‘000) as at the financial year-end.

the taxes amounting to eUr 602 (‘000).

furthermore, the cash flow was positively influenced by changes in 

the working capital. 

at group level, the trade receivables, other receivables and the in-

ventories decreased further. in the retail Group, the inventories and 

the trade receivables decreased considerably, while trade payables 

remained stable. in the imaging Group, there was a decrease in the 

trade receivables and trade payables. in 2009, the other tax assets 

decreased by eUr 2,683 (‘000) and the other tax liabilities decreased 

by eUr 1,426 (‘000). following tax disputes, the Group received a 

favourable verdict at the end of 2007. the tax administration did the 

reimbursements in January and march 2009, which mainly explains 

the decrease in the other tax assets and tax liabilities. 

Cash flow from investing activities
in the retail Group, the investments in 2008 mainly concerned the 

opening of new shops and the refurbishment of existing shops. the 

investments in 2009 mainly relate to the purchase of hifi internation-

al’s central building in bettembourg, luxembourg, and the equipping 

and furnishing of the shops.

in 2008, the imaging Group invested in new machines for printing 

photo books and photo calendars. in addition, there were invest-

ments in the continued expansion of the data centres for the website 

and storage of digital pictures. in 2009, the main investments were 

in machines and the development of designs for photo books and 

photo gifts

the cash inflow amounted to eUr 1,862 (‘000) in 2008. this mainly 

concerned the sale of the building of litto-color nv in ostend.

the ‘receipts from the sale of subsidiaries’ item in 2008 related to the 

sale of spector fotohandel Gmbh amounting to minus eUr 5 (‘000). 

in 2009, the amount of minus eUr 42 (‘000) relates to the sale of the 

hungarian föfoto.
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statement of compliance

spector photo Group is a company domiciled in belgium. the state-

ment of financial position and the statement of comprehensive  

income of spector photo Group includes the company, its subsidiar-

ies, the Group’s proportional share in joint ventures and the Group’s 

interest in associates, jointly referred to as ‘spector photo Group’ or 

the ‘Group’. the board of directors issued the statement of financial 

position and the statement of comprehensive income for publication 

on 15 april 2010.

the consolidated statement of financial position and the statement 

of comprehensive income have been prepared in accordance with 

the international financial reporting standards (ifrs), the standards 

for financial reporting and the interpretations issued by the interna-

tional accounting standards board (iasb), as approved by the eu-

ropean Union, and the interpretations issued by the international 

financial reporting interpretations committee (ifric) of the iasb.

application of ifrs standards and interpretations

the first application of the international financial reporting stan-

dards (ifrs) to the consolidated financial statements of spector 

photo Group was performed with the preparation of the consoli-

dated statement of financial position and statement of income con-

cerning 2005.

during the current financial year, the company applied all published 

new and revised standards and interpretations that are relevant to 

its activities and which are in force for the accounting period that 

started on 1 January 2009, as issued by the international accounting 

standards board (iasb) and international financial reporting inter-

pretations committee (ifric) of the iasb.

the group has not yet proceeded with the early application of the 

new standards and interpretations that, although they had already 

basis of preparation of the consolidated financial statements

been issued, were not yet in force on the date of the financial state-

ments’ approval:

ias 24 related party disclosures, revised version of 2009: applicable 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

ias 27 consolidated and separate financial statements, revised ver-

sion of 2008: applicable for annual periods beginning on or after  

1 July 2009

ias 32 financial instruments: presentation – classification of rights 

issues: applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 febru-

ary 2010

ias 39 amendments in ias 39 financial instruments: recognition 

and measurement – eligible hedged items: applicable for annual peri-

ods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

ifrs 2 amendments in ifrs 2 share–based payment – Group cash-

settled share-based payment transactions: applicable for annual peri-

ods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

ifrs 3 business combinations, revised version of 2008: applicable for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

ifrs 9 financial instruments: applicable for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2013

ifrs 14  ias 19 – the limit on a defined benefit asset, minimum 

funding requirements and their interaction: applicable for annual pe-

riods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

ifric 17 distributions of non-cash assets to owners: applicable for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

ifric 18 transfers of assets from customers: applicable for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

ifric 19 extinguishing financial liabilities with equity instruments: 

applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

the future application of the standards and interpretations identified 

above are not expected to have any material effect on the consoli-

dated financial statements of spector photo Group.

With effect from 1 January 2009, the Group is presenting its operat-

ing segments in accordance with ifrs 8 operating segments. the re-

porting of segmented information previously occurred according to 

the business segments and according to the geographical segments 

in accordance with ias 14 segmented information. the application 

of ifrs 8 had no effect on the operating segments, or on the Group’s 

realised results.

sUmmary of siGnificant accoUntinG policies

basis of preparation

the consolidated financial statements’ presentation currency is the 

euro, rounded to the nearest thousand. the consolidated financial 

statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

any exceptions to this historical cost method will be disclosed in the 

accounting policies below.

the consolidated financial statements comprise the financial state-

ments of spector photo Group nv and its subsidiaries drawn up as 

at 31 december each year. the consolidated financial statements is 

presented before the profit allocation of the parent company pro-

posed to the General meeting of shareholders.

consolidation principles

Subsidiaries are those companies in which spector photo Group, 

directly or indirectly, has an interest of more than one half of the 

voting rights or otherwise has control, directly or indirectly, over the 

operations.

Subsidiaries are recognised in the consolidation using the full consoli-
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dation method. the financial statements of subsidiaries are included 

in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which con-

trol is obtained until the date that control ceases.

Joint ventures are companies over which the Group exercises joint 

control. the financial statements of these companies are  consolidated 

using the proportional consolidation method.

Associates are those companies in which spector photo Group has, 

directly or indirectly, significant influence over the financial and op-

erating policies, but which it does not control. this is presumed by 

ownership of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

associates are recognised using the equity method of accounting, 

from the date that significant influence commences until the date 

that significant influence ceases. When spector photo Group’s share 

of losses exceeds the carrying amount of the associate, the carry-

ing amount is reduced to zero and recognition of further losses is 

discontinued except to the extent that spector photo Group has 

incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of this associate.

available-for-sale financial assets, and investments in associates over 

which spector photo Group exercises no control and holds less than 

20% of the voting rights, are initially measured at fair value unless this 

cannot be reliably assessed. investments that do not qualify for mea-

surement at fair value are recognised at their historical cost. fair value 

changes after initial recognition, with the exception of impairment 

losses that are recognised in the income statement, are incorporated 

directly in equity. on divestment, the cumulative changes previously 

recognised in the equity, are transferred to the income statement.

all intercompany transactions, balances, and unrealised gains and 

losses on transactions between group companies have been elimi-

nated. accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 

necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by  

spector photo Group.

a list of the company’s most significant subsidiaries and associates 

can be found in the notes.

revenue

Sale of goods

revenue from the sale of goods is recognized in the income state-

ment 

- when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 

transferred to the buyer; 

- the entity does not retain the effective control or involvement 

which usually belongs to the owner concerning the goods sold; 

- the amount of the income can be reliably established; 

- it is probable that the economic benefits concerning the transac-

tion will flow to the entity, 

- and costs already incurred or still to be incurred concerning the 

transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

if the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services 

can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction is 

recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transac-

tion as at the reporting date. 

Interest, royalties, and dividends

interest is recognised in accordance with the effective interest 

 method. royalties are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance 

with the terms of agreements. dividends are recognised at the time 

when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

revenue is measured at the fair value of the payment for the sale of 

goods and services, net of value-added tax, trade rebates or volume 

discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.

costs

the financial costs comprise interests payable on borrowings. other 

non-operating costs or income comprise foreign exchange losses 

and gains with respect to non-operating activities, and losses and 

gains on hedging instruments with respect to non-operating activi-

ties.

        

financing costs are recognised in the period to which they relate. 

interest costs of repayments on financial leases are recognised in the 

income statement using the effective interest method.

operating lease payments are recognised as expenses in the income 

statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Foreign currency translation

the functional and presentation currency of spector photo Group 

nv and its subsidiaries in countries of the eurozone is the euro.

transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of ex-

change prevailing at the date of the transaction or at the end of 

the month before the date of the transaction. monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the ex-

change rate prevailing at the reporting date. foreign exchange gains 

and losses are recognised in the income statement in the period in 

which they arise. non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 

 foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate prevailing on 

the date of the transaction.

assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the rates 

of exchange prevailing at reporting date. income, expenses, cash 

flows, and other changes are translated at the average exchange 

rates for the period. the components of the shareholders’ equity are 

translated at historical rates. translation gains and losses arising from 
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the conversion to euros of the equity at the rate on the reporting 

date, are disclosed as ‘currency translation adjustments’ under the 

‘shareholder’s equity’. 

property, plant and equipment

the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised 

as an asset, if and only if it is probable that future economic benefits 

associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the 

item can be measured reliably. this principle applies both to initial 

costs incurred when the asset item is acquired or manufactured and 

to the costs of subsequent additions after initial capitalisation.   

the cost of a property, plant and equipment asset comprises the 

purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase 

taxes less any trade discounts or rebates, and any costs directly at-

tributable to bring the asset to its operating condition and location 

for its intended use. cost is discounted to present value if payment 

is deferred beyond normal credit terms. subsequent expenditure is 

capitalised when it can be clearly demonstrated that it has resulted in 

an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained 

from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent measurement

Land and buildings: revaluation model

subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, land and buildings are 

carried at a revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date of the 

revaluation less any subsequent cumulative depreciation and subse-

quent impairment losses.

increases in carrying value above depreciated costs are taken directly 

to equity in the revaluation reserve via the comprehensive income. 

however, the increase is recognised in the income statement in so 

far as it reverses a decrease in revaluation reserve recognised in the 

income statement for the same asset. if the carrying value of an as-

set decreases as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is recognised 

in the income statement. however, the decrease is taken directly to 

revaluation reserve in the income statement in so far as it does not 

exceed the amount recognised in revaluation reserve in the income 

statement for the same asset.

buildings are depreciated using the straight-line method, proportion-

ately on a monthly basis, and the estimated useful life is generally  

defined as follows:

-  administrative     3%

-  production          5%

Other property, plant and equipment: cost model

for all other items of property, plant and equipment, the carrying 

amount is its cost reduced by any accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses.

the depreciable amount of an asset is allocated on a systematic 

basis over the useful life of the asset. the depreciation is recognised 

in the income statement, unless it is included in the carrying amount 

of another asset. 

the residual value of an asset is often insignificant and therefore is 

immaterial in the calculation of the depreciable amount. all other 

items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the 

straight-line method, proportionately on a monthly basis, and gener-

ally the depreciate rates are as follows:

plant   10% - 20%

machines  14% - 20%

minilabs   20%

office equipment  14%

company cars  20%

vehicles  33%

computer hardware 20% - 33%

improvements to buildings are capitalised and depreciated over the 

residual useful life of the buildings themselves, whereas improvements 

to leased buildings are capitalised and depreciated over the lesser of 

the residual term of the lease or their expected useful life.

Derecognised assets

an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on dis-

posal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from its 

use and subsequent disposal. Gains and losses on derecognition of 

property, plant and equipment are taken to income statement.

leases

leases under which the Group substantially assumes all the risks and 

rewards of ownership are classified as financial leases. property, plant 

and equipment acquired by way of financial leases are capitalised 

at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present 

value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. the minimum lease 

payments are partially recognised as financing costs and partially as 

payment of the outstanding debt. the financing costs are allocated 

to each period during the term of the lease so that this results in a 

constant regular rate of interest on the remaining balance of the li-

ability. the corresponding liabilities are classified as other non-current 

payables or current liabilities, depending on the period in which they 

are due. lease interest is charged to the income statement as a 

financial cost over the duration of the lease.

capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the 

asset, consistent with the depreciation policy for depreciable assets 

that are owned.

leases under which substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-

ship are effectively transferred to the lessor, are classified as operating 

leases. lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an 

expense on a straight-line proportional basis over the lease term.
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investment property

investment property is measured at depreciated cost less any ac-

cumulated impairment losses. the fair value of the investment prop-

erty is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

an investment property is derecognized on disposal or when the in-

vestment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future 

economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Gains or losses on 

the derecognition of an investment property are calculated as the 

difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying 

amount of the asset, and are recognized in the income statement in 

the period of derecognition. 

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is recognised as an as-

set and measured at its cost, being the excess of the cost of the busi-

ness combination over the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of 

the identifiable assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities. after initial 

recognition, goodwill acquired in a business combination is measured 

at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill resulting from acquisitions from 1 January 2004 and later is 

not amortised, and goodwill previously carried on the statement of 

financial position is no longer amortised after 1 January 2004. 

Goodwill is subjected to an impairment test, annually or more fre-

quently, if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carry-

ing value may be impaired. an impairment loss recognised for good-

will cannot be reversed in a subsequent period. Gains and losses on 

the disposal of a business combination include the carrying amount 

of goodwill relating to the business combination sold. Goodwill is 

allocated to cash-generating entities for the purpose of impairment 

testing.

if the acquirer’s interest in the carried net fair value of the identifi-

able assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the 

business combination, the acquirer reassesses the identification and 

measurement of the acquired party’s identifiable assets, liabilities, and 

contingent liabilities and the measurement of the cost of the com-

bination. any excess remaining after that reassessment is recognised 

immediately in the income statement.

intangible assets

an intangible asset is recognised if, and only if it is probable that 

the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the 

asset will flow to the entity, and the cost of the asset can be mea-

sured reliably. an intangible asset is measured initially at cost. cost is 

discounted to present value if payment is deferred beyond normal 

credit terms.

Research and development costs

research costs are recognised as an expense at the time they are 

incurred. expenditure on development activities, in which research 

findings are applied to a plan or design for the production of new or 

substantially improved products, is capitalised as an intangible asset if 

the product is technically and commercially feasible and the Group 

has sufficient resources to complete this development (and use or 

sell the asset). the expenditure capitalised includes the cost of 

materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. 

other development expenditure is measured at cost less any ac-

cumulated amortisation and impairment losses. other development 

costs are recognised as expenses at the time they are incurred.

Other intangible assets

other intangible assets, acquired by the company, are stated at cost 

less any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. expendi-

ture on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the 

income statement as an expense at the time they are incurred.

Subsequent expenditure

subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised 

only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in 

the specific asset to which it relates (and if this expenditure can be 

measured and attributed to the asset reliably). all other expenditure 

is considered as expenses. 

Depreciation

for an intangible asset with a limited useful life, the depreciable 

amount is allocated on a systematic basis over its estimated useful 

life. intangible assets are depreciated using the straight-line method, 

proportionately on a monthly basis. the depreciation is recognised in 

the income statement, unless it is included in the carrying amount of 

another asset. intangible assets are generally amortised using the 

following rates:

-  trading securities  5%

-  standard software packages are immediately taken to expenses

-  other intangible assets 14% - 20%

there is a rebuttable presumption that the useful life of an immate-

rial asset does not exceed 20 years.

Derecognition or disposal

an intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future 

economic benefits are expected from its use and subsequent dis-

posal. Gains and losses on derecognition are taken to income state-

ment at the time of the asset’s derecognition.

externally acquired customer relationships

capitalised customer relationships are measured at cost as at the 

date of transition to ifrs. based on an analysis of all of the relevant 

factors, including the changing markets and the transition from ana-

logue to digital photography, the board has decided to amortise the 
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value of these assets in the opening statement of financial position 

and the future capitalised externally acquired customer relationships 

using the straight-line method over a period of seven years, with no 

residual value.

Subsequent expenditure

externally acquired customer relationships are recognised as 

intangible assets if they meet the following criteria:

-  customer relationships are identifiable 

-  the company has control over the customer relationships

-  future proceeds must result from these customer relationships

the expenditure to acquire customer relationships is capitalised 

as intangible assets if the acquisition corresponds to the following 

 methods:

(1)  purchase from companies possessing customer relationships

(2)  exchange with companies possessing customer relationships

(3)  purchase of the right to access a channel by which customer 

relationships can be acquired in a privileged manner:

(1)  purchase from companies possessing customer relations

 mail order companies within the Group regularly purchase cus-

tomer relationship files from other mail order companies outside 

the photographic sector. in fact, these companies sell the right to 

consider their customer relationships as customer relationships 

of spector photo Group, and to treat them as such; as a result of 

this, they effectively become customer relationships of spector 

photo Group.  the costs incurred that are directly attributable to 

the preparation of the asset for its intended use, are recognised 

in the statement of financial position in accordance with ias 38, 

paragraph 27.

(2)  exchange with companies possessing customer relationships

 in line with the acquisition method described in (1), customer 

relationships are exchanged between mail order companies of 

different industrial sectors. the related purchase invoices are the 

basis for the capitalisation of such exchange transactions, in ac-

cordance with ias 38, paragraph 16.

 in addition, as under (1), the directly attributable costs incurred 

in preparation of the immaterial asset for its intended use, are 

capitalised.

(3) purchase of the right to access a channel by which customer 

relationships can be acquired in a privileged manner:

 in contrast to acquisition methods (1) and (2), the first customer-

supplier transaction is only acknowledged at acquisition. there is 

not yet an existing customer relationship, which is in fact the case 

in acquisition methods (1) and (2). yet, there is a privileged rela-

tion between the customers and the entity, equal to a customer 

relationship. in these cases, the possible customers have given 

their explicit or implicit approval to be contacted by the entity 

in order to close a sales transaction leading to the acquisition of 

a customer relationship by the entity. the underlying invoices for 

the right to develop a future relationship are the basis for these 

externally acquired relationships to be recognised in the state-

ment of financial position.

 in addition, as under (1), the directly attributable costs incurred 

in preparation of the immaterial asset for its intended use, are 

capitalised.

financing costs

borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, 

or production of an asset requiring a long preparation period prior 

to its intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of this 

asset. such borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of the 

asset when it is probable that they will result in future economic 

benefits to the entity and the costs can be measured reliably. other 

borrowing costs are recognised as a cost in the period in which they 

are incurred.

impairment of assets

at each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any 

indication that an item of property, plant and equipment and other 

non-current assets may be impaired. 

if there is such an indication, the recoverable amount of the asset is 

estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss. 

a full impairment test is performed annually for goodwill and intan-

gible assets with indefinite lives, or that are not yet available for use, 

by comparing their carrying amount with their recoverable amount. 

the recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its net selling 

price and its value in use. the value in use is the net present value 

of the estimated future cash flows arising from the use of an asset 

or a cash-generating unit. for an asset to which no future cash flows 

can be attributed, the recoverable amount is calculated for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where an asset’s recover-

able amount is below the carrying amount, the latter is reduced to 

the recoverable amount. this impairment is immediately recognised 

in the income statement. Where a previously recorded impairment 

no longer exists, the carrying amount is partially or totally raised to 

its recoverable amount. an impairment loss recognised for goodwill 

is not reversed in a subsequent period.

inventories

inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. the cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs 

of conversion, and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 

their present location and condition. the cost of the inventories is 

calculated using the weighted-average cost method. the group con-

tinually examines the inventories to identify damaged, obsolete or 

59spector photo group 



unmarketable stocks. such inventories are written down to the net 

realisable value, provided this is less than the cost price according to 

the method stated above. net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 

completion and any necessary selling costs. if inventories are sold, the 

carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in 

the period in which the corresponding revenue is recognised. the 

amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and 

all losses of inventories is recognised as an expense in the period that 

the write-down or loss occurs. the amount of any reversal of any 

write-down of inventories, arising from an increase in net realisable 

value, is recognized as a reduction in the amount for inventories rec-

ognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs. 

trade and other receivables

trade and other receivables are carried at nominal value less impair-

ment losses. at each reporting date, an estimate is made for bad 

debts when it is probable that the entity will not be able to collect 

all amounts due. bad debts are written off during the year in which 

they are identified as such.

income taxes

income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises both current 

and deferred taxes.

current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent that it 

remains unpaid, recognised as a liability. if the amount already paid 

in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due 

for those periods, the excess is recognized as an asset. the possible 

refunding of taxes paid in prior periods as a result of a tax loss in 

subsequent years, is also recognised as an asset.

current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are 

measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) 

the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substansively enacted in legislation at the reporting date.

deferred income tax liabilities and assets are calculated, using the 

“statement of financial position liability method”, for all temporary 

differences arising between the tax base of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.

deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that is probable 

that future taxable profits will be available against which the unal-

located taxable losses and tax assets can be utilised.

a deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer 

probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that 

are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or 

the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted in legislation on the report-

ing date.

current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 

the government’s announced tax rates (and tax laws) provided that 

these announced rates (and laws) have the substantive effect of ac-

tual enactment.

derivative financial instruments

derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at cost. sub-

sequent to initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are 

stated at fair value. the effective part of the gains or losses from the 

changes in fair value of derivatives, which are specifically recognised 

as hedging instruments for hedging the variability of cash flows of an 

asset or liability recognised in the statement of financial position, an 

off-statement of financial position firm commitment or an expected 

transaction, is recognised in equity.  changes in fair value of deriva-

tives not formally recognised as  hedging instruments or not eligible 

for hedge accounting, are recognised in the income statement.

cash and cash equivalents

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and at banks, on-

demand deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, 

and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and for which the risk of change in value is negli-

gible.

the cash and cash equivalents include current account overdrafts 

which are payable on demand at the request of the bank.

share capital

Repurchase of own shares

When share capital recognised under shareholders’ equity is repur-

chased, the amount paid, including directly attributable costs, is rec-

ognised as a change in equity. repurchased own shares are classified 

as treasury shares and presented as a deduction from shareholders’ 

equity.

Dividends

dividends are recognised at the moment the General meeting of 

shareholders approves their payment.

interest-bearing loans and borrowings

interest-bearing loans and borrowings are recognised initially at cost, 

taking no account of transaction costs incurred. subsequent to initial 

recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are stated at 

amortised cost, with any difference between cost and redemption 

value being recognised proportionately in the income statement 

over the period of borrowing on an effective interest rate basis.
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trade debts and other payables 

trade debts and other payables are measured at nominal value.

employee benefits

employee benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group 

utilises the economic benefit arising from services performed by 

an employee in exchange for employee benefits, and as a liability 

when an employee has provided service in exchange for employee 

 benefits to be paid in the future.

Current employee benefits

current employee benefits are employee benefits that are entirely 

payable within twelve months after the end of the period in which 

the employees have completed the related performance.

Post-employment benefits

post-employment benefits include pensions and other post-

 employment benefits, such as life insurance policies, and medical care 

 benefits after leaving the company’s service.

-  defined contribution pension plans

 contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recog-

nised as an expense in the income statement for the year to 

which they are related. 

  any contributions already paid in advance of the reporting date, 

which are in excess of the payable contribution for performance, 

are reflected as assets under prepaid expenses and accruals. any 

accrued contributions to a defined contribution plan that do not 

fall due within 12 months beyond the reporting date in which 

the employees complete the related performance, are discount-

ed to their present value.

-  defined benefit pension plans

 for defined benefit plans, the amount recognised in the state-

ment of financial position is determined as the present value 

of the gross defined benefit plan commitments, taking account 

of the unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, and less any past 

service costs not yet recognised and the fair value of any of 

the plan’s assets. Where this calculation results in a net surplus, 

the recognised asset is limited to the total of any cumulative 

unrecognised net actuarial losses and past service costs and the 

present value of any economic benefits available in the form of 

refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to 

the plan.

  the recognition of actuarial gains and losses is determined sepa-

rately for each defined benefit plan. to the extent that the net 

cumulative unrecognised gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater 

of the present value of the gross defined benefit commitments 

and the fair value of plan assets, that surplus is recognised in the 

income statement over the expected average remaining  working 

lives of the employees participating in that plan.

 past service costs are recognised as an expense allocated on a 

straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits be-

come vested. to the extent that the benefits are already vested 

following the introduction of, or changes to, a defined benefit 

plan, past service costs are  immediately recognised as an ex-

pense.

 the present value of the gross defined benefit commitments 

and the related service costs are calculated by a qualified actu-

ary using the projected unit credit method. the discount rate 

used is the market yield at reporting date on high quality cor-

porate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms 

of the Group’s estimated gross commitments related to pension 

 benefit payments. the amount recognised in the income state-

ment consists of current service costs, interest costs, the ex-

pected return on any plan assets, and actuarial gains and losses.

Other non-current employee benefits

the net obligation for non-current employee benefits, other than 

pension plans, post-employment life insurance, and medical care, is 

the net amount of future benefits that employees have earned in 

return for their service in current or prior periods. 

 

these benefits are accrued over the employees’ periods of employ-

ment using the accounting methodology similar to that for defined 

benefit pension plans. however, actuarial gains and losses and any 

past service cost are immediately recognised with no bandwidth.

Termination benefits

termination benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense 

when the Group is demonstrably committed to either terminate 

the employment of an employee or group of employees, before the 

normal retirement date, according to a detailed formal plan without 

possibility of withdrawal of the plan, or provide termination benefits 

as a result of an offer made to the employees in order to encourage 

voluntary redundancy. benefits falling due more than 12 months after 

reporting date are discounted to present value.

Remuneration in the form of equity instruments

the share option programmes allow the Group’s employees to ac-

quire shares of spector photo Group nv. the option exercise price 

equals the average market price of the underlying shares during an 

agreed period before the date of the offer.
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no compensation expense is recognised for the options issued be-

fore 7 november 2002 (ifrs 2 transition rules).

share-based payments to employees and other people, who pro-

vided similar services, are measured at fair value of the equity instru-

ments at the moment they are awarded. the fair value is measured 

using a black & scholes model. the fair value, as measured on the date 

of the share-based payments award, is recognised in costs that can 

be spread over any waiting period using the straight-line method.

provisions

provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, if it is probable 

that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 

of the amount of the obligation.

a provision for restructuring is recognised provided the Group has 

approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, identifying at least 

the following: the operation or part of the business concerned, the 

principal locations affected, the location, function and estimated num-

ber of employees who will be compensated for terminating their 

services, the costs related to this, and when the plan will be imple-

mented. 

moreover, the Group has raised a valid expectation among those af-

fected that the restructuring will be carried out. costs relating to the 

ongoing activities of the company are not provided for.

a provision for onerous contracts is recognised if the unavoidable 

cost of meeting its obligations under the contract exceeds the ex-

pected economic benefits to be received from a contract. provisions 

are not recognised for future operating losses.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is 

reasonable assurance that all associated conditions will be met and 

the grant will be received. Government grants should be recognised 

as income over the periods necessary to allocate the grant on a sys-

tematic basis to the related costs that it is intended to compensate.

Where the grants relate to the purchase of an asset, the fair value 

is recorded as a deferred income item that is systematically and ra-

tionally released to the income statement over the expected useful 

life of the asset.

segmented information

the Group’s internal organisational and management structure and 

internal financial accounting is based on the nature of the goods or 

services or groups of related goods or services that the companies 

produce or provide. the segmentation is based on the following op-

erating segments: ‘retail’, ‘imaging’ and ‘corporate’.

segment results include revenue and expenses directly generated by 

a segment, including the relevant portion of revenue and expenses 

reasonably attributable to the segment.

segment assets and liabilities consist of those operating assets and 

liabilities that are directly attributable to the segment or can be al-

located to the segment on a reasonable basis. segment assets and 

liabilities do not include income tax items.

transfer prices between business segments are set ‘at arm’s length’ 

basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties.
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the eXternally acQUired cUstomer relationships 

of spector photo GroUp Under ifrs

customer relationships are classified as intangible assets by ifrs.

customer relationships have an undeniable economic value. after 

all, the investments in customer relations represent the future yield 

of the business. 

the concept of  ‘customer relationships’ is recognised by ias, which 

state in ias 38, paragraph 16:

‘an entity may have a portfolio of customers or a market share 

and expect that, because of its efforts in building customer relation-

ships and loyalty, the customers will continue to trade with the entity. 

however, in the absence of legal rights to protect, or other ways to 

control, the relationships with customers or the loyalty of the cus-

tomers to the entity, the entity usually has insufficient control over 

the expected economic benefits from customer relationships and 

loyalty for such items (e.g. portfolio of customers, market shares, 

customer relationships and customer loyalty) to meet the definition 

of intangible assets. in the absence of legal rights to protect cus-

tomer relationships, exchange transactions for the same or similar 

non-contractual customer relationships (other than as part of a busi-

ness combination) provide evidence that the entity is nonetheless 

able to control the expected future economic benefits flowing from 

the customer relationships. because such exchange transactions also 

provide evidence that the customer relationships are separable, those 

customer relationships meet the definition of an intangible asset.’

to be considered an intangible asset, the customer relationships must 

meet the following criteria:

a. customer relationships must be identifiable

b. the company must have control over the customer relation-

ships

c. future proceeds must result from these customer relationships

the customer relationships of spector photo Group’s mail order 

businesses meet all these criteria: 

a.  spector photo Group’s mail order companies have databases 

at their disposal that contain the name and address of each cus-

tomer relationship, supplemented by important details of each 

individual customer’s order and payment behaviour (such as 

date of last order, order frequency, ordered products, preference 

for certain promotions, correct payment, etc.).

 the customer relations are therefore identifiable and they are 

the subject of exchange, rental and sales transactions with mail 

order companies from other sectors. they are therefore detach-

able (see ias 38, paragraph 12: an asset meets the identifica-

tion criterion if it is detachable and can be sold, rented, or ex-

changed).

b. in compliance with all legal provisions, spector photo Group’s 

mail order companies can approach these customer relation-

ships autonomously without any obligations to any third parties. 

in addition, the existence of previous transactions between the 

company and the customer indicates a contractual tie, even if this 

is not formally recognised. legally speaking, spector possesses an 

exclusive property. for that matter, the company is also legally 

responsible for the protection of the information regarding these 

customer relations (the legal and judicial aspects are dealt with 

in several european guidelines, translated into legal provisions 

by each member state). finally, the afore-mentioned exchange, 

rental, and sales transactions also demonstrate the existence of 

control. the fact that, in addition to rental and sales transactions, 

exchange transactions can also be concluded, demonstrates that 

access by third parties can be restricted.

c. the mail order companies can determine the future business 

volume with each customer relation on a statistical basis. these 

are not assessments or estimates, but mathematical calculations 

according to the ‘lifetime value model”. this model allows the 

calculation of the ‘net present value’ of future economic benefits 

for a group of customer relationships, and takes all elements of 

the income statement into account. because it has sufficient sta-

tistical data on each individual customer, spector can apply this 

model to the customer relationships of its mail order organisa-

tions to a high degree of certainty and reliability. because of the 

changing market in which the Group operates today, verification 

of these statistical models is required on an annual basis.
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recognition of intangible assets according to ifrs

ias 38, paragraph 21 states that an intangible asset must be recogn-

ised if it will in all probability generate future economic benefits for 

the entity and can be reliably measured. the probability criterion is 

always considered to be met by separately acquired intangible assets 

(ias 38, paragraph 25).

the acquisition cost of the customer relationships is substantiated 

by purchase invoices.

the separate acquisition of customer relationships is accomplished 

using various methods. the most common external acquisition 

 methods, besides the acquisition of trading companies securities, re-

tained under ifrs are:

a.  purchase from companies possessing customer relationships

b.  exchange with companies possessing customer relationships

c.  purchase of the right to access a channel by which customer 

relationships can be acquired in a privileged manner

a. Purchase from companies possessing customer relationships

mail order companies within the Group regularly purchase custom-

er relationships files from other mail order companies outside the 

photographic sector. these are customer relationships of companies 

such as la redoute, 3 suisses, etc.

additionally, an invoice is drawn up for each of these transactions.

to acquire customer relationships from another company, the mail 

order organisations must incur costs to prepare the asset for its in-

tended use. for example, a specific offer must be prepared for the 

customer relationships of the selling company. this comprises mainly 

the postal charges and specially printed envelopes containing sepa-

rate acquisition codes, which effectively enable customers accept the 

offer, after which they become acquired customer relationships of 

the spector companies. since these costs are necessary to realise the 

intangible asset, they are considered part of this intangible asset. Gifts 

and business presents, for example, are not included in this context.

an essential difference with publicity is the fact that such transactions 

involve not merely the communication of a message, but that an 

actual specific offer is made to a specific target group of the public. 

thus, not everyone can make use of this offer. for each of these 

offers, a separate acquisition code is defined, which is necessary to 

grant the customers access to the offer, and is also subsequently used 

by spector to gain a detailed insight into the company’s economic 

benefit per customer relationship.

these costs are thoroughly audited, and only those costs that the 

board of directors believes meet the definition of “preparatory 

costs” as specified in ias 38, paragraph 27 are eligible. these only in-

clude the costs that can effectively be directly attributed to the prep-

aration of the asset for its intended use. for spector photo Group, 

thus, these directly attributable costs do not include any advertising 

or promotional costs, but only specific preparatory costs. expenses 

that cannot be part of the cost of an intangible asset, as specified 

in ias 38, paragraph 29, are excluded from this. also, in accordance 

with ias 38, paragraph 30, the initial operating losses are excluded 

from the intangible asset’s carrying amount.

b. Exchange with companies possessing customer relationships

fully in line with the acquisition method described above, customer 

relationships are sometimes exchanged between mail order compa-

nies from different industries, for example between 3 suisses france, 

and extra film france.

the invoices concerned in this context demonstrate that these are 

also separate external acquisitions. since for each outgoing invoice in 

such exchange transactions there is an incoming invoice for the same 

amount, there is no actual cash flow.

in addition, directly attributable expenses are incurred to prepare the 

intangible asset for its intended use.

the invoices for these costs are also capitalised.

c. Purchase of the right to access a channel by which customer relation-

ships can be acquired in a privileged manner

this acquisition method differs from the preceding ones because the 

first customer-supplier transaction occurs upon acquisition. in other 

words: the selling company has not necessarily already concluded any 

sales transaction with its customer relations. yet these persons and 

the company involved have an actual privileged relationship, equal to 

a customer relationship. in all cases, the people involved have indeed 

explicitly or implicitly consented to being contacted by the com-

pany, resulting in the acquisition of a customer relationship. as with 

the previous acquisition methods, these customer relationships can 

make use of a special offer, with its own unique acquisition code that 

is not valid for everyone.

specifically, for example, these concern customer relationships from 

companies selling the boîtes roses and boîtes bleues (the pink and 

blue boxes). such boxes contain specific offers by several companies, 

specifically distributed among new mothers or mothers of toddlers, 

who have explicitly or implicitly agreed to receive these offers. 

in the internet world, this involves the acquisition of relations that 

have registered on a specific website, thereby explicitly consenting to 

a privileged relation with a view to future transactions.
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in view of the privileged relation, in which the consumer grants the 

right for developing a future customer relationship, these relation-

ships also effectively apply as customer relationships. these are also 

externally procured customer relationships, as an invoice is also 

drawn up for this right – in certain cases even based on a fixed 

amount for each effectively acquired customer relationship, or on a 

commission for each effective order.

this last method differs from a “normal” commission arrangement 

because, at the same time, the spector companies acquire the right 

to approach the customer directly for the following transaction - in 

other words, because they have acquired control over these cus-

tomer relationships.

measurement of the customer relations

after examination of the “external acquisition” matter by the statu-

tory auditors committee, under ifrs, the decision was taken to 

retain the three methods mentioned above, selected from a total 

of eight methods. all other acquisition methods were excluded, 

 because they do not qualify for capitalisation under ifrs.

the value at which the externally-acquired customer relationships 

are recognised according to the cost-price model of ias 38, para-

graph 74, are also separated for the sake of clarity into the costs of 

externally-acquired customer relationships and the directly attribut-

able costs.
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companies belonGinG to the GroUp

subsidiaries, fully consolidated ()

name, full address of registered office v.a.t.- or share in

  national number   the capital

   (in %)

 aleXander photo s.a. 1999 2234 620 100.00

 boulevard royal 11, 2449 luxembourg, luxembourg

 dbm color n.v. BE 0402.247.617 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium

 eXtra film ab SE 556 069 600 601 100.00

 14 v. Götalands län, 35 tanum Kommun, sweden

 eXtra film aG CH 213.717 100.00

 hauptstrasse 70, 4132 muttenz, switzerland

 eXtra film a/s NO 919 322 942 100.00

 postboks 197, 7601 levanger, norway

 eXtra film n.v.  BE 0447.697.065 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium

 eXtra film france s.a. FR 48 331 704 122 100.00

 rue du faubourg de douai 128, 59000 lille, france

 eXtra film loGistics aG ch 562.363 100.00

 Grabenstrasse 25, 6340 baar, switzerland

 filmobel n.v. BE 0408.058.709 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium

 fotronic s.a. (in liquidation) BE 0423.052.731 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium

 fÖfoto Kft* 10655302-2-44 100.00

 fehérvári út 104, 1119 budapest, hungary

 hifimmo s.a. LU 234.51.084 100.00

 route de luxembourg, bp 1, 3201 bettembourg, luxembourg 

 hifi international s.a. LU 124.90.336 100.00

 route de luxembourg, bp 1, 3201 bettembourg, luxembourg

 litto-color n.v. (in liquidation) be 0414.004.215 100.00

 Zandvoordestraat 530, 8400 oostende, belgium 

name, full address of registered office v.a.t.- or share in

  national number   the capital

   (in %)

 orc eUrope s.a.r.l.  FR 51 348 331 281 100.00

 rue du faubourg de douai 128, 59000 lille, france

 photo hall france s.a.r.l. FR 70 391 700 440 100.00

 lotissement augny 2000, 57685 augny, france

 photo hall mUltimedia n.v. BE 0477.890.096 100.00

 lusambostraat 36, 1190 brussel, belgium

 photo holdinGs ireland ltd. (liquidated)* 659 45 42 I 100.00

 38/39, fitzwilliam square, dublin 2, ireland

 photomedia n.v. BE 0439.476.019 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium

 photo re ltd. (liquidated)* 659 5115 R 100.00

 38/39,  fitzwilliam square, dublin 2, ireland

 plastic Unit prodUction holdinG s.a. (liquidated)* BE 0431.368.205 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium 

 promo concept investment b.v.b.a. 0423.852.188 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 158, 9230 Wetteren, belgium

 sacap ltd. (liquidated)*  100.00

 Unit a, 19/f, one capital place - 18, luard road, Wanchai, hong Kong

 sacap s.a. FR 19 353 224 694 100.00

 rue logelbach 124, 68000 colmar, france

 spector coordinatiecentrUm n.v. BE 0437.663.406 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium

 spector nederland b.v. NL 6511004B01 100.00

 postbus 10274, 1301 aG almere, the netherlands

 vivian foto ab SE  556334-8100 100.00

 14 v Götalands län, 35 tanum Kommun, sweden

 vivian photo prodUcts n.v. 0428.718.323 100.00

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, 9230 Wetteren, belgium 

* these companies were no longer part of the Group as at 31/12/2009
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Key changes in the scope of consolidation  

the key changes in the scope of consolidation between 2008 and 

2009 are summarised below:

in the second quarter of 2009, more specifically on 4 June 2009, 

the retail division of spector photo Group sold its 100% holding in 

the Hungarian Föfoto Kft via a management buy-out (mbo). this 

sale resulted in a loss of eUr 1,062 (‘000) comprising, on the one 

hand, a non-cash loss of eUr 757 (‘000) resulting from the currency 

translation differences that were transferred on realisation from the 

currency translation differences in the equity to the statement of 

comprehensive income, and, on the other, of eUr 305 (‘000) for 

costs related to completing this transaction, in the 2009 accounts of 

the group. this loss is recognised under the discontinued operations.

in december 2009, the central building of hifi international was 

purchased. for this purpose a new company, Hifimmo sA, was es-

tablished. this company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of hifi inter-

national sa.

of the companies already put into liquidation, the liquidation was 

completed in 2009 for the following companies:

plastic Unit production holding sa, previously a holding company; 

photo re ltd, a company in ireland previously operating as a reinsur-

ance company; photo holdings ireland ltd, the holding company of 

the reinsurance company latterly identified; and sacap hong Kong 

ltd, a company formerly operating as a procurement centre for gad-

gets.

of the companies put into liquidation in previous financial years, 

specifically fotronic sa, a company that formerly carried out trad-

ing in production equipment, litto-color nv, a company operat-

ing in the wholesale photofinishing market, and spector immobilien 

verwaltung, a company whose most important asset - a building in 

dresden - was sold in may 2008, the liquidation has not been com-

pleted yet.

subsidiaries excluded from the consolidation :

name, full address of registered office v.a.t.- or share in

  national number   the capital

   (in %) (1)

flt s.p.a. (2) (as from 1 october 2008) IT 13146200152 49.00

Galleria passarella 1, 20122 milaan, italy

spector immobilien verWaltUnG Gmbh (in liquidation) (2) 241 116 44302 100.00

laufamholzstrasse 171, 90482 nurnberg, Germany

spector verWaltUnG Gmbh (2) 214 116 20551 100.00

laufamholzstrasse 171, 90482 nürnberg, Germany

vh service s.a. (2) BE 0427.390.611 100.00

avenue victor hugo 7, 1420 braine l’alleud, belgium

(1) part of the capital of these companies that is held by companies included in the consolidation and people who act in their own name but at the cost of these companies
(2) flt is the italian lab, active in the photofinishing market. as of the fourth quarter of 2008 recorded as a financial asset. 
 spector immobilien verwaltung Gmbh is a subsidiary for which the object of the company is to rent or sell the remaining property of the group in Germany (the building in dresden). the sale of the building 

was achieved on 28 may 2008. subsequently, the company was put into liquidation, of wich the announcement was published on 10 november 2008.
 spector verwaltung Gmbh was till 2001 active in the market of wholesale photofinishing.
 vh service sa is a company that was active in selling equipment for medical imaging. during 2003, the goodwill and other assets of vh service have been sold.
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(in € ‘000) Retail Imaging Corporate eliminations Continuing activities
Discontinued 

operations Retail

Discontinued 
operations 

Imaging eliminations
spector Photo 

Group

2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

revenue

external revenue  190 373  169 811  75 786  74 167  266 159  243 978 24 394 3 565  290 553  247 542

inter-segment  41  111  726  654  762  777 1 530 1 542  76  76

total revenue  190 414  169 922  76 512  74 821  762  777 -1 530 -1 542  266 159  243 978 24 470 3 565 - 76  290 553  247 542

external other operating income  4 439  2 898  2 779 2 106  64  33  7 282 5 038  809  119  151  8 242 5 157

inter-segment  64  61  319  103  383  164

total other operating income  4 439  2 898  2 843 2 167  383  136 - 383 - 164  7 282 5 038  809  119  151  8 242 5 157

profit/loss (-) from operating 
activities, before non-recurring 
items  7 632 3 127 - 1 342 - 1 976 - 532 - 530 5 758  620 -1 653 - 151 - 20

profit/loss (-) from operating 
activities  7 632 3 127 - 2 128 - 1 976 - 532 - 530 4 972  620 -1 653 - 151 - 20

financial result - 3 901 - 2 876 - 6 055 - 3 789  2 373  2 372 - 7 582 - 4 293

interest revenue  166  24  408  49 2 490 2 413 -2 476 -2 431  587  55

interest expense  4 072 2 901  2 853  2 594  26  27 -2 476 -2 431 4 475 3 090

profit/loss (-) before taxes 3 731  251 - 8 183 - 5 765 1 841 1 842 -2 610 -3 673

income tax expense (-)/income -1 311 -1 042  400 1 901  3  88 - 908  947

profit/loss (-) from continuing 
activities  2 420 - 792 - 7 782 - 3 864  1 844  1 929 -3 518 -2 726

profit/loss (-) from discontinued 
operations -4 229 -1 062

profit/loss (-) for the period - 7 748 -3 788

attributable to equity holders of 
the parent company - 7 748 -3 788

Notes to the coNsolidated fiNaNcial statemeNts 2009
seGmented information - bUsiness seGments
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(in € ‘000) Retail Imaging Corporate eliminations Continuing activities
Discontinued 

operations Retail

Discontinued 
operations 

Imaging eliminations
spector Photo 

Group

2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

total operating segment assets  67 704  65 903  50 875  46 332  9 128  9 756 - 8 310 - 8 724  119 397  113 267  5 946  837  681  136 505  121 541

Unallocated assets 1 127 311 1 475 573 40 040 41 314 - 32 340 - 34 604  10 302  7 594 22

total operating segment liabilities  27 067  27 526  15 891  13 130  901  851 - 2 310 - 399  41 550  41 108 3 826 2 810  2 653 - 1 955  105 946  92 444

Unallocated liabilities 52 053 50 572 41 078 40 689 328 351 - 38 340 - 40 974  55 118  50 638 2 643

total capital expenditures 
property, plant & equipment  797 3 940 1 753 2 181  10  2 560  6 121  255 2 815 6 121

total capital expenditures 
intangible assets other than 
goodwill  29  38  2 407  2 224  2 436  2 262  3 2 439 2 262

depreciations and other non-
cash expenses  2 684 2 155  7 606  6 065  9  2  10 299  8 222  539 - 210  10 627  8 222

impairment losses recognised

     in operating result  162  150  312 1 459 1 771

     in equity 2 139 2 139

number of persons employed in 
ftes  end of the period  499  486  286  323  3  2   788   811   171  959  811

(in € ’000)  2008 2009

revenue belgium  144 238  136 629

revenue luxembourg  56 145  53 671

revenue all other foreign countries  65 776  53 678

total spector photo Group  266 159  243 978

non-current assets

belgium  32 853  32 367

all other foreign countries  17 240  17 403

total spector photo Group  50 093  49 770

GeoGraphical information
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the reporting of spector photo Group covers two segments, the 

retail Group and the imaging Group, completed with the corpo-

rate and the discontinued operations.

-  the valuation of the result of the segments does not differ 

from the valuation of the result of the entity. this also applies to 

the valuation of the assets and liabilities. the basis for reporting 

over transactions between reportable segments is determined 

‘at arm’s length’.

-  relating the information of the products concerning income 

from sales to external customers for the entity as a whole, we 

refer to the segment information table.

-  there is no dependence on major customers relating the dif-

ferent segments.

Retail segment

the retail segment consists entirely of the retail Group operating 

division. this division consists of the legal entity photo hall multi-

media nv (belgium) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries photo hall 

france sarl, hifi international (luxembourg) sa and hifimmo sa 

(luxembourg). the retail Group is centrally structured under pho-

to hall multimedia nv and is also centrally managed at operational 

level by the managing director of photo hall multimedia nv, who 

reports on all of this Group’s activities directly to the executive 

chairman of spector photo Group nv.

this division and its entities all operate in the same field: the retail 

trade in consumer electronics and related products. 

the customers in this segment are also the final consumers in the 

countries in which this division’s entities operate.

all entities of this division primarily market their products via the 

channel of retail stores. although all entities also operate websites 

on internet, the internet sales are not yet significant within the total 

operating income. in luxembourg, there is also a wholesale division 

that operates in france, Germany and benelux.

these entities have similar levels of investment requirements and 

working capital, and generate comparable gross margins and ebit 

margins. the retail Group has a risk profile that differs from that of 

the imaging Group. 

Imaging segment

the imaging segment also consists entirely of one operating divi-

sion – the imaging Group. this division contains the legal entity 

photomedia nv (belgium) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. the 

imaging Group is centrally organised under photomedia nv and is 

also centrally managed at operational level by the managing direc-

tor of photomedia nv, who reports on all of the imaging Group’s 

activities directly to the executive chairman of spector photo 

Group nv.

the operating entities within the imaging Group provide goods 

and services that are directly related with both analogue and digital 

photography in the broad sense. these are mainly products and 

services regarding the production of photo prints, which implies a 

specific production process for ‘photofinishing’. several entities in 

the imaging Group deal in goods required for taking photos and 

printing them.

the final customers for these activities are almost always con-

sumers. for the majority of the imaging Group’s entities, the end-

consumer is also the direct customer. the marketing concept that 

filmobel nv uses under the spector™ brand name is also aimed 

at the end-user, although photographers are the direct customers. 

the distribution channels are aligned with the market character-

istics, which are often determined nationally and culturally. While 

these distribution channels in the traditional ‘analogue’ market can 

be used to justify separate segmentation, this is being flattened 

out in the new, digital market. Generally, the differences between 

mail order and trade appear to be smoothing out on the digital 

market. an early trend can be identified in which the pricing in 

these distribution channels is converging and, at the same time, so 

are the relative marketing efforts. it is also already clear today that 

the boundaries between the distribution channels will not only blur, 

but will also even be abandoned, so that a cross-channel concept 

will emerge. for example, consumers will increasingly often order 

photo prints via internet, then sometimes want the photos deliv-

ered to their homes by mail and, at other times, want to collect the 

photos from a retail outlet in their neighbourhood.

the returns from virtually all the entities in this division are of simi-

lar size – notwithstanding any national, culture-related or channel-

specific differences. these entities have similar levels of investment 

requirements and working capital, and generate comparable gross 

margins and ebit margins. one of the imaging Group’s most im-

portant challenges is to retain the low cost level that has been 

achieved. this goal can only be realised within the imaging Group 

as a whole, and not in a smaller entity or group.

specific key performance indicators have been identified for the 

development of the imaging Group’s digital operations. the returns 

of these entities clearly differ from entities in the retail Group (see 

above). the criteria for internal controlling are not relevant for the 

retail Group. the imaging Group has a risk profile that is different 

to that of the retail Group.

Discontinued operations

the discontinued operations concern both the imaging Group and 

the retail Group.

more information about this is included in note 19 ‘assets held for 

sale’.
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2. revenUes

in 2008, spector photo Group realised revenues of eUr  

266,159 (‘000).

in 2008, the retail Group recorded a fall of 2.4% in its revenues, 

which fell by 4% in belgium. in luxemburg, a 2,4% revenue increase 

was realised, thanks to a strong first half-year. besides the economic 

conditions, the decrease in the number of shops from 108 to 104 

also had a negative impact on the development of the revenues. 

the hifi, tv, and computer games product groups realised higher 

sales. lower sales figures were recorded for telecom (Gsm mobile 

phones), computer hardware and software, and video/dvd. 

the revenues in imaging recorded a limited sales increase of 0.4% 

in 2008. since the fourth quarter, the 49% holding in the italian lab 

flt was no longer proportionally consolidated. the revenues from 

digital mail order activities of extrafilm increased over the entire year 

by 40% compared to 2007. digital produced 70% of the revenues, 

with 30% still analogue. the new product lines, such as photo books, 

calendars and photos on canvas showed exponential growth.

in the 2009 financial year, the Group realised revenues of eUr 

243,978 (‘000).

the retail operations in the photo hall Group realised revenues 

amounting to eUr 169,922 (‘000) in 2009, a fall of 10.8% in com-

parison with eUr 190,414 (‘000) in 2008. photo hall in belgium 

and hifi international in luxembourg saw a fall in the number of 

their sales transactions by a little more than 4%, with price deflation 

responsible for the remainder of the drop in revenue. in the product 

lines, mobile telephony and reflex cameras were the only lines that 

showed increases in revenue, in both belgium and luxembourg. in 

luxemburg, hifi international achieved an important double-figure 

increase in revenue with its recently introduced range of white 

goods. the top three in the product ranges of photo hall consist of 

it, telecom and televisions. at hifi international, these are it, televi-

sions and cameras. 

the revenues from the imaging Group amounted to eUr 

74,821 (‘000) in 2009, a decrease of 2.2% in comparison with 2008. 

the revenues from mail order activities of extrafilm increased over 

the entire year by 4.5% compared to 2008. digital stood for 83% 

of the revenue, analogue represented the remaining  17%. in 2009, 

the growth of digital photography could therefore compensate the 

almost 50% fall in analogue photography. new photoproducts, such 

as photo books, photo calendars, photo gifts, and photos on canvas 

continued to increase their relative importance. filmobel, the hard-

ware wholesaler to the professional photographer, again realised an 

increase in its revenue in 2009. the spectortm brand, which is used 

exclusively for supplying specialised photographic businesses, saw its 

revenue decrease in 2009. 

3. other income

the marketing support from strategic suppliers to the retail Group 

represented the most important share in the other income and 

amounted to more than 65% for 2008 and 2009. the other income 

for the retail Group in both 2008 and 2009 is mainly related to rental 

income, charged-on costs, and income repaid by insurance for loss or 

damage claims.

the other income of the imaging Group dropped with 24.19% in 

2009. 

the most important components for the imaging Group are: the sell-

ing of waste materials from the laboratories to recycling companies, 

the recovered outstanding payments from mail order customers, un-

used discount vouchers, and marketing contributions from the chan-

nel of the specialised photographic businesses.

4. trade Goods, raW materials and consUmables

the costs of trade goods, raw materials and consumables decreased 

with 7.8% in 2009 compared to 2008.

in the retail Group, the cost of trade goods, raw materials and con-

sumables decreased by -1.6% in 2008, and thus less than the decrease 

in revenues attributable to pressure on margins. in 2009, the total cost 

of trade goods, raw materials and consumables decreased by –11.1%.   

due to the continued growth of the revenues from digital mail order 

operations and partly due to the positive impact of hardware whole-

sale for the professional photographer, the costs of trade goods, raw 

materials and consumables increased for the imaging Group, both in 

2008 by +13%, and in 2009 by +3.6%.

5. employee eXpenses

(in € '000) 2008 2009

Wages and salaries 24 729 24 865

social security contributions 6 088 5 691

other employee expenses 1 008  984

contribution to defined contribution 

plans  244  231

increase/decrease (-) in the defined 

benefit obligations - 11 - 51

increase/decrease (-) in the other long-

term employee benefit liabilities  36  8

total 32 095 31 728

in 2008, the employee expenses decreased with 1.6%. the main con-

tribution to this was the decrease of the imaging Group’s employee 

expenses with -8% as a result in the drop in the number of employ-

ees. the retail Group saw an increase in the employee expenses with 

3% as a result of the indexed pay rise for a stable staffing level. 

in 2009, the employee expenses decreased with -1.1%. the employee 

expenses in the retail Group remained at the same level as 2008. in 

the imaging Group, the employee expenses decreased with -3.2%. 

this decrease is mainly attributable to the employee expenses of flt, 

three-quarters of which were still proportionally consolidated in 2008. 

the number of employees expressed as full time equivalents (ftes) 

increased as at the year-end to 811 compared to 788 as at year-end 

2008. this increase is mainly attributable to the imaging Group.
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Remunerations and interests of the members of the Executive Committee (in € ‘000)

Member of the 

executive Committee

Fixed 

remuneration 

component (1)

Variable 

remuneration 

component (1) (2)

Other 

remuneration 

components (3)

Number of share options 

(date of option plan, 

exercise price) (4)

Number of warrants 

(exercise price per 

warrant)  (4)

1.tonny van doorslaer 291 36 7 7 500 (2002 - eUr 10.65) 400 000 (eUr 3.36)

2. stef de corte 5 500 (2002 - eUr 10.65) 150 000 (eUr 3.36)

3. christophe levie 50 000 (eUr 3.36)

totaal 1, 2 en 3 806 111 13  600 000 (eUr 3.36)

(1) Cost to the company, i.e. gross amount including social security contributions (employee’s and employer’s).
(2) the variable component is provided in the form of a bonus plan that is determined each year by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. this bonus plan includes financial targets. 
(3) the other components refer to the costs for pensions, insurance policies, and the cash value of the other benefits in kind (expense allowances, company car, etc.). 
(4) For the exercise periods: please see page 89-90 of this document.
 

6. depreciation, amortisation and Write-doWns

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

amortisation and write-downs of 

intangible assets, goodwill and trading 

securities 6 097 5 018

depreciation and write-downs  of  

property, plant and equipment 4 317 3 764

Write-downs on inventories - 106 - 148

Write-downs on trade receivables  333  306

total 10 642 8 941

in 2008, the depreciation and amortisation decreased further. the 

depreciation and amortisation in the retail Group remained almost 

stable. the decrease of the depreciation and amortisation in the im-

aging Group is mainly attributable to the amortisation on intangible 

assets. most of the decrease in the depreciation on the property, plant 

and equipment was compensated by the increase in the write-downs 

on the trade receivables.

in 2009, the retail Group recorded a fall in depreciation, amortisa-

tion and write-downs of -23.46%. this fall is mainly attributable to the 

depreciation and write-downs on property, plant and equipment. the 

depreciation, amortisation and write-downs in the imaging Group 

dropped overall with 13.1%, which is mainly attributable to the in-

tangible assets.

7. other operatinG eXpenses

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

services & others costs 32 922 31 112

other operating taxes  553  314

loss on disposal of intangible assets, 

property, plant and equipment  32  20

loss on disposal of trade receivables  312  264

other operating charges  429  770

provisions : increase/decrease (-) - 141 - 677

total 34 107 31 803

in 2008, the other operating expenses decreased by eUr 4,868 (‘000). 

in the retail Group, the other operating expenses show a rise of 5% 

due mainly to the increase of rental costs and the higher energy 

prices. in contrast, the costs in the imaging Group decreased by 26%. 

this was mainly due to continued cost control of marketing and 

overhead costs. there has also been a significant fall in the postal 

costs due to the transition to digital photography and as a result 

of digital marketing campaigns instead of mailings and door-to-door 

leaflets. 

the other operating expenses further decreased by -6.76% in 2009. 

in the retail Group, the other operating expenses decreased by 

–1.95%. the decrease of the other operating expenses is mainly at-

tributable to the imaging Group’s decrease by -10.81%. in particular, 

the services and the decrease in provisions contributed to this.

8.  profit/loss (-) from operatinG activities before 

non-recUrrinG items

in 2008, the Group achieved a recurrent operating result of eUr 

5,758 (‘000) from the continuing operations. spector photo Group 

achieved a recurrent operating result of eUr 620 (‘000) in 2009.

9.  non-recUrrinG items from operatinG activities

the non-recurring items for 2008, amounting to minus eUr 786 

(‘000) are attributable to the imaging Group. the non-recurrent items 

mainly consist of the costs for closing the site at villeneuve d’asq due 

to centralisation in belgium of the services of extrafilm france, the 

company that performs the mail order activities in france under the 

brand name extrafilmtm. the marketing of extrafilm france remains 

established in france (paris). in 2009, the non-recurring items from 

operating activities are zero.
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10. financial resUlt

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

interest income  587  55

interest expense -4 475 -3 090

net gain/loss (-) on realisation of other 

receivables & non-current financial assets  2 - 10

addition (-)/reversal of impairment  on 

other receivables & non-current financial 

assets - 99  30

net foreign exchange gains/losses (-) -1 182 -1 279

other financial income/expenses (-) - 10  1

financial cost-net, before non-recurring 

items -5 177 -4 293

non-recurring financial items -2 405

financial cost-net -7 582 -4 293

Recurring financial items

the financial result before non-recurring items amounted to minus 

eUr 4,293 (‘000) in 2009, compared to minus eUr 5,177 (‘000) in 

2008.

the improvement by eUr 884 (‘000) is mainly the result of lower 

financial interest expenses. the unfavourable exchange rate differ-

ences increased slightly. the exchange rate differences are attribut-

able to various transactions between spector photo Group nv and 

its subsidiaries in countries outside the eurozone. the exchange rate 

differences mainly concern the translation differences for the swiss 

franc and the swedish krona.

Non-recurring financial items

the non-recurring financial items amounting to minus eUr 2,405 

(‘000) in 2008 are related to write-downs recognised on a number 

of assets. the 49% holding in flt amounting to minus eUr 1,689 

(‘000) was fully written off for prudential reasons. a write-down of 

minus eUr 543 (‘000) on the receivable from spector immobilien 

verwaltung Gmbh was recognised as a result of the sale of the com-

pany’s assets; the holding in this company was also written down by 

minus eUr 25 (‘000). in addition, following the completion of the 

liquidation of fotoinvest cvba, another write-down of minus eUr 

148 (‘000) had to be recognised. in 2009, the non-recurring financial 

items were zero.

the financial statements were prepared using the following exchange 

rates.

Currency 

exchange rates

Closing rate Average rate

2008 2009 2008 2009

swiss franc 1.4850 1.4836 1.5786 1.5076

danish krone 7.4506 7.4418 7.4558 7.4460

hungarian forint 266.7000 270.4200 251.0483 281.4375

norwegian 

krone 9.7500 8.3000 8.2858 8.6892

swedish krona 10.8700 10.2520 9.6833 10.5874

american dollar 1.3917 1.4406 1.4726 1.3963
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11. income taX income/eXpenses (-)

Recognised in the income statement

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

current tax expenses (-)/income

taxes on the result for the financial year -1 612 - 973

adjustments to taxes for preceding periods  105 - 558

addition to provisions for taxes - 34 - 34

Utilisation and write-back from provisions for taxes

-1 541 -1 565

deferred taxes

originating and reversal of temporary differences  634 2 512

Utilisation of preceding years' losses - 1

  633 2 512

income tax expenses (-)/income recognised in the income statement - 908  946

Reconciliation of effective income tax expenses (-)/income

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

tax calculated at the theoretical tax rate* -3 672 -6 367

profit/loss (-) before tax -2 610 -3 673

theoretical tax rate 32.05% 25.84%

impact of tax excempt revenues 1 217 4 510

impact of non-deductible expenses -1 322 - 93

tax deduction for risk capital 1 366 1 245

impact of utilised tax losses  870 - 315

increase in provisions concerning tax claims - 34 - 34

over/under (-) provided in preceding years  105 - 558

other - 72  46

effective current income tax expenses (-)/income -1 541 -1 566

impact of deferred taxes  633 2 512

income tax expenses (-)/income recognised in the income statement - 908  946

* The theoretical tax rate is calculated as the weighted average of the domestic theoretical tax rates applicable to profits of the taxable entities in 

the countries concerned.

the non-tax-deductible expenses consist mainly of write-downs on 

non-current financial assets, non-deductible car expenses, reception 

expenses and canteen expenses, non-deductible taxes, cash fines and 

social benefits such as meal vouchers.

in view of the overall loss situation, an effective tax rate is not ap-

plicable to the group as a whole for 2008, nor for 2009.
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12. property, plant and eQUipment

(in € ‘000)

Land & buildings

Plant,machinery & 

equipment

Furniture,fixtures & 

vehicles

Assets under 

construction total

acquisition value

balance at end of previous year  20 804  35 538  21 054   4  77 399

mutation

acquisitions  3 026  2 229   866  6 121

sales & disposals (-) - 5 493 -  389 - 5 882

other transfers   3 -  3

translation differences   193   57   9   258

balance at end of current period  24 023  32 330  21 543    77 896

depreciation and impairment

balance at end of previous year  12 307  31 608  15 224  59 138

mutation

depreciation   602  1 683  1 480  3 764

sales and disposals (-) - 5 409 -  383 - 5 792

translation differences   124   12   9     145

balance at end of current period  13 033  27 894  16 329  57 256

carrying amount

at end of previous year  8 497  3 930  5 830   4  18 260

at end of current period  10 990  4 436  5 214    20 640

leased assets, reported in the table above, which the Group leases in the form of financial leases, contain:

(in € ‘000) Acquisition value Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

Carrying amount

plant, machinery & equipment  1 748 - 1 311   437

furniture, fixtures & vehicles   51 -  25   26

total leased assets  1 799 - 1 336   463
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recognition at fair value used as the deemed cost

in accordance with ifrs 1, it was decided to measure buildings and 

land at the date of transition to ifrs at fair value and to use this fair 

value as the deemed cost at that date. 

as a result of this option in the transition to ifrs on 1 January 2004, 

a gain of eUr 3,084 (‘000) was recognised for the land, translated 

at the closing rate on 31 december 2009. this additional value con-

cerns land of the subsidiaries photo hall multimedia nv, fotronic nv, 

extrafilm (sweden) ab, and promo concept investment bvba.

in 2007, the building of fotronic nv in braine-l’alleud (belgium) was 

sold. the –at the transition to ifrs - revaluation gain of this building 

amounted eUr 544 (‘000) and is, as the building itself, no longer 

recorded as assets.

the determination of the fair value of the land and buildings 

mentioned above was performed by the accredited assessors va-

lorem expertises (belgium) and claesson Konsult (sweden). the  

properties were valued as unencumbered by tenancy. the costs of 

the transaction, such as costs for registration, civil-law notary, possible 

vat, publicity and estate agent’s fees, were not included. since the as-

sessors noted that there was no market data available, in view of the 

specialised category of the properties and that these assets are sel-

dom sold, except as premises in use by a company, these assets were 

recognised at their ‘depreciated replacement value’ in accordance 

with ias 16. this means that the starting point is an estimate of the 

cost for rebuilding the property, including the cost of deeds, the costs 

of preparing the site, the construction costs and all applicable taxes. 

this initial recognition value is then depreciated for expenses includ-

ing the commercial and physical age of the buildings, the cyclic eco-

nomic conditions, and losses in value associated with any sale.

Without the selected option of recognising land and buildings at 

their fair value, the net carrying amount at the prior financial year-

end would amount to eUr 5,987 (‘000) instead of eUr 8,497 (‘000). 

as at the end of the current period under review, this would have 

resulted in a net carrying amount of eUr 8,450(‘000) instead of eUr 

10,990 (‘000).

net carrying amount

Evolution 2008

the net carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment de-

creased by eUr 8,754 (‘000) between 2007 and 2008. 

this decrease is mainly attributable to the recognition of the hun-

garian entity föfoto Kft under ‘discontinued operations’, with which 

the property, plant and equipment are recognised as ‘assets held 

for sale’ (minus eUr 2,197 (‘000)). the recognised revaluation gains 

on the land and buildings of this entity were reversed (minus eUr 

3,176 (‘000)). 

the change in the consolidation method for the italian subsidiary 

flt spa, in which this entity has now been recognised as a financial 

asset and is no longer proportionally consolidated, reduced the net 

carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment by minus eUr 

697 (‘000).

furthermore, the net carrying amount decreased due to an imbal-

ance between the investment rhythm and depreciation. for the 

2008 financial year, the investments amounted to eUr 2,815 (‘000), 

whereas the depreciation amounted to minus eUr 4,924 (‘000).  

exchange rate changes also negatively affected the net carrying 

amount by minus eUr 315 (‘000).

Evolution 2009

the net carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment in-

creased by eUr 2,380 (‘000) between 2008 and 2009. 

for the 2009 financial year, the investments amounted to eUr 

6,121 (‘000), whereas the depreciation amounted to minus eUr 

3,764 (‘000).

also the exchange rate fluctuations had a positive effect on the net 

carrying amount for eUr 113 (‘000).

investments in the retail Group

the majority of the retail Group’s shops are rented. however, the 

main building of photo hall in vorst, belgium is owned by the Group. 

the central building of hifi international, bettembourg – luxem-

bourg was purchased for eUr 3 000 (‘000). other investments in 

property, plant and equipment mainly concern the furnishing of new 

shops and the refurbishments of existing shops — mostly under the 

brand of photo hall or hifi international. in 2008, these investments 

amounted to eUr 1,052 (‘000); in 2008 an amount of eUr 849 

(‘000) was invested. 

investments in the imaging Group

the imaging Group invested mainly in machines for processing digital 

pictures to photo books and photo gifts, i.e. eUr 2,008  (‘000). the 

investments relating the optimisation of the datacenter amount to 

eUr 512 (‘000). other investments in property, plant and equipment 

relate to a.o. minilabs and hardware.
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13. consolidation GoodWill and other GoodWill

(in € ‘000) Consolidation 

goodwill 

Other goodwill total

Gross carrying amount

balance at end of previous year  46 822  13 448  60 270

sales & disposals (-)   62   62

disposals through business divestiture (-) -  820 -  820

translation differences   323   323

balance at end of current period  46 002  13 832  59 834

amortisation and impairment

balance at end of previous year  29 728  11 024  40 753

mutation

amortisation   353   353

sales and disposals (-)   62   62

disposals through business divestiture (-) -  820 -  820

translation differences   323   323

balance at end of current period  28 908  11 762  40 670

carrying amount

at end of previous year  17 094  2 423  19 517

at end of current period  17 094  2 070  19 164

on the one hand, this item concerns the consolidation goodwill, with 

the main components being: eUr 6,932 (‘000) for photo hall (bel-

gium and luxembourg) and eUr 5,254 (‘000) for extrafilm scan-

dinavia. because of the sale of the hungarian entity and the liquida-

tion of the entities plastic Unit production sa and photo re ltd, 

the consolidation goodwill decreased with eUr 820 (‘000) in gross  

carrying amount and amortisations. the net carrying amount re-

mained unchanged.   on the other, this item also contains local 

goodwill of eUr 1,820 (‘000) for shops in the retail Group and eUr 

250 (‘000) goodwill for the customer file of positif Group, which was 

acquired by the imaging Group. neither in 2008, nor in 2009 were 

there any acquisitions; the net carrying amount for local goodwill 

continued to be amortised.

in accordance with ias 36, the company performed impairment 

tests at the end of december in both 2008 and 2009 concerning 

the identified cash-generating units to examine whether they had 

suffered any impairment loss. these tests demonstrated that in each 

case the recoverable amount of the entities was higher than the  

carrying amount of the entity. consequently, no impairment needed 

to be recognised for the continuing operations.

the results of the tests for the four most important cash-generating 

units are examined in more detail below.

these four business units combined represent the total net carrying 

amount of the consolidated goodwill. this concerns the cash-gener-

ating business units: mail order (belgium, the netherlands, france, 

switzerland, scandinavia...); hifi international, operating in the retail 

consumer electronics market in luxembourg and france; photo 

hall belgium, operating in the retail consumer electronics market in 

belgium; and spector bene – the cash-generating entity that con-

tains the operations under the spectortm concept and the related 

wholesale business in photo-linked products, with which the spec-

tortm concept provides a full range of offerings for photofinishing 

and photo-related products to its customers, who are professional 

photographers in belgium and the netherlands.

mail order

the net carrying amount of the consolidated goodwill that was at-

tributed to this entity was eUr 9,550 (‘000) as at 31 december 

2009.

the recoverable amount is higher than the net carrying amount 

stated above. the recoverable amount is calculated on the basis of 

the value in use. 

this calculation uses projections of the future free cash flows for 

the five coming financial years and adds a continuing annual growth 

of 2%. the projections for 2010 correspond with the budgets ap-

proved by the board of directors, without taking account of the cost 

savings that could result from the restructuring measures still to be 

implemented. the projections for 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014 are 

based on prudent extrapolations by the management. the continu-

ing annual growth of 2% is justified by the permanent nature of the 

activities, including an increase in the overheads due to inflation and 

a conservative development in operating income that takes account 

of the changing market conditions. 

the growth rates in the projections are results of the individual de-

velopments for each product group: (i) a fall in the operating income 

from analogue photography, based on the developments in recent 

years and confirmed for coming years by several market studies. 
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this fall is the result of a decrease in the number of customers using 

analogue photography, with which the operating income for each 

customer remains stable. With effect from 2010, the weight of ana-

logue will be very limited within the total operating income as a re-

sult of which this constant fall has little impact on the development 

of the total mail-order operations;  (ii) a rise in the number of digital 

customers in accordance with the database model. this increase is 

the combination of, on the one hand, attracting new customers in 

pursuance of the continuing increase in the penetration rate of digital 

cameras and the marketing campaigns and, on the other, the dynam-

ics in the composition of the customer base in which the proportion 

of new customers in relation to the total number of customers is 

decreasing year after year; (iii) an increase in the average operating 

income from each digital customer. this increase results from the 

increasing supply of products other than traditional photos, such as 

photo books, photo calendars, photo gifts and photos on canvas, 

with a higher price for each order. this market development from 

traditional photos to new products is also confirmed by various mar-

ket studies. 

the results of these calculations are discounted at 11.61%, for the 

coming five years. this discount rate reflects a market-based return 

on equity and loan capital, the current balance between equity and 

loan capital for this cash-generating unit and the estimates of addi-

tional risks and volatility for the potential developments in the mar-

ket in which this entity operates.

hifi international luxembourg

the net carrying amount of the consolidated goodwill that was at-

tributed to this entity was eUr 3,595 (‘000) as at 31 december 

2009.

the recoverable amount is higher than the net carrying amount 

stated above. the recoverable amount is calculated on the basis of 

the value in use. 

this calculation takes the projections of the future free cash flows for 

the coming four financial years and adds a continuing annual growth 

of 2%. While the projections for 2010 correspond with the budgets 

approved by the board of directors, the projections for 2011, 2012, 

2013 and 2014 are based on prudent extrapolations by the manage-

ment. the continuing annual growth of 2% is justified by the perma-

nent nature of the activities, reflecting an increase in overhead costs 

due to inflation. the most important assumptions are a stable free 

cash flow for the period 2010 to 2013, and a stable gross margin. 

the results of this calculation are discounted at 9.37%. this discount 

rate reflects a market-based return on equity and loan capital in their 

current mutual balance.

photo hall belgium

the net carrying amount of the consolidated goodwill that was at-

tributed to this entity was eUr 3,337 (‘000) as at 31 december 

2009.

the recoverable amount is higher than the net carrying amount 

stated above. the recoverable amount is calculated on the basis of 

the value in use. 

this calculation takes the projections of the future free cash flows 

for the coming four financial years and adds a continuing annual 

growth of 2%. the projections for 2010 correspond with the budgets  

approved by the board of directors, without taking account of the 

cost savings that could result from restructuring measures that could 

still be implemented. the projections for 2011, 2012 and 2013 are 

based on extrapolations by the management. the continuing annual 

growth of 2% is justified by the permanent nature of the activities, 

reflecting an increase in overhead costs due to inflation. the most 

important assumptions are a stable free cash flow for the period 

2010 to 2013, and a stable gross margin.

this calculation also uses a discount rate of 9.37% and reflects a 

market-based return on equity and loan capital in their current mu-

tual balance.

spector belgium and netherlands

the net carrying amount of the consolidated goodwill that was 

attributed to this entity was eUr 612 (‘000) as at 31 december 

2009.

the recoverable amount is higher than the net carrying amount 

stated above. the recoverable amount is calculated on the basis of 

the value in use. 

this calculation takes the projections of the future free cash flows for 

the five coming financial years and adds a continuing annual growth 

of 2%. While the projections for 2010 correspond with the bud-

gets approved by the board of directors, the projections for 2011, 

2012, 2013 and 2014 are based on prudent extrapolations by the 

management. the continuing annual growth of 2% is justified by the 

permanent nature of the activities, including an increase in the over-

heads due to inflation and a conservative development in operat-

ing income that takes account of the changing market conditions. 

the results of these calculations are discounted at 10.78%, for the  

coming five years. these discount rates reflect: a market-based re-

turn on equity and loan capital, the current balance between equity 

and loan capital for this cash-generating unit, and the estimates of 

additional risks and volatility for the potential developments in the 

market in which this entity operates.
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14.  intanGible assets other than GoodWill

intangible assets mainly concern the externally acquired customer 

relationships of the mail-order enterprises in the imaging Group 

of eUr 8,828 (‘000) and, to a limited extent, patents, licences and 

software developed in-house. page 63 of this document provides 

more detailed information on the externally acquired customer re-

lationships.

Up until 2004, there was a relative balance between the newly ac-

quired customer relationships and the amortisation associated with 

them. because of the transition from analogue to digital photography,  

the imaging Group calls on other techniques and instruments to 

acquire new customers. these techniques qualify on fewer of the 

criteria for recognition as intangible assets. compared to eUr 2,110 

(‘000) in acquisitions of external customer relationships, there was 

eUr 4,800 (‘000) in amortisation of external customer relation-

ships in 2008. in 2009, this concerned eUr 1,520 (‘000) in acquisi-

tions of external customer relationships contrasting with eUr 3,926 

(‘000) in amortisation. 

the net carrying amount for concessions, patents and licences has 

increased slightly with eUr 5 (‘000) compared with 2008. the in-

vestments amounted to eUr 742 (‘000) for the 2009 financial year, 

and mainly concern investments in the context of designs for photo 

books and photo gifts. no software developed in-house was capita-

lised in 2009. amortisation in the 2009 financial year amounted to 

eUr 738 (‘000) for this item. 

the assumptions concerning the future of the intangible assets 

other than goodwill and trading securities, mainly the externally-

acquired customer relationships, are closely connected with the 

strategy of the imaging Group concerning the transition from ana-

logue to digital photography – as described in the market risks on 

(in € ‘000) Concessions, 

patents, licenses, 

etc.

Development 

expenses 

capitalised

Customer 

relationships

total

acquisition value

balance at end of previous year  15 361   75  69 178  84 613

mutation 

acquisitions   742  1 520  2 262

sales & disposals (-) -  496 -  496

other transfers   5 -  5

translation differences   53  1 527  1 581

balance at end of current period  15 665   70  72 224  87 959

amortisation and impairment

balance at end of previous year  14 228   73  57 996  72 298

mutation

amortisation   738  3 926  4 665

sales and disposals (-) -  496 -  496

other transfers   3 -  3

translation differences   53  1 473  1 526

balance at end of current period  14 527   70  63 396  77 992

carrying amount

at end of previous year  1 133   1  11 181  12 315

at end of current period  1 138  8 828  9 966

page 100 of this document  – and the translation of this strategy in 

the business plan that is the basis of the impairment tests (see pages 

77 and following).

the development of the total customer portfolio and therefore also 

the development of the customer relationships acquired externally, 

will be the result of future efforts invested in acquiring new custom-

ers. expenditure concerned is only incurred under the prerequisite 

of profitable growth, measured using the ‘lifetime value’ concept. 

expenditure within the `lifetime value’ concept is only allowed for 

acquiring customers that have a payback period of less than three 

years, in which the payback is calculated on the basis of expected 

future cash flows.

as a result of the combination of amortisation on intangible assets 

on the one hand and, on the other, limiting the capital expenditure 

by means of the “lifetime value’ concept, the risks related to these 

assets are limited.
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15. available-for-sale investments

promo concept investment (pci) bvba, a subsidiary, owns the shares 

in the German company spector immobilien verwaltung Gmbh, 

whose most important asset, a building in dresden, was sold in may 

2008. this company was put into liquidation in november 2008 and, 

partly due to this, the holding in this company was written down by 

minus eUr 25 (‘000) and recognised under the non-recurring finan-

cial items.

16. other non-cUrrent financial assets

this item contains all the non-consolidated investments. this concerns unlisted financial assets of which the fair value cannot be reliably deter-

mined. the fair value is deemed to be equal to the cost adjusted for write-downs. 

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

other non-current financial assets, opening balance

      Gross amount 3 024 1 155

      accumulated impairment losses (-) -2 975 -1 106

decreases through sales and other movements (-) -1 869

effect of exchange rate changes

accumulated impairment losses (-) decreases due to sales and other movements 1 869

accumulated impairment losses (-) from effect of exchange rate changes

other non-current financial assets, closing balance

      Gross amount 1 155 1 155

      accumulated impairment losses (-) -1 106 -1 106

other non-current financial assets  49  49
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17.  trade and other 

 receivables – non-cUrrent portion

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

cash guarantees  196  208

other receivables 1 927 1 301

Gross carrying amount 2 122 1 509

accumulated provisions for bad and 

doubtful debts in other receivables (-) -1 875 -1 256

net carrying amount  248  252

the change in the other receivables in 2008 mainly concerned the 

receivable of the imaging Group from spector immobilien verwal-

tung, amounting to eUr 1,213 (‘000). as a result of the sale of this 

company’s building, the receivable was partially repaid and, for the 

remaining balance, a write-down of minus eUr 543 (‘000) was rec-

ognised in the non-recurring financial items. this company was put 

into liquidation in november 2008.

in 2009, a debt waiver was entered for the receivable from spec-

tor verwaltung Gmbh without any effect on the result. this entry 

explains the change in the other receivables and the accumulated 

write-downs.

Related parties

the former majority shareholder fotoinvest, in liquidation, was put 

into liquidation on 20 december 2007, and the liquidation was con-

cluded on 20 June 2008.

the holding of fotoinvest, in liquidation, in spector photo Group 

nv was sold to spector coördinatiecentrum nv. the transfer on 

27 march 2008 of the 1,075,275 shares of spector photo Group 

nv was recognised at an amount of eUr 1,118 (‘000) under the 

‘treasury shares’ item in the equity on the consolidated statement 

of financial position. after settlement of the costs and proceeds with 

fotoinvest, in liquidation, an additional write-down of eUr 148 (‘000) 

was recognised under the non-recurring financial items. 

the remunerations for managers in key positions are reported on 

page 72.

Joint ventures

the shares of flt spa, previously operating in the wholesale photo-

finishing market, were held via photomedia, a subsidiary of spector 

photo Group nv. flt spa was proportionally consolidated at 49%. 

since the fourth quarter of 2008, the 49% holding in the italian lab 

flt was no longer proportionally consolidated and is recognised as 

a financial asset.

in 2008, flt spa was recognised proportionally in the consolidated 

financial statements under the continuing operations for the follow-

ing amounts:

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

operating income 2 266 -

operating expenses 2 198 -

18. defferred taX assets

(in € ‘000) Balance at 

end of 

previous 

financial year

Recognised 

in result

Balance at 

the end 

of current 

period

provisions  20 - 18  2

tax effect of tax 

losses carried 

forward 7 029 7 029

7 049 - 18 7 032

this category consists mainly of the recoverable tax losses of  

spector photo Group nv, for which a deferred tax asset is recogn-

ised. the deferred tax asset for spector photo Group nv amounted 

to eUr 7,029 (‘000) for the 2008 financial year, and did not change 

in the 2009 financial year. spector photo group nv will generate tax-

able profits in the future, which will mainly consist of financial income 

from loans granted to subsidiaries. the taxable profits in the future 

will be able to be set off against the tax losses. there was no change 

in the deferred tax asset in 2009, because the positive results were 

compensated by the additional tax deduction of the notional interest 

amounts. deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the 

unallocated taxable losses and tax assets can be utilised.

the summary below shows not only deferred tax assets, but also 

deferred tax liabilities and the net effect.
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deferred tax assets & liabilities      

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities Assets Liabilities Net

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009

property, plant and equipment 1 465  582 -1 465 - 582

intangible assets 1 320  737 -1 320 - 737

provisions  20  2  20  2

tax effect of tax losses carried forward 7 029 7 029 7 029 7 029

Gross deferred  tax assets and liabilities 7 049 7 032 2 785 1 319 4 264 5 712

19.  assets held for sale

Discontinued operations
imaGinG

Spector Fotohandel GmbH

in the third quarter of 2005, the board of directors decided to dis-

continue the operations of spector fotohandel Gmbh in austria. 

the activity of spector fotohandel Gmbh consisted of renting out 

commercial buildings in which the Group’s former austrian shop 

activities were located. spector fotohandel Gmbh was recognised 

under this item because it concerns a separate geographical area, 

austria. the sale of spector fotohandel Gmbh, in which the shares 

were sold, was completed on 5 november 2008.

tax losses carried forward for which no deferred tax assets have 

been recognised amounted to eUr 67,796 (‘000) for the 2008 fi-

nancial year, of which eUr 2,174 (‘000) expire at the 2014 year-end, 

and eUr 468 (‘000) expire at the end of 2015.

for the 2009 financial year, the tax losses carried forward  for which 

no deferred tax assets were recognised amount to eUr 71,529 (‘000), 

of which eUr 94 (‘000) expire at year-end 2015, eUr 131 (‘000)  

expire at year-end 2016, eUr 3,136 (‘000) expire at year-end 2017, 

and eUr 166 (‘000) expire at year-end 2018. the other tax losses 

carried forward have no time limit. for these losses, no deferred 

tax assets were recognised because it is improbable that there will 

be sufficient taxable profit available to be able to realise the tax 

benefits.

Litto-Color NV

litto-color nv was put into liquidation on 6 november 2006. With 

effect from the 2006 financial year, the assets and liabilities of this 

company were classified as ‘assets and liabilities held for sale’. litto-

color nv, in liquidation, mainly operated in the wholesale photofin-

ishing market.

retail

Föfoto Kft

the hungarian föfoto Kft suffered severely from the very disap-

pointing performance of the hungarian economy, which meant the 

strenuous efforts and heavy investments of recent years were nulli-

fied. this forced the board of directors to take the difficult decision 

to put the chain up for sale. as a result, with effect from the 2008 

financial year, the assets and liabilities of this company were classified 

as ‘assets and liabilities held for sale’. föfoto Kft operates in the retail-

ing of consumer electronics and related products. on 4 June 2009, 

this wholly-owned subsidiary was divested via an mbo (manage-

ment buy-out).
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Assets held for sale and directly associated liabilities 

the assets held for sale and directly associated liabilities concern:

- the discontinued operations of litto-color nv, in liquidation, 

from the imaging Group; 

- the discontinued operations of föfoto Kft from the retail 

Group.

Imaging Group

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

assets

trade and other receivables  1  41

cash and cash equivalents  764  640

assets held for sale  765  681

liabilities

provisions  47  35

employee benefit liabilities  609  663

trade and other payables  126

liabilities directly linked to liabilities 

held for sale  782  698

litto-color nv, in liquidation, operating in the wholesale photofinish-

ing market, was put into liquidation on 6 november 2006, and was 

classified as assets held for sale and directly associated liabilities.

the building in ostend of litto-color nv, in liquidation, was sold for 

an amount of eUr 1,766 (’000) in 2008. 

the result and cash flow from these discontinued operations can be 

summarised as follows: 

Discontinued operations of the Imaging Group

(in € ‘000)  2008  2009

post-tax profit/loss (-) of discontinued 

operations - 675

other income from ordinary activities  151

expenses from ordinary activities - 721

financial result - 104

interest expense - 104

pre-tax profit/loss (-) from discontinued 

activities - 674

taxes - 1

cash flow from operating activities  443 - 124

cash flow from financing activities - 308

the discontinued operations of the imaging Group in the 2008 fi-

nancial year consisted of the entities litto-color nv, in liquidation, 

and spector fotohandel Gmbh.

the sale of the holding in the austrian spector fotohandel Gmbh 

was realised in the fourth quarter of 2008. the result of minus eUr 

676 (‘000) was entirely attributable to the operating loss and the loss 

on the sale of this austrian investment.

Discontinued operations of the Retail Group.

(in € ‘000)  2008  2009

post-tax profit/loss (-) of discontinued 

operations -3 554 -1 062

revenue from ordinary activities 24 394 3 565

other income from ordinary activities  809  119

expenses from ordinary activities -28 317 -3 834

financial result - 366 - 912

interest revenue  2

interest expense - 347 - 79

pre-tax profit/loss (-) from discontinued 

activities -3 480 -1 062

taxes - 74

loss recognised on the re-measurement 

to fair value -1 459

cash flow from operating activities -1 060 - 166

cash flow from investing activities - 255 2 255

cash flow from financing activities  689 -2 223

the discontinued operations of the retail Group comprise the hun-

garian föfoto Kft.

föfoto Kft was recognised under ‘discontinued operations’ for the 

entire 2008 financial year. the loss of minus eUr 3,554 (‘000) for 

the 2008 financial year was a combination of the operating, financial 

and tax results of minus eUr 2,095 (‘000) and an impairment loss of 

minus eUr 1,459 (‘000) for the writing down of the assets to their 

recoverable amounts.

the loss of minus eUr 1,062 (‘000) in 2009 comprises, on the one 

hand, a non-cash loss of eUr 757 (‘000) resulting from the currency 

translation differences item that was transferred on realisation to the 

statement of comprehensive income from the currency translation 

differences in the equity, and on the other hand, of eUr 305 (‘000) 

for costs related to completing this transaction. 
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Retail Group

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

assets

property, plant & equipment 2 255

inventories 2 650

trade and other receivables  909

cash and cash equivalents  133

assets held for sale 5 947 -

liabilities

provisions  11

interest bearing liabilities 2 143

employee benefit liabilities  173

trade and other payables 3 636

liabilities directly linked to liabilities 

held for sale 5 963 -

in 2008, the board of directors took the difficult decision to put 

föfoto Kft up for sale. as a result of this, föfoto Kft was recognised 

under ‘discontinued operations’ for the entire year. 

the property, plant and equipment held for sale in 2008 included 

land and buildings for an amount of eUr 934 (‘000). the revaluation 

gain on land and buildings, which was accrued during the course 

of the years, was reversed down to the recoverable amount. the 

reversal of the revaluation gain was recognised directly in equity. the 

other property, plant and equipment held for sale were also recog-

nised at their recoverable amounts. the liabilities of föfoto Kft were 

recognised under the ‘current liabilities held for sale’ heading. the 

secured borrowings have been guaranteed for eUr 4,687 (‘000) by 

mortgages on land and buildings. on 4 June 2009, this wholly-owned 

subsidiary was divested via an mbo (management buy-out).

20.  inventories

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

Goods for resale 37 650 29 451

raw materials and consumables  502  633

total gross carrying amount 38 152 30 085

depreciation and other write-downs (-) -1 530 -1 368

net carrying amount 36 622 28 717

the change in the ‘inventories’ heading between 2008 and 2009 

is attributable to the retail Group. this mainly reflects the efforts 

to optimise the working capital.  a reversal in write-downs of eUr 

105 (‘000) was recognised in the 2008 financial year. a reversal in 

write-downs of eUr 148 (‘000) was recognised in the 2009 financial 

year. these reversals are recognised via the income statement.

21.  trade and other receivables (cUrrent portion)

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

trade receivables, gross 21 645 17 864

other  receivables, gross 1 566  714

accruals and deferrals  349  469

Gross carrying amount 23 560 19 046

accumulated write-downs on bad and 

doubtful trade receivables (-) -2 836 -2 754

accumulated write-downs on bad and 

doubtful other receivables (-) - 587 - 163

net carrying amount 20 138 16 129

the current portion of the trade and other receivables continued to 

decrease between 2008 and 2009. this decrease is mainly progress-

ing in parallel to the decrease of the revenues and the continuing 

efforts to optimise the working capital.

of the accumulated write-downs on bad and doubtful trade receiv-

ables, eUr 333 (‘000) was recognised in the income statement in 

2008. in 2009, eUr 306 (‘000) was recognised in the income state-

ment.

in 2008, eUr 99 (‘000) of the accumulated write-downs on bad and 

doubtful other receivables was recognised in the income statement 

as recurring financial costs, and eUr 691 (‘000) as non-recurring 

financial items; see page 73. in 2009, minus eUr 30 (‘000) was recog-

nised as recurring financial costs in the income statement.

the net other receivables, after deduction of accumulated write-

downs, and including accrued and deferred accounts, are composed 

as follows:

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

retail Group  165 12.4%  260 25.5%

imaging Group  938 70.7%  602 59.0%

other  225 17.0%  158 15.5%

total 1 328 100% 1 019 100%

the net other receivables for the 2008 financial year contain the 

following items:

eUr 874 (‘000) receivable related to vat, eUr 349 (‘000) of costs to 

be transferred and acquired revenues, and eUr 105 (‘000) of other 

receivables. the other receivable from fotoinvest cvba, in liquida-

tion, was settled in march 2008; see page 73. 

the net other receivables for the 2009 financial year contain the 

following items:

eUr 409 (‘000) receivable related to vat, eUr 469 (‘000) of costs 

to be transferred and acquired revenues, and eUr 141 (‘000) of 

other receivables. 

 

 84 spector photo group 



22.  cash and cash eQUivalents

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

short term bank deposits 6 774 3 094

other cash and cash equivalents 5 664 15 345

 12 438 18 439

see also the statement of cash flows on page 53 of this annual re-

port.

23.  cUrrent income taX assets

this heading mainly concerns income tax assets in certain con-

solidated entities related to pending tax assessment objections, and 

should be considered jointly with the current income tax liabilities, 

under heading ‘equity and liabilities’. the fall in the income tax as-

sets in 2009 was mainly the result of a favourable ruling for a num-

ber of belgian companies in a dispute with the tax authorities. the 

payments were made by the financial administration in January and 

march 2009.

24. total eQUity

see also page 52, statement of changes in equity

the total number of shares amounts to 36,619,505, of which 

1,207,072 are treasury shares. 22,993 treasury shares were pur-

chased during the course of 2004, and 27,773 during the course of 

2003, at a price equal to or below the exercise price of the share 

options; see page 89 of this document. in 2008, 1,075,275 treasury 

shares were acquired; see page 81 of this document. of the total of 

1,207,072 treasury shares, 77,271 are held by spector photo Group 

nv, 54,326 by the subsidiary alexander photo sa, and 1,075,275 

by the subsidiary spector coördinatiecentrum nv. in accordance 

with ifrs, these treasury shares are measured at cost at their initial 

recognition in the ifrs statement of financial position on 1 January 

2004 for 131,797 shares, and for 1,075,275 shares at cost with the 

transfer on 27 march 2008. this amount has been deducted from 

the equity.

in 2008, the total amount of minus eUr 2,139 (‘000) was reversed 

from the revaluation gains on the buildings and rental rights of build-

ings in hungary, as well as the deferred taxes related to these gains.
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Calculation of the earnings per share for 2008

1. Number of shares

1.1. Weighted average number of shares 36 668 731

1.2.  adjustments to calculate the diluted weighted average number of shares: issue on 16 december 2005 of 

600 000 warrants that each gives right to one new share of the company to be created when exercised.   600 000

2. Net profit

Net profit 

(from continuing 

operations)

Net profit 

(from discontinuing 

operations)

Net profit 

(total)

total 

comprehensive 

income for the 

period

2.1. profit/loss (-) attributable to equity holders of the 

parent (in thousands of euros)

-  3 518 -  4 229 -  7 748 -  9 902

2.3. profit/loss (-) available to ordinary shareholders 

(per share, amount in euros)

-0.0986 -0.1186 -0.2172 -0.2776

these amounts per share take into account the weighted average number of shares with dividend rights as at 31 december 2008.
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Calculation of the earnings per share for 2009

1. Number of shares

1.1. Weighted average number of shares  35 412 433

1.2.  adjustments to calculate the diluted weighted average number of shares: issue on 16 december 2005 of 

600 000 warrants that each gives right to one new share of the company to be created when exercised   600 000

2. Net profit

Net profit 

(from continuing 

operations)

Net profit 

(from discontinuing 

operations)

Net profit 

(total)

total 

comprehensive 

income for the 

period

2.1. profit/loss (-) attributable to equity holders of 

the parent (in thousands of euros)

-  2 726 -  1 062 -  3 788 -  1 461

2.3. profit/loss (-) available to ordinary shareholders 

(per share, amount in euros)

-0.0770 -0.0300 -0.1070 -0.0413

only shares with dividend rights are taken into account for the calculation of the earnings per share.

25.  non-cUrrent and cUrrent interest-bearinG 

financial liabilities

the interest-bearing liabilities amounted to eUr 48,592 (‘000) at 

year-end 2008, compared to eUr 46,470 (‘000) at year-end 2009. 

the majority of the borrowings are subject to a variable interest-rate 

expense of eUribor + X%. the nib capital bank nv participation 

certificates bear a fixed interest expense.

as at 31 december 2008, 99.5% of the total borrowings were in 

eUr, and 0.5% in seK. as at the 2009 reporting date, 98.59% of the 

total borrowings were in eUr, and 1.41% in seK.

the breakdown between non-current and current borrowings are 

shown in the table on page 88 and onwards.

as at the 2008 year-end, the interest expense for non-current bor-

rowings with variable interest rates in eUr ranged  between eUri-

bor +0.25% and eUribor +4%. the interest cost for the loans in 

seK amounted to 5.45%. as at year-end 2009, this interest expense 

for the non-current borrowings in eUr ranged between eUribor 

+ 0.25% and eUribor + 4%, and in seK between 1.95% and 2.5%.

as at year-end 2008, the interest expense for the current borrowings 

with a variable interest rate in eUr ranged between eUribor + 1% 

and eUribor + 3%, and in seK at 5.45%. 

for 2009, the interest rates for the current borrowings in eUr varied 

between eUribor + 1% and eUribor + 3%, and in seK between 

1.95% and 2.5%. 

the retail Group’s long-term debt amounting to eUr 19,138 (‘000) 

to the bank consortium needs to be renegotiated by the 2010 year-

end. this debt is recognised in current liabilities in accordance with 

the ias 1 rules.

the secured borrowings have been guaranteed for eUr 16,186 (‘000) 

by mortgages on land and buildings, for eUr 2,682 (‘000) by mort-

gage powers of attorney on land and buildings, for eUr 23,051 (‘000) 

by pledges on business assets of specific companies, and for eUr 

4,483 (‘000) by powers of attorney on pledged business assets of 

specific companies. furthermore, shares of specific companies in-

cluded in the consolidation have been given as collateral.
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disclosures concerning the financial obligations:

(in € ‘000) 2008

Up to 

1 year

2010 2011 2012 2013 More than 

5 years

total

interest-bearing borrowings-bank loans

          secured bank loans 4 896 19 627  165  1 24 689

          Unsecured bank loans 12 500 12 500

finance leases 

          secured lease liabilities 139  148  157  132  576

bank overdrafts

          secured bank overdrafts 10 827 10 827

total interest-bearing borrowings according to their maturity 15 862 19 775  322  133 12 500 48 592

liabilities held for sale

secured bank loans 2 041  69  32 2 143

(in € ‘000) 2009

Up to 

1 year

2011 2012 2013 2014 More than 

5 years

total

interest-bearing borrowings-bank loans

          secured bank loans 19 985  580  206  136  139 2 486 23 533

          Unsecured bank loans 12 500 12 500

finance leases 

          secured lease liabilities 148  157  132  437

bank overdrafts

          secured bank overdrafts 10 000 10 000

total interest-bearing borrowings according to their maturity 30 133  737  338  136  139 14 986 46 470
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disclosures relating to the leasing liabilities:

(in € ‘000) 2008

Payments 2008 Interest Capital Outstanding 

current payable

Outstanding 

non-current 

payable

Outstanding 

current interest

Outstanding 

non-current 

interest

finance lease liabilities

 197  43  154  139  437  33  41

finance lease liabilities held for sale 

 412  104  308

(in € ‘000) 2009

Payments 2009 Interest Capital Outstanding 

current payable

Outstanding 

non-current 

payable

Outstanding 

current interest

Outstanding 

non-current 

interest

finance lease liabilities

 171  33  139  148  290  23  18

‘current employee benefit liabilities’ are liabilities concerning remu-

neration and social security charges. these mainly comprise the pay-

able wages and salaries, as well as the corresponding social security 

contributions, payroll withholding tax and provisions for holiday pay. 

in 2009, they amounted to eUr 4,452 (‘000) compared to eUr 

4,174 (‘000) in 2008.

share option plans

the board of directors decided unanimously at its meeting on  

26 november 1999 to introduce share option plans for the benefit 

of employees and consultants of spector photo Group nv and as-

sociated companies (in the sense of section 11 of the belgian com-

pany code). the free offer of the options to the employees will be 

considered as a benefit in kind that is taxable as remuneration. in 

view of the fixed measurement of this benefit, as provided for in 

the law of 26 march 1999, concerning the belgian action plan for 

employment and including various provisions, this constitutes a form 

of remuneration that is beneficial for tax purposes. the share options 

from 2001, which expired at year-end 2009, have lost all their value.

 

Year of offer per portion 2002

exercise price € 10.65

number of options offered 67 500

number of accepted options 61 250

number of outstanding options 48 500

initial exercise periods 04/2006

 04/2007

 12/2007

additional exercise periods in accordance with the 

law of 24 december 2002 04/2009

 04/2010

 12/2010

Operating lease liabilities
Leasing as lessee

non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

rentals during the financial year 8 624 8 975

less than one year 8 267 8 712

between one and five years 25 085 24 511

more than five years 12 801 10 086

the most important liabilities for the retail Group concern the retail 

stores over a period of nine years, with an option to renew the 

leases after the expiry date. the rent is increased annually to reflect 

market rental rates. furthermore, the group rents a number of busi-

ness offices and other operating facilities with contracts that run for 

several years.

Leasing as lessor

the Group leases out minilabs under operating leases.

(in € ‘000) 2008 2009

rentals during the financial year  351  22

less than one year  52  11

between one and five years  15 -

more than five years - -

 

26.  non-cUrrent and cUrrent 

 employee benefit liabilities

‘non-current employee benefit liabilities’ concern the pension obli-

gations of the consolidated companies. the decrease between 2008 

and 2009 is mainly related to the imaging Group.
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as a result of the law of 24 december 2002, the beneficiaries of 

the option plans were asked to agree to an extension of the exer-

cise periods by three years. all the beneficiaries immediately agreed 

to this, and the proposal was therefore approved. the table above 

shows the exercise price, the number of options offered, the number 

accepted and the number still outstanding, which have been offered 

in the implementation of this plan:

at the exercising of these options, the company will use its trea-

sury shares. the corporate Governance charter of spector photo 

Group nv includes a code of conduct concerning the purchase and 

disposal of treasury shares.

Warrant plan

the extraordinary General meeting of shareholders of spector 

photo Group nv on 28 november 2005 decided to issue 600,000 

warrants in the sense of section 42 of the law of 26 march 1999 

concerning the belgian 1998 action plan for employment and con-

taining various provisions (the “share options act”). each warrant 

gives the right to subscribe a single share. this warrant plan is de-

signed to create a long-term incentive for the beneficiaries who, as 

directors or consultants, can make a significant contribution to the 

success and the growth of the company. in addition, this warrant plan 

aims to create a common interest among the beneficiaries and the 

shareholders that is directed towards an increase in the company’s 

share price.

in accordance with the economic recovery act of 27 march 2009, 

the board of directors resolved to extend the exercise period of 

the warrants granted on 28 november 2005, for which the initial 

exercise period expires on 30 september 2010, for an additional 

period of four (4) years until 30 september 2014.

Year of offer 2005

exercise price € 3.36

number of warrants offered 600 000

number of outstanding/accepted 

warrants 600 000

initial exercise periods 03/2006 09/2006

03/2007 09/2007

03/2008 09/2008

03/2009 09/2009

03/2010 09/2010

additional exercise periods in accordance 

with the law of 27 march 2009 03/2011 09/2011

03/2012 09/2012

03/2013 09/2013

03/2014 09/2014

Granting and exercising the warrants will have an effect on the em-

ployee expenses and thus on the results of the company due to the 

application of ifrs 2 ‘share-based payment’. the ‘theoretical value’ 

of the warrants, calculated according to a conventional valuation 

method (black & scholes), amounts to eUr 0.22366 per warrant or 

a total of eUr 134,198, and is recognised as an employee expense 

for the 2005 financial year in which they were issued. for this theo-

retical measurement of the value, the last closing price of the share 

was taken into account before the offer of these warrants, which was 

eUr 1.48, and with the exercise price of the warrants amounting to 

eUr 3.36. 

the expected volatility was based on the average volatility over a 

period of one year. 

no effects of any expected premature exercising were included, as 

this was not considered relevant.

share price at allotment € 1.48

exercise price € 3.36

duration 5 year

expected volatility 40%

dividend yield 0%

risk-free interest rate 3.10%

Post-employment benefits
Defined contribution pension plans

With defined contribution plans, contributions are paid to insurance 

institutions; after payment of these contributions, the companies of 

the group have no further obligations. the contributions are recog-

nised as an expense in the income statement for the year to which 

they are related. for 2008, the costs of the Group’s defined contribu-

tion plans amounted to eUr 244 (‘000) recognised under the ‘em-

ployee expenses’ heading. these costs amounted to eUr 231 (‘000) 

for 2009.

Defined benefit pension plans

the group had defined benefit pension plans in france in 2008 and 

2009. the applicable pension plans are drawn up in accordance with 

statutory provisions and local customs. the pension plans are related 

to salary and seniority. no plan assets are held for the defined ben-

efit plans in france.

the reversal concerning the Group’s pensions related to defined ben-

efit plans amounted to eUr 11 (‘000) for 2008 and eUr 51 (‘000) 

for 2009.

these pension funds do not contain any shares issued by the Group 

or any of the Group companies‘ property.
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amounts recognised in the income statement under the heading 

‘employee expenses’.

(in € '000) 2008 2009

costs attributed to the financial year

Gain (-)/loss from curtailment of or 

discontinuing a plan -11 -51

-11 -51

the amount recognised in the statement of financial position is com-

posed as follows:

(in € '000) 2008 2009

present value of defined benefit plan obli-

gations for which no investments are held 57 6

57 6

Changes in the receivable (-) or liability recognised in the statement of 

financial position:

(in € '000) 2008 2009

balance at end of previous financial year 67 57

Gains recognised in the income statement -11 -51

as at the financial year-end 57 6

The main actuarial assumptions as at reporting date are:

2008 2009

discount rate used 4% 4%

percentage pay rise 2% 2%

percentage increase in benefits 2.5% 2.5%

Other non-current employee benefits

the other non-current employee benefits mainly concern bridging 

pension provisions in the various underlying entities.

changes in the receivable (-) or liability recognised in the statement 

of financial position:

(in € '000) 2008 2009

balance at end of previous financial year 378 134

increase/decrease (-) of liability 

recognised in the income statement 36 8

other changes -280

as at the financial year-end 134 142

the ‘other changes’ for an amount of minus eUr 280 (‘000) con-

cerning 2008, relates to the change in the consolidation method for 

flt spa, previously proportionally consolidated and recognised as a 

financial asset since the fourth quarter of 2008. 
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27.  non-cUrrent provisions

2008

(in € '000) Provisions for 

taxation

Provisions for 

restructuring

Other provisions total

balance at end of previous year  742  163  869 1 775

additional provisions  34  123  157

amounts of provisions used (-) - 68 - 68

foreign currency exchange increase/decrease (-)  1  1

other changes - 12 - 12

balance at end of current period  776  163  913 1 852

in 2008, an additional provision of eUr 34 (‘000) was recorded for 

tax claims. an additional provision of eUr 123 (‘000) was recorded  

under the ‘other provisions’. eUr 68 (‘000) was utilised for the set-

tlement of claims for damages. furthermore, the decrease of the 

other provisions by an amount of minus eUr 12 (‘000) mainly relates 

to the transfer of föfoto Kft to ‘liabilities held for sale‘. the ‘other pro-

visions’ are mainly related to claims for damages from suppliers in the 

imaging Group and claims for damages from owners of shops in the 

retail Group. the settlement date for these claims is unknown.

2009

(in € '000) Provisions for 

taxation

Provisions for 

restructuring

Other provisions total

balance at end of previous year  776  163  913 1 852

additional provisions  34  67  101

amounts of provisions used (-) - 43 - 402 - 445

Unused amounts of provisions reversed (-) - 105 - 105

balance at end of current period  810  120  473 1 403

in 2009, an additional provision of eUr 34 (‘000) was recorded relat-

ing interest amounts and recognised under the tax claims. minus eUr 

43 (‘000) was also utilised from the amount provided for in 2007 for 

restructuring already completed.  the ‘provisions for restructuring’ re-

lates to the imaging Group. an additional provision of eUr 67 (‘000) 

was recorded under the ‘other provisions’. minus eUr 402 (‘000) 

was used for the settlement of claims for damages, and a reversal 

of minus eUr 105 (‘000) was recognised for unused provisions. the 

‘other provisions’ mainly relate mainly to claims for damages from 

owners of shops in the retail Group. the settlement date for these 

claims is unknown.
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28.  cUrrent portion of provisons

2008

(in € '000) Provisions for 

restructuring

Other provisions total

balance at end of previous year  340  50  390

amounts of provisions used (-) - 196 - 196

balance at end of current period  144  50  194

in 2008, minus eUr 196,000 was utilised from the provisions recorded in 2007 for restructuring already completed.

2009

(in € '000) Provisions for 

restructuring

Other provisions total

balance at end of previous year  144  50  194

amounts of provisions used (-) - 50 - 50

Unused amounts of provisions reversed (-) - 144 - 144

balance at end of current period

in 2009, a reversal of minus eUr 144 (‘000) was recognised for unused ‘provisions for restructuring’. the other provision amounting to minus 

eUr 50 (000) was used.
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29.  deferred taX  liabilities

2008

(in € '000) Balance at end 

of previous 

financial year

Recognised in 

result

effect of 

exchange rate 

changes

Other changes Balance at the 

end of current 

period

property, plant and equipment 2 020 - 82 - 3 - 471 1 465

intangible assets 1 710 - 586  19  177 1 320

3 730 - 668  16 - 294 2 785

in 2008, the other changes in property, plant and equipment mainly related to the deferred taxes of föfoto Kft, amounting to minus eUr 

266 (‘000). this decrease is a combination of the derecognising of the deferred taxes related to the reversal of the revaluation gain on the 

buildings, and the derecognising of the deferred taxes on the other property, plant and equipment. there is also a transfer of minus eUr 

178 (‘000) between property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. the decrease in the intangible assets was attributable to the develop-

ment concerning the externally-acquired customer relationships.

2009

(in € '000) Balance at end 

of previous 

financial year

Recognised in 

result

effect of 

exchange rate 

changes

Other changes Balance at the 

end of current 

period

property, plant and equipment 1 465 - 882  582

intangible assets 1 320 -1 647  4 1 060  737

2 785 -2 529  4 1 060 1 319

the decrease in 2009 on property, plant and equipment mainly relates to the retail Group, due to the setting off of tax losses incurred in 

2009 against the already existing deferred taxes. the development in intangible assets in 2009 concerns, on the one hand, the decrease of 

the intangible assets attributable to the development concerning externally-acquired customer relationships, which led to a reduction in the 

deferred taxes, and, on the other hand, setting off of tax losses against profits from previous years of eUr 1,060 (‘000), carry-back, related to 

extrafilm france.

30.  liabilities held for sale

because a number of assets are held for sale, the directly associated 

liabilities from the respective categories are recognised under this 

separate heading ‘assets held for sale’; see also page 82.

31.  cUrrent trade and other payables

(in € '000) 2008 2009

trade payables: suppliers 28 491 27 752

bills of exchange payable 1 857

prepayments received on contracts in 

progress  382  543

dividends payable  132  131

other amounts payable  471  571

other taxes and vat payable 4 673 4 990

accrual and deferrals 1 942 1 927

net carrying amount 37 948 35 914

the current trade and other payables fell by eUr 2,034 (‘000).

the change in 2008 was mainly attributable to the transfer of the 

current trade payables of föfoto Kft amounting to minus eUr 5,676 

(‘000) to ‘assets held for sale‘, and flt spa, which was recognised 

as a financial asset of minus eUr 733 (‘000). the current trade and 

other payables in the imaging Group fell by 17.97% in 2009. the cur-

rent trade and other payables in the retail Group increased slightly.
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32.  cUrrent income taX liabilities

the current income tax liabilities fell by minus eUr 1,426 (‘000) in 

2009, mainly due to the negative results in the retail Group. current 

income tax liabilities for the current or prior periods, for which ob-

jections have been submitted, are recognised as payables.

33.  risKs related to dispUtes

the company and some of its subsidiaries are involved in tax dis-

putes that are pending in the tax courts, and for which provisions 

have been formed. for certain tax disputes, however, the company’s 

opinion is that no provisions need to be formed. on the one hand, 

this concerns the tax deductibility of insurance premiums which 

the company and some of its subsidiaries have paid to an insur-

ance company that itself reinsured with a reinsurance company that 

is controlled by the company. on the other hand, it mainly con-

cerns discussions around the tax deductibility of payments in the 

context of transactions with Group companies. a ruling in favour of 

the group was delivered at the end of 2007. this ruling had a posi-

tive impact on the tax expenses for the 2007 financial year. the tax  

administration’s refunds of the disputed taxes and postponed inter-

est payments were received in January and march 2009 respectively.

the tax dispute concerning hifi international involves issues including 

(i) the tax deductibility of the loss that arose with the merger of hifi 

international with hifi video and hifi connection in 2001, (ii) the 

recognition of the taxes under the alternative taxable basis, and (iii) 

an abnormal benefit that a subsidiary is alleged to have received as a 

result of a subsidiary’s liquidation. during the 2009 financial year, an 

unfavourable ruling was delivered against the group. since the pay-

ment to the tax administration had already taken place in 2008, this 

ruling only had an effect of eUr 786 (‘000) on the result in 2009.

a dispute with a supplier has also been settled, and the recognised 

provision eUr 280 (‘000) was sufficient to be used for this. 

after the settlement of the disputes mentioned above, there is a tax 

dispute that has been made pending in the tax courts and for which 

a provision of eUr 810 (‘000) has been formed. 

34. important fUtUre assUmptions

the assumptions concerning the future of the intangible assets, other 

than goodwill and trading securities, are mainly the externally-ac-

quired customer relationships, are closely connected to the strategy 

of the imaging Group concerning the transition from analogue to 

digital photography – as described in the market risks on page 100 

of this annual report  – and the translation of this strategy in the busi-

ness plan that is the basis of the impairment tests on page 77.

the development of the total customer portfolio and therefore the 

development of the externally-acquired customer relationships will 

be the result of future efforts invested in acquiring new customers. 

expenditure concerned is only incurred under the prerequisite of 

profitable growth, measured using the ‘lifetime value’ concept. ex-

penditure within this concept is only allowed for acquiring custom-

ers that have a payback period of less than three years, in which the 

payback is calculated on the basis of the future expected cash flows.

as a result of the combination of amortisation on the intangible 

assets on the one hand and, on the other, the application of the 

‘lifetime value’ concept, the group believes that risks related to this 

asset are limited.

after investments and amortisation, the value of the externally-ac-

quired customer relationships amounted to eUr 8,828 (‘000). of 

this, eUr 7,194 (‘000) relates to the externally-acquired relationships, 

and eUr 1,634 (‘000) to the directly attributable costs.
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35.  remUneration for the committee of statUtory aUditors and the members of their netWorK for the GroUp

committee of statutory auditors: auditors’ fee eUr 37 (‘000).

audit fee for the committee of statutory auditors and their network concerning subsidiaries: eUr 135 (‘000).

fees for exceptional services or special assignments performed by the committee of statutory auditors and their network: eUr 20,617, categorised as follows:

Performed by Committee of statutory Auditors the network linked to the 

Committee of statutory Auditors

other audit assignments 2 578  

tax consultancy  8 971 5 301

other assignments external to the audit 3 648 119

total 15 197 5 420

36.  risK factors

as a result of the application of ifrs 7, further disclosures are made below concerning the financial assets and liabilities, which provide information for readers of the financial statements.

Credit risk

the aging of the trade and other receivables are:

(in € ‘000)

2008 

net carrying 

amount 

Of which neither impaired 

nor overdue on the 

reporting date 

Of which not impaired as at the reporting date and overdue

Overdue - less 

than 30 days

Overdue - 

between 30 and 

59 days

Overdue - 

between 60 and 

89 days

Overdue - 

between 90 and 

179 days

Overdue - 

between 180 

and 359 days

Overdue - 

more than 359 

days

other receivables (non-current)              248              248

trade receivables (current)             18 810             12 651             2 710             2 159              350              179              65              696

other receivables (current)              980              561              72              210              1              136

total             20 037             13 460             2 782             2 369              351              179              65              832
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(in € ‘000)

2009 

net carrying 

amount

Of which neither impaired 

nor overdue on the 

reporting date 

Of which not impaired as at the reporting date and overdue

Overdue - less 

than 30 days

Overdue - 

between 30 and 

59 days

Overdue - 

between 60 and 

89 days

Overdue - 

between 90 and 

179 days

Overdue - 

between 180 

and 359 days

Overdue - 

more than 359 

days

other receivables (non-current)              252              250              2

trade receivables (current)             15 110             11 192             1 917             1 371              183              90              104              252

other receivables (current)              434              105              22              237              3              1              66

total             15 796             11 547             1 940             1 609              186              91              104              320

a significant proportion of the imaging Group’s activities are con-

ducted by means of ‘remote sales’ to end-consumers. this involves 

exposure to the risk of non-collectability of many, relatively small, 

trade receivables. the group manages this risk by encouraging online 

payment for its e-commerce activities on the one hand and, on the 

other hand, conducting proper credit management. 

in cases of non-payment on the due dates, additional costs are charged 

depending on the overdue periods. in due course, the collection of 

the receivables is handed over to debt-collection agencies. for other 

trade receivables, credit limits and payment terms are set for each 

customer. dunning procedures are started when these terms are ex-

ceeded. deliveries are blocked to customers who have exceeded 

their credit limits or payment terms.

there was no significant risk concentration as at 31 december 2008 

or 2009. no write-downs are recognised for the overdue receivables, 

because their collectability is considered as probable.

the following table shows a summary of the accumulated write-downs on the financial assets:

(in € ‘000) 2008

Available for 

sale investment

Other financial 

assets 

(non-current)

Other 

receivables  

(non-current)

trade 

receivables

Other 

receivables  

(current)

Other financial 

assets (current)

Assets 

held for sale 

balance at end of previous year -2 975 -2 477 -3 744 -2 605 - 163 - 97

impairment (-) -1 714 - 543 - 333 - 247 - 194

Utilisation 1 869 1 163 1 171 2 247

translation differences - 25  16

other changes - 18  95  18 - 95

balance at end of current period -1 714 -1 106 -1 875 -2 836 - 587 - 163 - 370
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(in € ‘000) 2009

Available for 

sale investment

Other financial 

assets 

(non-current)

Other 

receivables  

(non-current)

trade 

receivables

Other 

receivables  

(current)

Other financial 

assets (current)

Assets 

held for sale 

balance at end of previous year -1 714 -1 106 -1 875 -2 836 - 587 - 163 - 370

impairment (-) - 11 - 306  30

Utilisation  629  392  393  74

translation differences - 4

other changes  272

balance at end of current period -1 714 -1 106 -1 256 -2 754 - 164 - 163 - 24

the accumulated write-downs on the ‘investments and other assets held for sale’ in 2008, related to the investment in the italian flt spa that was fully written off for an amount of minus eUr 1,689 (‘000), and to the 

investment in the German entity spector immobilien verwaltung Gmbh for an amount of minus eUr 25 (‘000). the other changes in the ‘assets held for sale’ in 2009 are attributable to the hungarian föfoto, which 

was sold in the second quarter of 2009 by means of an mbo (management buy-out).

Liquidity risk

the following table shows a summary of the financial liabilities, including payable interest charges:

(in € ‘000) 2008

Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash flows Up to 1 year 2010 2011 2012 2013

More than 5 

years

interest-bearing borrowings credit institutions

          secured bank loans 24 689 28 466 6 969 21 326  170  1

          Unsecured bank loans 12 500 5 543  924  924  924  924  924  924

finance leases 

          secured lease liabilities  576  650  171  171  171  136

bank overdrafts

          secured bank overdrafts 10 827 10 887 10 887

trade & other payables 31 333 31 333 31 333

liabilities held for sale 

          secured interest-bearing borrowings 2 143 2 395 2 285  77  33

          trade & other payables 3 762 3 762 3 762

total 85 830 83 036 56 331 22 498 1 299 1 061  924  924
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(in € ‘000) 2009

Carrying 

amount

Contractual 

cash flows Up to 1 year 2011 2012 2013 2014

More than 5 

years

interest-bearing borrowings credit institutions

          secured bank loans 23 533 25 292 21 060  652  270  196  196 2 918

          Unsecured bank loans 12 500 5 543  924  924  924  924  924  924

finance leases 

          secured lease liabilities  437  479  171  171  136

bank overdrafts

          secured bank overdrafts 10 000 10 028 10 028

trade & other payables 28 996 28 996 28 996

total 75 467 70 337 61 179 1 747 1 329 1 120 1 120 3 842

non-current payables are measured at amortised cost, approximating the fair value. the fair value of current payables is comparable with the carrying amount. there are currently no problems expected with the 

liquidity situation for the 2010 financial year. the retail Group’s non-current payable to the bank consortium amounting to eUr 19,138 (‘000) needs to be renegotiated by the 2010 year-end. these obligations are 

recognised as current liabilities in accordance with the ias 1 rules.

Currency risk 

in both 2008 and 2009, spector photo Group nv realised more 

than 90% of its revenues in euros. the continuing activities in a cur-

rency other than the euro are mainly located in sweden, norway, 

switzerland and the UK. the nature of the operations means that 

the great majority of expenditure in non-euro entities is in the same 

currency as the revenues. expenditure in the euro-entities is virtually 

all paid in euros. 

because of this, the remaining cash flows in currencies other than the 

euro are limited, and spector photo Group nv opts not to hedge 

foreign currency transactions or cash flows.

the subsidiaries’ borrowings from credit institutions are held in the 

currency of the subsidiary. borrowings in a currency other than the 

euro amount to less than 1.5% of the total outstanding borrowings 

by continuing activities.

short-term loans between the subsidiaries in foreign currencies are 

converted at the closing exchange rate. these unrealised gains and 

losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income/

income statement.

long-term loans between the subsidiaries in foreign currencies are 

converted at the closing exchange rate. these exchange-rate differ-

ences are recognised in a separate item of the equity under the 

heading of currency translation differences, in accordance with ias 

21:32.

no hedging instruments were in use as at 31 december 2008 or 

2009.

Interest rate risk

in 2009, 36.72% of the interest-bearing borrowings had a fixed rate 

of interest, compared with 27.90% in 2008. for the other borrow-

ings, the interest rate is fixed for a period between three months and 

a year. this operating procedure enables spector photo Group nv 

to accept fluctuations in the financial expenses in accordance with 

the development of market rates.

on the basis of the outstanding borrowings as at 31 december 

2009, a rise or fall in the market rate by 1% has a negative or posi-

tive effect respectively on the financial result of eUr 294 (‘000), and 

which amounted to eUr 350 (‘000) on the basis of the outstanding 

borrowings as at 31 december 2008.

the cash and cash equivalents are invested free of risks.

99spector photo group 



Market risks 

With the imaging Group, the company mainly operates in a market 

that is highly susceptible to changes. the most important market-re-

lated risks are related to technological developments and their im-

pact on consumer behaviour, the development of consumer prices, 

the competitive position, and the dependence on a limited number 

of major customers of the imaging Group.

-  the strategy of the imaging Group is mainly based on the find-

ings of prospective market research from which new opportuni-

ties have emerged for the business following the transition from 

analogue to digital photography. these findings have an inherent 

risk of error, and they can also be affected by future technologi-

cal developments that have not yet been taken into account. the 

group manages these risks by permanently keeping in touch with 

the technological world, the market and consumers so that, if 

necessary, it can rapidly revise not only its strategy, but also its 

investment and business plans.

-  the future profitability of the company, for both the retail 

Group and the imaging Group, will also depend on the selling 

prices that it can achieve for its products and services. the price 

elasticity of the demand, combined with the development of the 

margins, involves a risk for the Group’s profitability. although the 

Group assumes continued price pressure in its business plan, it 

proactively manages other risks by reducing its fixed overhead 

costs on the one hand and, on the other hand, by continuously 

developing new products that are less susceptible to the general 

price pressure.

-  the future market share and business figures of the group, both 

in the retail Group and in the imaging Group, can be affected 

by campaigns of existing competitors or the entry of new com-

petitors. by permanently monitoring its competitive position, the 

Group takes this factor into account in the further development 

of its plans and its operations. the current economic crisis means 

we are currently experiencing some pressure on the revenues 

within the retail Group. consumers are more careful about pur-

chasing more expensive consumer goods.

Capital structure

the Group optimises its capital structure (combination of liabilities 

and equity). the most important objective of the capital structure 

is to obtain the best possible shareholder value, while simultane-

ously retaining the requisite financial flexibility to implement strategic 

projects. maintaining a fundamentally healthy financial structure is es-

sential.

in the analysis of the capital structure, we use the ifrs classification 

for the distinction between equity and liabilities.
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committee of statUtory aUditor’s report

committee of statUtory aUditor’s report to the General meetinG of shareholders of spector photo 

GroUp nv on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 december 2009

in accordance with the legal requirements, we report to you on the performance of the mandate of statutory auditor, which has been 

entrusted to us.  this report contains our opinion on the true and fair view of the consolidated financial statements as well as the required 

additional statements .

Unqualified audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements with an explanatory paragraph

We have audited the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 december 2009 prepared in accordance with international 

financial reporting standards as adopted by the european Union, which show a balance sheet total of eUr (000) 121.541and a loss for the 

year of eUr (000) 3.788.

 

management is responsible for the preparation and the fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements.  this responsibility  

includes : designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting principles and making 

 accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

 

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accor-

dance with the legal requirements and the auditing standards applicable in belgium, as issued by the institute of registered auditors (institut 

des réviseurs d’entreprises / instituut van de bedrijfsrevisoren).  those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reason-

able assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

in accordance with the above-mentioned auditing standards, we considered the group’s accounting system, as well as its internal control pro-

cedures. We have obtained from management and the company’s officials, the explanations and information necessary for executing our audit 

procedures.  We have examined, on a test basis, the evidence supporting the amounts included in the consolidated financial statements.  We 

have assessed the appropriateness of the accounting policies (1) and consolidation principles, the reasonableness of the significant  accounting 

estimates made by the company, as well as the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  We believe that these proce-

dures provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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in our opinion the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 december 2009 give a true and fair view of the group’s assets 

and liabilities, its financial position, the results of its operation and cash flow in accordance with international financial reporting standards 

as adopted by the european Union

notwithstanding our unqualified opinion, we draw the attention to the consolidated director’s report in which the valuation of the intangible 

assets is motivated, taken into account the changing market conditions.  the motivation of the valuation of the intangible assets is strongly 

linked to the success of the “business plan”.  We also draw your attention to the fact that the long term debt of photo hall multimedia to 

the consortium of banks will need to be negociated at the end of 2010, hence these financial debts have been classified as current financial 

debts following the prescriptions of ias 1.

Additional statements

the preparation of the consolidated director’s report and its content are the responsibility of management.

our responsibility is to supplement our report with the following additional statements, which do not modify our audit opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements:

 

•	 The	consolidated	Director’s	report	 includes	the	 information	required	by	 law	and	 is	consistent	with	the	consolidated	financial	state-

ments. We are, however, unable to comment on the description of the principal risks and uncertainties which the consolidated group is  

facing, and of its financial situation, its foreseeable evolution or the significant influence of certain facts on its future development. We can 

nevertheless confirm that the matters disclosed do not present any obvious inconsistencies with the information that we became aware 

of during the performance of our mandate.

Gent,  april 16, 2010

the committee of statutory auditors

pKf bedrijfsrevisoren cvba     Grant thornton, lippens & rabaey

represented by       represented by

d. de Jonge      J. lippens

statutory auditor      statutory auditor
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ASSETS (in €) 2008 2009

fIXeD assets 122 991 869.17 124 730 378.50

Intangible fixed assets 2 372.83

financial fixed assets 122 989 496.34 124 730 378.50

 affiliated enterprises 122 955 519.24 124 696 401.40

  participating interests  89 747 532.63 89 747 532.63

  amounts receivable 33 207 986.61 34 948 868.77

 other financial assets 33 977.10 33 977.10

  shares 28 817.63 28 817.63

  amounts receivable and cash guarantees 5 159.47 5 159.47

current assets 7 283 658.58 6 968 555.91

amounts receivable within one year 6 746 688.03 6 661 298.21

 trade debtors 113 960.19 172 377.61

 other amounts receivable 6 632 727.84 6 488 920.60

current investments        454 415.66 260 524.62       

 own shares        29 362.98   51 771.57     

 other investments and deposits  425 052.68 208 753.05

cash at bank and in hand 20 301.84 5 294.41

Deferred charges and accrued income 62 253.05 41 438.67

total assets 130 275 527.75 131 698 934.41

 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (in €) 2008 2009

eQuIty 127 850 925.32 129 801 769.05

capital 64 193 915.58 64 193 915.58

 Issued capital 64 193 915.58 64 193 915.58

reserves 10 115 555.51 10 213 097.70

 legal reserve 4 311 302.59 4 408 844.78

 reserves not available 29 362.98 51 771.57

  In respect of own shares held 29 362.98 51 771.57

 untaxed reserves 3 500 770.69 3 500 770.69

 available reserves 2 274 119.25 2 251 710.66

accumulated profits (losses) 53 541 454.23 55 394 755.77

proVIsIons anD DeferreD taXes 100 000.00 100 000.00

provisions for liabilities and charges 100 000.00 100 000.00

  other liabilities and charges 100 000.00 100 000.00

amounts payable 2 324 602.43 1 797 165.36

amounts payable after more than one year 1 523 132.24 1 046 074.68

 financial debts 1 523 132.24 1 046 074.68

  subordinated loans 895 383.58 395 383.58

  other loans 627 748.66 650 691.10

amounts payable within one year 707 722.52 677 340.67

 trade debts 110 251.31 38 966.77

  suppliers 110 251.31 38 966.77

 taxes, remuneration and social security  61 834.24 46 598.10

  taxes   10 836.53 14 448.50

  remuneration and social security 50 997.71 32 149.60

 other amounts payable 535 636.97 591 775.80

Deferred charges and accrued income 93 747.67 73 750.01

total lIabIlItIes 130 275 527.75 131 698 934.41

balance sHeet after profit allocation (belgian Gaap)
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INCOME STATEMENT (in €) 2008 2009

operating income 1 151 056.39 919 296.36

 turnover 762 494.47 776 554.00

 other operating income 388 561.92 142 742.36

operating charges (1 689 383.63) (1 448 164.05)

 services and other goods 1 041 086.77 1 001 550.78

 remuneration, social security costs and pensions 271 874.00 336 301.54

 Depreciation of and amounts written off formation  

 expenses, intangible and tangible fixed assets 17 272.88 2 372.83

 other operating charges 359 149.98 107 938.90

operating profit (loss) (538 327.24) (528 867.69)

financial income 2 548 533.61 2 471 810.54

 Income from current assets 2 548 533.61 2 470 954.86

 other financial income 855.68

financial charges (237 224.15) (79 489.05)

 Debt charges 84 705.36 84 899.43

 amounts written down on current assets except  

 stocks, contracts in progress and trade debtors 33 414.78 (7 615.26)

 other financial charges 119 104.01 2 204.88

Gain (loss) on ordinary activities before taxes 1 772 982.22 1 863 453.80

extraordinary income 2 286 636.69

 Write-back of amounts written down financial 

 fixed assets 2 286 636.69

INCOME STATEMENT (in €) 2008 2009

extraordinary charges (2 286 636.73)

 extraordinary depreciation of and extraordinary  

 amounts written off formation expenses, intangible and 

 tangible fixed assets               0.04

 amounts written down financial fixed assets 2 286 636.69

profit (loss) for the period before taxes  1 772 982.18 1 863 453.80

Income taxes 3 258.12 87 389.93

 Income taxes (2 609.16) 612.23

 adjustment of income taxes and write-back 

 of tax provisions 5 867.28 88 002.16

profit (loss) for the period 1 776 240.30 1 950 843.73

profit (loss) for the period available for appropriation      1 776 240.30 1 950 843.73

approprIatIon account

profit (loss) to be appropriated 53 630 266.25 55 492 297.96

 Gain (loss) to be appropriated 1 776 240.30 1 950 843.73

  profit (loss) to be carried forward 51 854 025.95 53 541 454.23

transfer to the legal reserve       (88 812.02) (97 542.19)

profit (loss) to be carried forward (53 541 454.23) (55 394 755.77)

105spector photo group 



(in €) Amounts Number of shares

a.  socIal capItal

 1. Issued capital

	 	 •	At	the	end	of	the	previous	period 64  193 915.58

	 	 •	At	the	end	of	the	period 64  193 915.58

 2. structure of the capital

  2.1.  Different categories of shares

        ordinary shares without nominal value 64  193 915.58 36  619 505

        registered 2 134 119

        bearer 34 485 386

Dematerialisation of bearer securities according to the law of 14 December 2005 

abolishing bearer securities 

c.  oWn sHares HelD by

	 •	the	company	itself   51 771.57   77 271

	 •	the	subsidiaries   756 966.67   1 129 801

D.  commItments to Issue sHares

 following the exercising of conVersIon rIGHts :

    number of outstanding subscription rights   600 000

    amount of capital to be subscribed 2  016 000.00

    corresponding maximum number of shares to be issued   600 000

e.   autHorIseD capItal, not IssueD 64  193 915.58

statement of capItal

 106 spector photo group 



structure of tHe sHareHolDersHIp of tHe company as at year-enD, as It appears from tHe notIfIcatIons 

receIVeD by tHe company

most recent
notification (3)

number of 
shares

% of 

total (1)

a.  spector coorDInatIecentrum n.V. (2) 15/09/2008 1 075 275 2.94%

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, b-9230 Wetteren

b.  partImaGe c.V.a. (2) 28/03/2008 84 044 0.23%

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, b-9230 Wetteren

c.  aleXanDer pHoto s.a. (2) 15/09/2008 54 526 0.15%

 boulevard royal 11, l-2449 luxembourg

D.  spector pHoto Group n.V. (2) 15/09/2008 77 271 0.21%

 Kwatrechtsteenweg 160, b-9230 Wetteren

e.  consortIum VIt n.V., lutHerIcK n.V.,

 mercurIus InVest n.V., mIDelco n.V.

 cecan InVest n.V. and IsarIcK n.V. 28/01/2009 6 914 244 18.88%

 p/a Doorniksewijk 49, b-8500 Kortrijk

 -  VIt n.V. 1 708 995 4.67%

 -  lutHerIcK n.V. 2 512 566 6.86%

 -  mercurIus InVest n.V. 215 703 0.59%

 -  cecan InVest n.V. 2 173 643 5.94%

 -  mIDelco n.V. 212 500 0.58%

 -  IsarIcK n.V. 54 765 0.15%

 -  pHIlIppe VlerIcK 36 072 0.10%

f.  KoramIc fInance company n.V. 30/10/2008 3 933 775 10.74%

 ter bede business center, Kapel ter bede 84,  

 b-8500 Kortrijk

G.  auDHumla s.a. 31/10/2008 1 514 304 4.14%

 boulevard royal 11, l-2449 luxembourg

H.  Groes Gerard

 straten 15, nl-5688 nJ oirschot 26/10/2008 1 835 000 5.01%

(1) calculating with the denominator of 36,619,505 shares - which is the total number of issued 

shares, excluding the warrants. 

(2) on march 27, 2008 fotoinvest cVba (in liquidation) transferred the shares of spector photo 

Group nV to spector coördinatiecentrum nV. the companies fotoinvest cVba (in liquidation) 

and partimage cVa on the one hand and spector coördinatiecentrum nV, alexander photo sa 

and spector photo Group nV on the other, performed an official notification on march 28, 2008 

towards the banking, finance and Insurance commission and euronext brussels.

(3) referring to the renewed transparency regulation, each holder of securities granting voting  

securities, voting rights and equivalent finanical instruments, whose holding reaches or exceeds a 

threshold provided by law or the articles of association on 1 september 2008, had to notify both 

the company and the cbfa and do this no later than 31 october 2008.
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summary of tHe accountInG rules

basIc prIncIple

the accounting rules are determined in accordance with the provi-

sions of chapter II of part II of the belgian royal Decree of 30 Janu-

ary 2001 on the implementation of the belgian company code.

no deviations from the accounting rules mentioned above are  

necessary for the true and fair view.

the accounting rules are unchanged in relation to last year.

the income statement is not materially affected by revenues and 

expenses that must be attributed to any other financial year.

specIal rules

I.  assets

1. formation expenses

the capitalisation of the formation expenses and costs of initial  

establishment takes place within the legal limits and to the extent 

that the cost-effectiveness is positively estimated for the future.  

In principle, these expenses are written down over 5 years using the 

straight-line method.

the costs of issuing the bond loan are written down at 20%.

2. Intangible assets

the intangible assets are measured valued at their acquisition costs. 

they are amortised according to the straight-line method using the 

following rates: 20% to 33.33%.

3. property, plant and equipment

property, plant and equipment are measured at their actual cost; this 

is the purchase price (including additional expenses), their cost price 

or their contribution value.

for the depreciation calculations, the following rates are applied:

•			 plant,	equipment	and	furniture		 25%

•			 vehicles		 20%

•		 machines		 25%

•	 IT	equipment		 25%

Depreciation takes place using the straight-line method and/or the 

degressive method. the first financial year in which the assets are 

obtained, they are depreciated in proportion to the time they have 

been held.

4. financial assets

shares are entered at their purchase price, excluding the additional 

expenses that are charged to the income statement. they are mea-

sured separately each year. this measurement occurs on the basis of 

the net asset value of the shares in accounting terms, or the prob-

able contractual value at disposal, or according to the criteria appli-

cable at the purchase of the shares when the participating interest 

was obtained at a price that deviates from its carrying value.

Write-downs are applied if the estimated value, calculated as ex-

plained above, is less than the carrying value and if, in the opinion of 

the board of Directors, the write-down is of a permanent nature, 

which is justified by the position, the cost-effectiveness, the probable 

recoverable value and the prospects of the participating interest.

the write-downs are reversed when the estimated value is higher 

than the carrying value that took account of the write-downs, and 

in so far as this difference is of a permanent nature in the opinion of 

the board of Directors.

5. amounts receivable within one year

these receivables are measured at the nominal value.

receivables in foreign currencies are converted according to the 

daily rates.

the results of the conversion can be found in the financial state-

ments under the ‘other financial expenses and other financial in-

come’ item.

the board of Directors will make a decision concerning the pos-

sible necessary write-downs.

the Vat involved is retained in the assets and only taken to the 

result if recoverability would appear impossible.

a write-down is always entered separately for each receivable, 

which also applies to a possible reversal of the write-down.

6. cash and cash equivalents

these generally follow the same rules as those defined for the ‘fi-

nancial assets’ category. nevertheless, the board of Directors will 

enter every write-down, regardless of whether it is permanent or 

not.

7. accruals and deferrals

these concern the proportional expenses incurred during the  

 108 spector photo group 



financial year, but which are charged to the next financial year, and 

the income earned, i.e. the proportional income that will be only 

collected during the course of the next financial year, but which are 

related to the financial year under review.

II.  lIabIlItIes

1. capital

the balance shows the actually contributed capital and is measured 

at nominal value. 

2. Investment grants 

Investment grants received are written down gradually with the 

same rhythm as the depreciation or amortisation on the assets for 

which those subsidies grants were granted, taking into account the 

tax impact.

3. Debts

all debts are entered at nominal value. Debts in foreign currencies 

are converted at the official rate on the balance sheet date.

4. provisions for risks and expenses

the board of Directors will each year conduct a full review of the 

previously formed provisions to cover the risks and expenses to 

which the enterprise has been exposed.

the board of Directors will consider the necessity of forming or 

releasing provisions, by analysing each line item of the accounts and 

reviewing all information that can exclude unhedged risks, such as  

disputes, etc.

It will specify the appropriate valuation methods for the main risks.

the provisions for risks and costs are formed or released system-

atically, and the formation or releasing of them cannot be made 

dependent on the profit or loss for the financial year.

 

5. accruals and deferrals 

these concern proportional expenses that will only be paid in a 

later financial year, but which are related to the financial year under 

review. these expenses are measured at nominal value. they also 

concern the income to be carried forward, i.e. proportional income 

that has been collected during the course of the financial year or 

the previous financial year, but which relates to a subsequent finan-

cial year.

statement concerning the consolidated financial statements:

consolidated financial statements and a consolidated annual report 

are compiled with application of the belgian royal Decree of 30 

January 2001.
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assets as at 31 December 2009

the non-current assets rose by eur 1.74 million as a result of:

- the decrease of the intangible assets by eur 0.002 million. this 

concerns the combination of, on the one hand, the amortisa-

tion in the financial year and, on the other, the derecognition of 

decommissioned and fully amortised assets;

- the increase of the non-current financial assets by eur 1.74 mil-

lion. this concerns, on the one hand, the 2009 interest charged 

on the loans to photomedia nV and photo Hall multimedia 

nV and, on the other, we received a repayment of eur 0.5 mil-

lion on the loan to spector Verwaltung GmbH. these loans are 

recognised under the heading of receivables from associates.

the current assets fell by eur 0.32 million as a result of:

- the decrease by eur 0.09 million in the receivables due within 

one year. this concerns the combination of, on the one hand, 

the payments received for our claims from the tax authorities 

and, on the other, the increased lending to photomedia nV and 

photo Hall multimedia nV.

- the decrease in the cash investments heading by eur 0.19 mil-

lion, which mainly consists of a short-term deposit. 

- the decrease in accruals and deferrals by eur 0.02 million. 

In accordance with section 624 of the belgian company code, it 

should be reported that the company held seventy-seven thousand 

two hundred and seventy-one (77,271) treasury shares as at the 

2009 year-end. no treasury shares were purchased during 2009.

the following subsidiaries of spector photo Group nV hold spector 

photo Group shares: 

-  alexander photo sa: 54,526

-  spector coördinatiecentrum nV: 1,075,275.

boarD of DIrectors’ report on tHe statutory 2009 fInancIal statements

these therefore jointly comprise 1,207,072 treasury shares, which 

represent 3.2963% of the total number of 36,619,505 existing 

shares.

this bundle of treasury shares will initially be applied to supply shares 

for the exercising of the options subscribed to in the context of the 

share option plan for the benefit of employees and consultants of 

spector photo Group nV and associates. 

the treasury shares are valued at the listed price of eur 0.67 as at 

31 December 2009. 

the bundle of treasury shares held by spector photo Group nV 

represents a net amount of eur 51,771.57 and is recognised under 

the cash Investments heading.

lIabIlItIes as at 31 December 2009

the profit for the financial year provided an increase of eur 1.95 

million in equity.

furthermore, we have a decrease of eur 0.48 million in the amounts 

payable after more than one year.  this relates to a repayment of 

eur 0.50 million on our loan to spector Verwaltung GmbH.

the amounts payable within one year fell by eur 0.03 million.

Income statement

the operations of spector photo Group nV mainly consist of pro-

viding management support services to the retail Group and the 

Imaging Group.

the operating income fell by eur 0.23 million. this mainly concerns 

a decrease of eur 0.25 million of the other operating income from 

the direct billing of expenses to the retail Group and the Imaging 

Group. 

the proportionate decrease in the operating charges led to an op-

erating loss of eur 0.53 million.

the interest income on the loans to photomedia nV and photo 

Hall multimedia nV provided a positive financial result of eur 2.39 

million.

the result for the financial year showed a profit of eur 1.95 mil-

lion.

approprIatIon of tHe result

the board of Directors proposes the following appropriation of the 

result:

Gain to be appropriated   eur  1,950,844

profit carried forward previous financial year  eur  53,541,454   

profit to be appropriated:  eur  55,492,298

appropriation of the profit:

transfer to the legal reserve eur  97,542

profit to be carried forward: eur  55,394,756

fees for tHe commIttee of statutory auDItors

During 2009, the committee of statutory auditors received eur 

3,223 for work outside the scope of their engagement.

this mainly concerned recommendations and specific audits in the 

context of the Ifrs standards.

rIsK manaGement 

the management of risks forms an integral part of the way in which 

the group is managed. the group has taken measures

with a view to controlling these risks as effectively as possible, and will 

continue to do so, including the measure to constitute provisions.
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However, no assurance can be given that these measures will be fully 

effective in all possible circumstances and therefore it is impossible 

to rule out that some of these risks could arise and could have an 

impact on the company. other risks currently unknown to the com-

pany, or which are not considered material at present, could prove 

detrimental to the company or to the value of its shares.

financial risks

the most important financial risks to which the Group is exposed 

are related to the Groups financial liabilities, the outstanding trade 

receivables and transactions in currencies other than the euro.

•		 In	accordance	with	the	realignment	of	the	financial	liabilities	that	

was agreed with the bank consortium in December 2005, the 

remainder of the unredeemed loans and advances becomes 

due and payable at the end of 2010, and the loans may have to 

be renegotiated or refinanced. the availability of credit there-

fore coincides with the degree to which the group succeeds in 

generating free cash flows with which it can further reduce its 

debt position in 2010. the group manages this risk by continuing 

to develop a transparent and constructive relationship with the 

bank consortium.

•		 A	 significant	 proportion	of	 the	 Imaging	Group’s	 activities	 are	

conducted by means of ‘remote sales’ to end-consumers.

 this involves exposure to non-collectability of many, relatively 

small, trade receivables. the group manages this risk by encour-

aging online payment for its e-commerce activities on the one 

hand and, on the other hand, by conducting proper credit man-

agement.

 In cases of non-payment on the due dates, additional costs are 

charged depending on the overdue periods. In due course, the 

collection of the receivables is handed over to debt-collection 

agencies. for other trade receivables, credit limits and payment 

terms are set for each customer. Dunning procedures are started 

when these terms are exceeded. Deliveries are blocked to cus-

tomers who have exceeded their credit limits or payment terms.

 there was no significant risk concentration as at 31 Decem-

ber 2009 and 2008. no write-downs are recognised for the 

overdue receivables, because their collectability is considered as 

probable.

•		 The	Company	publishes	its	consolidated	financial	statements	in	

euros. a significant portion of its assets, liabilities, revenues and 

costs are expressed in currencies other than the euro, including 

the swiss franc and the swedish krona. although exchange rate 

fluctuations can have an effect on the Group’s results, the com-

pany judges this risk as being too small to take specific measures 

apart from strict management monitoring.

market risks

With the Imaging Group, the company mainly operates in a market 

that is highly susceptible to changes. the most important market-re-

lated risks correspond to technological developments and their im-

pact on consumer behaviour, the development of consumer prices, 

the competitive position and the dependence on a limited number 

of major customers of the Imaging Group.

•	The	strategy	of	the	Imaging	Group	is	based	to	a	great	extent	on	

the findings of prospective market research from which new op-

portunities have emerged for the business following the transition 

from analogue to digital photography. these findings have an inher-

ent risk of error, and they can also be affected by future technological 

developments that have not yet been taken into account. the group 

manages these risks by permanently keeping in touch with the tech-

nological world, the market, and consumers so that, if necessary, it 

can rapidly adjust not only its strategy, but also its investment and 

business plans.

•		 The	future	profitability	of	the	Company	–	for	both	the	Retail	

Group	and	the	Imaging	Group	–	will	also	depend	on	the	selling	

prices that it can achieve for its products and services.

 the price elasticity of demand, combined with the development 

of the margins, involves a risk for the Group’s profitability.

 although the Group assumes continued price pressure in its 

business plan, it proactively manages other risks by, on the one 

hand, reducing its fixed overhead costs and, on the other hand, 

by continuously developing new products that are less suscep-

tible to the general price pressure.

•		 The	future	market	share	and	business	figures	of	the	Group	–	

both	in	the	Retail	Group	and	in	the	Imaging	Group	–	can	be	

affected by campaigns of existing competitors or the entry of 

new competitors. by permanently monitoring its competitive 

position, the Group takes this factor into account in the further 

development of its plans and its operations. the current eco-

nomic crisis means we are now experiencing some pressure 

on the revenues within the retail Group. consumers are more 

careful about purchasing more expensive consumer goods.

risk related to disputes

the company and some of its subsidiaries are involved in tax dis-

putes that are pending in the tax courts, and provisions have been 

formed for these. for certain tax disputes, however, the company’s 

opinion is that no provisions need to be formed.

on the one hand, this concerns the tax deductibility of insurance 

premiums which the company and some of its subsidiaries have 

paid to an insurance company that itself reinsured with a reinsurance 

company that is controlled by the company. on the other hand, it 

chiefly concerns discussions around the tax deductibility of payments 

in the context of transactions with Group companies. a ruling in 

favour of the Group was delivered at the end of 2007. this ruling 

had a positive impact on the tax expenses for the 2007 financial year. 

the tax administration’s refunds of the disputed taxes and interest 

amounts for postponement of payment were received in January 

and march 2009 respectively.

the tax dispute concerning Hifi International involves issues including 

(i) the tax deductibility of the loss that arose with the merger of Hifi 

International with Hifi Video and Hifi connection in 2001, (ii) the 
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recognition of the taxes under the alternative taxable basis; and (iii) 

an abnormal benefit that a subsidiary is alleged to have received as a 

result of a subsidiary’s liquidation. During the 2009 financial year, an 

unfavourable ruling was delivered against the group. since the pay-

ment to the tax administration had already taken place in 2008, this 

ruling only had an effect on the result of eur 786 (‘000) in 2009.

a dispute with a supplier has also been settled, and the recognised 

provision of eur 280 (‘000) was sufficient to be used for this.

after the settlement of the disputes mentioned above, there is a tax 

dispute that has been made pending by the tax courts and for which 

a provision of eur 810 (‘000)has been formed.

 

conflIct of Interests

Directors’ conflict of interests of a financial nature in areas of applica-

tion of section 523 of the belgian company code.

In 2009, the board of Directors followed the procedure prescribed 

by section 523 of the belgian company code in the board meet-

ings of 30 June 2009 and 26 august 2009. the relevant parts of the 

minutes of these board meetings are shown below:

for the Board Meeting on 30 June 2009:

‘Directors’ declarations

mr. tonny Van Doorslaer declared that he had a financial interest 

related to agenda item 6 that conflicted with a decision under the 

board of Director’s powers within the meaning of section 523 of 

the belgian company code. the board of Directors must specifi-

cally decide about the extension of the exercise period for warrants, 

of which mr. tonny Van Doorslaer is the beneficiary of a total of 

400,000 warrants. consequently, the procedure provided in sec-

tion 523 of the belgian company code must be complied with. He 

would leave the meeting after the resolution of agenda item 5, and 

rejoin it after agenda item 6 had been resolved.

the statutory auditors will be informed of the conflict of interests.

Deliberations

In introduction, the chairman explained that the economic recovery 

act of 27 march 2009 (belgian official Gazette of 7 april 2009) 

provides that the exercise period of options or warrants, agreed 

between 1 January 2003 and 31 august 2008, can be extended by 

a maximum of five (5) years without any additional tax burden. the 

extension must take place with the agreement of the beneficiaries 

before 30 June 2009. the agreement must be notified to the tax 

administration before 31 July 2009. If the values for tax purposes of 

the options or warrants granted to any person amount to more than 

eur 100,000, the possibility of extension for this person is limited 

to the options or warrants with a value for tax purposes of eur 

100,000.

spector photo Group wished to make use of the opportunity pro-

vided by this recovery act for the warrants that were granted on 28 

november 2005 to the beneficiaries messrs. tonny Van Doorslaer, 

stef De corte and christophe levie.

the granting of warrants to the gentlemen identified above at that 

time fell within the view that the company must be able to provide 

sufficient incentives to its top management and/or executive direc-

tors to compensate them for the required responsibilities and ser-

vices provided. the extension of the warrants falls within this same 

point of view and requires no expenditure on the company’s behalf 

of available resources, cash, nor will this extension have any effect on 

the company’s results.

In other words, there are no negative financial consequences for the 

company. the extension of the exercise period is a pure continua-

tion of the remuneration policy adopted, in which use is made of a 

tax-neutral measure granted by the legislator.

the extension had even been presented to and approved by the 

appointments and remuneration committee on 29 June 2009.

In view of the above, the board of Directors considered the exten-

sion of the warrants granted to mr. tonny Van Doorslaer, mr. stef 

De corte and mr. christophe levie, to be in the interests of the 

company.

regarding the length of the extension, the majority of the directors 

considered a period of four (4) years to be reasonable.

the warrants’ beneficiaries had informed the board of Directors of 

their agreement to the extension of the exercise period.

resolution

the board of Directors decided to extend the exercise period of 

the warrants granted on 28 november 2005 without a warrant 

price, with an exercise price of eur 3.36, for which the initial exer-

cise period expires on 30 september 2010, for an additional period 

of four (4) years until 30 september 2014.

the board of Directors takes this decision in order to: (i) to extend 

the incentive in the long term for the beneficiaries (as defined in the 

Warrant plan), who are closely involved with the company because 

of their role as director or consultant of the company and who 

provide an important contribution for the success and the growth 

of the company, and (ii) maintain a common interest between the 

beneficiaries, on the one hand, and the shareholders of the com-

pany, on the other, which is aimed at an increase in value of the 

company’s shares.

this common interest between the beneficiaries of the warrants 

and the shareholders should have a favourable effect on the value 

of the share.

the exercise period of the warrants granted on 28 november 2005 

to the beneficiaries identified below without a warrant price, with an 

exercise price of eur 3.36, for which the initial exercise period ex-

pires on 30 september 2010, is therefore extended for an additional 

period of four (4) years until 30 september 2014. the beneficiaries 

are mr. tonny Van Doorslaer, 400,000 warrants with a value for tax 
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purposes of eur 44,400, mr. stef De corte, 150,000 warrants with 

a value for tax purposes of eur 16,650, and mr. christophe levie, 

50,000 warrants with a value for tax purposes of eur 5,550.

the total value for tax purposes for each of the beneficiaries amounts 

to less than the maximum amount of eur 100,000.

During the extended period, the beneficiaries will be entitled to ex-

isting shares and not to new shares.

after this resolution, mr. tonny Van Doorslaer rejoined the meeting.

for the Board Meeting on 26 August 2009:

‘Directors’ declarations

before the start of the deliberations concerning the agenda item 

‘approving tonny Van Doorslaer’s contract adjustments’, mr. tonny 

Van Doorslaer declared that he had a financial interest that conflict-

ed with a decision under the board of Director’s powers within the 

meaning of section 523 of the belgian company code. the board 

of Directors must specifically decide about the adjustments of the 

contract between spector photo Group and tcl nV, permanently 

represented by mr. tonny Van Doorslaer and thus the beneficiary of 

the agreement.

consequently, the procedure provided in section 523 of the belgian 

company code must be complied with. He will leave the meet-

ing before the resolution of this agenda item and rejoin it after this 

agenda item has been resolved.

the statutory auditors will be informed of the conflicts of interests.

Deliberation

as a result of the change in position of mr. tonny Van Doorslaer 

reported above, the board of Directors deliberated the adjustments 

concerning the contract with tcl nV proposed by the appoint-

ments and remuneration committee.

In view of the simplification of the company’s structure and the 

autonomous operation of the underlying divisions, the retail Group 

and the Imaging Group, the appointments and remuneration com-

mittee considers a reduction in the remuneration package to be a 

logical consequence. the nomination and remuneration commit-

tee proposed a gradual adjustment in which the fixed remuneration 

would be reduced by eur 50,000 a year during the coming three 

years, and the variable remuneration would be withdrawn, and this 

would be effective from 1 July 2009.

taking account of the positive financial consequences for the com-

pany, the board of Directors considered the proposed adjustments 

to be in the best interests of the company.

resolution

the board of Directors approved the proposed adjustments con-

cerning the contract between spector photo Group nV and tcl 

nV, permanently represented by mr. tonny Van Doorslaer.

after this resolution, mr. tonny Van Doorslaer rejoined the meeting.

During 2009, there were no situations as referred to in section 524 

of the belgian company code.

eVents after balance sHeet Date 

since the closing of the 2009 financial year, no events have occurred 

that could have a significant effect on the results of the company.

actIVItIes In tHe fIelD of researcH anD DeVelopment 

not applicable 

applIcatIon of tHe act of 17 December 2008 on set-

tInG up an auDIt commIttee for lIsteD companIes 

anD fInancIal enterprIses

the composition of the audit committee satisfies the requirements 

stipulated in the act. In accordance with section 526, the audit com-

mittee is composed of three (3) independent members of the board 

of Directors, of whom at least one member possesses the necessary 

expertise and professional experience in the field of accounting and 

audit. 

the audit committee is composed as follows: mcm bVba, perma-

nently represented by mr. Geert Vanderstappen, patrick De Greve 

bVba, permanently represented by mr. patrick De Greve, and nor-

bert Verkimpe bVba, permanently represented by mr. norbert Ver-

kimpe. 

mr. Geert Vanderstappen possesses the necessary expertise and pro-

fessional experience in the field of accounting and audit as a result of 

his career and current professional activities.

proposals to tHe General meetInG

the board of Directors proposes the following motions for the 

General meeting:

- that the financial statements as presented are approved and the 

directors and Joint statutory auditors be granted discharge for 

the performance of their responsibilities during the past year;

- to appoint as director:

•	 Mr.	Stef	De	corte,	executive	director;

•	 Mr.	Christophe	Levie,	executive	director,

 and this for a period of one (1) year, commencing from 12 

may 2010, and finishing after the General meeting of share-

holders of 2011.

Wetteren, 15 april 2010.

on behalf of the board of Directors

tonny Van Doorslaer

managing Director

executive chairman
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the annual report, the parent company accounts of spector photo Group nV and the statement of the 

committee of statutory auditors shall be filed with the national bank of belgium.

the report of the committee of statutory auditors contains the opinion on the true and fair view of 

the financial statements and states an unqualified audit opinion with explanatory paragraph relating the 

valuation of the participation in photomedia nV.

 

the complete version of the parent company accounts, including the related reports, are available on 

the website www.spectorphotogroup.com and can be requested free of charge.

In accordance with the articles 104 and 105 of the Company Law Code of 7 May 1999, this annual report 
includes only an abbreviated version of the parent company accounts of Spector Photo Group NV.
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